BEHIND
THE NEW YORK TIMES HEADLINES!
BEHIND
THE ROCKEFELLER REPORT!
BEHIND
THE C.1.A’S PARTIAL DISCLOSURE!
THIS IS THE TERRIFYING, DOCUMENTED STORY!

OP)

Our Secret Govermment’s War
Against Its Own People

BY W, H. BOWART

Introduction by RICHARD CONDON




FOR OVER 25 YEARS
THE C.I.A. HAS BEEN DEVELOPING
A TECHNOLOGY OF TERROR!

Its Purpose:
’to devise operational techniques to dis-
turb the memory, to discredit people
through aberrant behavior, to alter sex
patterns, to elicitinformation and to create
emotional independence!’

Its Goal:
‘’to program individuals to carry out any
mission of espionage or assassination,
even against their will...even against
such fundamental laws of nature as self-
preservation!’

NOW...

against a background of more than 2,000
C.I.A. documents, and 1,200 pages of
testimony

OPERATION
MIND CONTROL

tells the story of our hidden government’s
“failures’’ —those people who, despite
““‘memory smudging’’ techniques can still
recall and relate the shocking details of
their experience.

EVERY AMERICAN SHOULD KNOW
WHAT IS IN THIS BOOK!




David, Young Air Force Sergeant:
Was He One Of The Victims?

“Ever since | got out of the service | haven't
been able to give a day-by-day account of what
happened to me during those four years. The
scary thing is that | still have a horrible fear of
talking. | have a tendency to speed up my
speech when I'm being pressed on something;
and | get very tense when anyone asks me about
my service duties.

“Something has happened to my mind. . . ."
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This book is dedicated to those who are obedient to
authority. May they follow in the path of Daniellgberg,
L. Fletcher Prouty, Victor Marchetti, John Marksada
George O'Toole, become responsible, and breakffoze
the chains of command.
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“I know of no safe depository of the ultimate posver
of society but the people themselves, and if v tihiem
not enlightened enough to exercise their contrdah vei
wholesome discretion, the remedy is not to takeoin
them, but to inform their discretion by education.”

—Thomas Jefferson

“In the technotronic society the trend would seem t
be towards the aggregation of the individual suppzr
millions of uncoordinated citizens, easily withihet
reach of magnetic and attractive personalities ffely
exploiting the latest communication techniques @ m
nipulate emotions and control reason.”

—Zbigniew Brzezinski,
National Security
Advisor to
Jimmy Carter.
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Foreword

The father of Grock the clown, having had his Ibgsken
in eight places byhis father for professional reasons, broke
Grock’s legs in eight places to be certain thatahiédd would
grow up walking grotesquely so as to ensure hisienge as a
clown. The act brought much pain and indignity feebut,
Grock’s father reasoned, was there not a whollyifiable
element involved? Was not the clowning traditiormiartally
enhanced by those unnatural legs?

As demonstrated inescapably by Walter Bowart irs thi
book, our Father who art in the American secrefcpohas
endowed hundreds of scientists at American unitiessito
unravel methods for fracturing American minds. Tl
research in so many great halls of learning haseded a cost
of untold secret millions of dollars (the only yatidk remain-
ing by which we are willing to measure anythingjlicgates
that this Grockian entertainment being produceainysecret
police is a matter of ambitious policy rather titha happen-
stance of cloak-and-dagger adventure.

In this book Walter Bowart has proven each stephisf
official, terminal, government anarchy, even thoubght ap-
pears to be a contradiction in terms. To alter ematrol hu-
man minds is the ultimate anarchy. What is offdrgfficial
apologists as a tribute to the needs of derringpgloomantic
spies are acts of hatred and sadism against aflgpén an
insane and degraded determination to extirpate coemse
from society.
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Walter Bowart underwent a long and expensive pstes
assemble the hard facts which comprise this boakhElocu-
ment attesting to secret police intent had to lbeefed out of
government archives by badgering persistence pdte by
page, the information was released to him by hghtrunder
the Freedom of Information Act. The essence of fhaat
seems to be that one need only write away to adédgency
for information about the general areas in whiaoh ¢hizen is
interested. Not so. Walter Bowart needed to explkamde
sums of money to employ researchers in Washingtwh a
elsewhere in order to discover the pregiagne, numberand
description of contentsf each document toward which he was
groping through black streams of informational desbs.
Without this it would have been impossible to apfuy the
transfer of copies of these documents to himselfHis book.
He had to comb the United States for people fromynvealks
of life who knew, vaguely remembered, or suspetted they
had been under the mind control of secret poliat railitary
agencies, then had to backtrack again with infoionat
gleaned from them to labyrinthine research amowoggands
of federal archives.

Please keep fearfully in mind that the astonishirfgr-
mation published in this seminal work of investigatreport-
ing, concerning avenues taken to decision and ¢xeclhy
our secret police to fracture or dissolve humandsijrthen to
operate those minds as a small boy might opert 4o, for
purposes of counter-intelligence military “efficen” and the
destruction of democratic institutions, was drawinealy
from federal records and from official laboratonglsives of
the highest educational purpose—as well as fromrekirving
memories of those who had already undergone thendahiz-
ing process.

The prostitution of the mind by our secret policeqeded
the murder of the mind. To attain the advanced riegles
now available to “magnetic and attractive” politipersonali-
ties, it was necessary to turn out the laboratafescience as
a pimp turns out his heartless whores upon theewstreets;
our hallowed educators, army and navy and air faoe-
manders and personnel, the beloved medical profesau-
gust and inspiring temples of the law, our esteestattsmen,
and all Americans living and dead. Each one of ehgups



Operation Mind Control 15

is involved in this dismembering of the mind. Taaxl the
collective conscience make the urination of theretepolice
upon the human mind possible. “Brainwashing” pelissao
news to any of us. Controlled assassins are nowkro us
only through fiction. Advertising assaults on béludlpoison-
ous materials to induce us successfully to buy esrtsume
are early on bastions of mind control.

No one—not anyone—needs theologians to answer the
guestion: “Where does the soul live?” We know thel dives
in the mind because the soul is the mind in altotinfathom-
ably intricate individual conditioning. It is theimdl of intent,
of hope, of purpose, of achievement by the spidaydnd
achievement by physical action. When Grock’s fathrmke
his son’s legs in eight places there may have laégm, on
the one hand, that a man could do such a calamitoog to
his son but, on the other, the same people responade
Grock’s genius to which those hopelessly deforness lhad
contributed, and roared with laughter. That was rtbemal
reaction when we were the audience and crazy-legskGvas
the clown. But Walter Bowart demonstrates to ughia book
that we have become Grock. We are the spinningblima)
waddling clowns in the eyes of our vividly delinedtsecret
police.

“Oh, no!” (Can you hear the outcry?) Oh, yes, varite
Walter Bowart in this fearful record you now hold your
hands.

Apologists rush in, hired for all such occasionsnir
everywhere, by the secret government crying ougu“ére, as
usual, like all of your exaggerating kind, makingnauntain
out of a molehill. While it may (or may not) be eérthat our
secret police occasionally swing the sledgehamnmefittie
minds, it is (or is not) being done as a patriatit to protect
our beloved people.” They reel backward, handschlag
chests as the full realization seems to hit thevty God Bo-
wart cannotbelieve that our government of the people, by the
people, and for the people would use such loathsimmes
against citizens. If such research were done (@ vad done)
then it would be for purelgbstractresearch reasons—for the
expansion of human knowledge.”

Walter Bowart's book is also a freezing vision lbé tmu-
tations of the aspirations of science. Scientitigicators, and
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their leaders, The Great Men, having stumbled wherpossi-
bility of controlling the human mind, might well & with-

held this knowledge from the secret police and ghbut for-

ward for all to share, would you not say? If theame are at
hand actually to enter and control the mind—nobulgh the
far-off smoke signals of psychiatry and psychoasialy-can
we conceive of what might be found in terms of roetliri-

umphs, the conquest of pain and of group hatreus$ nzental
energy released by unraveling the Gordian knotsneftal

perplexity to make one straight laser line that lmighen

pierce the doubts and fears which beset each ones?fin

terms of education light-years ahead of the edocatimeans
we presently employ, in basic and advanced learoingul-

tures, languages, and skills; in short, understapdach other
across the face of the world, this development ofdWControl

makes the invention of movable type seem like agrdial

grunt from the shadows of a rain forest lost ingtim

What has been achieved by the secret police itigrlto
mind control is scrupulously set down in Walter Eotis
extraordinary book. The question the book putsis do you
wish this immeasurably important technique to remas a
weapon to be usedgainstyou and your children by what
Bowart calls the cryptocracy, or do you wish to its&s a uni-
versal key to unlock a thousand new chances that ghbil-
dren will not be murdered in future wars?

In an epigraph to this book, Zbigniew Brzezinskiase
ures the political probabilities of mind controleugvshen he
says, “exploiting the latest communications techagjto ma-
nipulate emotion and control reason.” Today ouretegolice
and our military establishment have demonstrated/iétnam
and elsewhere (examined by Bowart herein), the poue
create assassins out of our children. The exparsidhese
powers, which are able to turn young men and women
murderous criminals at will, goes on unchecked hy oft-
called “investigative” press, by “moral” leadersthé bar, in
the pulpits, in high government, and on campuse. thie
people they call the public have long suspectetlithas be-
come government policy to control minds. If thesegeneral
information abroad on this subject, then considt tvhich
must be at the disposal of congressional investigaiommit-
tees as they bugle their determination to contrelgowers of
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darkness within our secret police. Zombie is a mpladld-
fashioned folklore word but its meaning becomescebe
when our children’s minds are being controlled by ane of
dozens of federal secret police agencies. Have rgment
agencies perfected methods sustained by the targto/eon-
trol the minds of the people who shot the Kenned§artin
Luther King, and Orlando Letelier, the former Chite
economist and diplomat. Were the assassins progeantm
forget they did it or were they programmed to do\We may
never know for they stand bewildered, idioticallynging for
the cameras. Have the technicians developed a ndet,
Economy-Size Government Assassin which can easdly b
turned out by the thousands?

The murders of a few hundred humans by a few hanhdre
other humans is commonplace enough but, for theofflaf
horror and terror, of endless nightmare rampantugpdand-
scape of what was once American democracy, consider
expansion of the Brzezinski epigraph which cannetrb-
peated often enough: “In the techtronic society trend
would seem to be toward the aggregation of theviddal
support of millions of uncoordinated citizens, gasiithin the
reach of magnetic and attractive personalitiegotiffely ex-
ploiting the latest communications techniques tanimalate
emotion and control reason.”

The threatening state of American political leadgrs
over the last fifteen years may seem to murmurttiat'mag-
netic and attractive personalities” might rathet resist the
destruction of democratic institutions by “effeetly exploit-
ing” these shocking gains into the control of mindsmight
even be wise to consider Walter Bowart's real ewide
herein, then to do what we can to protect ourself/¢bat
proud right, with the love of freedom, has not be#mophied
by “the latest communications techniques.”

There is an alternative. We can all forever moreraes-
formed into the image of Grock the clown.

Richard Condon
Kilmoganny, Ireland
31 May 1977






Chapter One
THE CRYPTORIAN CANDIDATE

It may have been the biggest story since the atombb
The headline, however, was small and ignored thyetassue.
“Drug Tests by CIA Held More Extensive Than Repdria
‘75,” said theNew York Time®on July 16, 1977. What it
should have said is “U.S. Develops Invisible WeaptmEn-
slave Mankind.”

The testing of drugs by the CIA was just a partthed
United States government’s top-secret mind-corgroject, a
project which had spanned thirty-five years and imaglved
tens of thousands of individuals. It involved teicjues of
hypnosis, narco-hypnosis, electronic brain stiniofatbehav-
ioral effects of ultrasonic, microwave, and lowefoency
sound, aversive and other behavior modificatiomaties. In
fact, there was virtually no aspect of human bedravicontrol
that was not explored in their search for the maansontrol
the memory and will of both individuals and wholasses of
people.

The CIA succeeded in developing a whole range gf ps
cho-weapons to expand its already ominous psychezbg
warfare arsenal. With these capabilities, it was possible to
wage a new kind of war—a war which would take place
visibly, upon the battlefield of the human mind.

“Literature always anticipates life,” Oscar Wildaid. “It
does not copy it, but molds it to its purpose.” \Biide’s defi-
nition, then, Richard CondonBhe Manchurian Candidatis
literature.
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Condon published his tour de force in 1958. It s
story of an American Army sergeant who was captimethe
enemy during the Korean conflict and, in an imptdbanine
days, was hypno-programmed to murder on cue. Tigeaet
returned to the United States and was posthyprigtitrég-
gered to kill by the sight of the queen of diamoirmda deck of
cards. The sergeant automatically killed severapfss among
them a candidate for President of the United Statéier he
killed, his memory of the event was forever sedlgdamne-
sia.

At the time The Manchurian Candidatevas published,
few people in the world, Richard Condon includedew that
total control of the mind was possible. Condon waiing
fiction; he had merely read up on popular Paviowandition-
ing manuals and imagined the rest. He had no waynofving
then that mind control had already been the subjeetghteen
years of secret research within the clandestinaagg of the
U.S. government. The tricks of mind control he diésd
were later employed (right down to the queen ofrdiads
cue) by the programmers of real political assassims devel-
oped foolproof techniques for the control of thoyghemory,
emotions, and behavior.

The Manchurian Candidaterought the idea of “brain-
washing” to public consciousness. Brainwashindhé use of
isolation, deprivation, torture, and indoctrinatitmbreak the
human will. But what the book actually describedsve@me-
thing more than brainwashing. It was mind conteltotal
takeover of an individual’s mind by someone eldee Tome-
one else in Condon’s version was a mad Chinesehpsyc
scientist. Always the satirist, Condon brought fheManchu
myth up to date. But, ironically, the techniquesdescribed
were first perfected and used not by the ChinesheCom-
munists, but by the United States.

Condon’s portrait of POWs during the Korean conflic
went against the accepted scientific and medicaliop of the
time, which held that a man could not be made torod a
criminal act against his own will or inner moraldeobyany
known means. Although Condon’s book was not coreplet
on target about the details of GI mind control, dié accu-
rately describe some of the motives, coercive nutogy,
and psychological results of real-life mind control
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The psychological techniques describedlire Manchu-
rian Candidatewere to become a reality less than a decade
after Condon saw his story set in type. As if Cariddiction
had been used as the blueprint, a group of hypagrammed
“zombies” were created. Some were assassins piepaiall
on cue. Others were informers, made to remembewutmin
details under hypnosis. Couriers carried illegaksages out-
side the chain of command, their secrets securkihthgost-
hypnotic blocks. Knowledge of secret information swee-
moved from the minds of those who no longer had“tieeed
to know"—they were given posthypnotic amnesia.

The ordinary foot soldiers who fought in the dirtgle-
vised Vietnam conflict were released to civiliafe lwithout
debriefing. For them there was no “decompressiooinfthe
rage of war. They were released with all the refteaf trained
assassins intact.

Those who had been conditioned in the black sciefice
the war of torture, terror, and technology werergsgéd with
special attention. Their memories were so completehsed
before they were turned out of the military thagythreturned
to civilian life with only the minimum, fragmentddhowledge
of who they were or what they had done. The restheir
memories had been smudged or removed by drugsobign
behavior modification, conditioned reflex therapy, some
other evil wonder of mind control.

| encountered my first case of mind control in thielst of
the Watergate scandal. A young man I'd known sicitid-
hood had returned from a tour of duty in the U.8. Force,
with amnesia, remembering nothing of his servicaryeex-
cept having had a good time. He subsequently learne
through intensive private psychotherapy, that Heén hyp-
notized and conditioned. His mind had been unmélen
remade: his mind had been controlled.

| was completely fascinated by his story, but retyr in
1973, | thought it was an isolated, single eveher, quite by
accident, a few months later, | overheard anothan m my
hometown telling what was essentially the sameystuow he
figured he’'d been hypnotized and had his memorgestat a
“debriefing” prior to his separation from militagrvice.
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After hearing the second story | began to wondewr ho
many more men had had their memories erased. tielddd
run the following classified ad: “Researcher/writeterested
in contacting anyone with knowledge of the use yfrosis
by the military, including ex-servicemen who haeason to
believe they were hypnotized (or drugged) whil¢hia service
and subsequently exhibited signs of amnesia or rnypesia
(improved memory). All info held in strictest cotdince . . ."

| placed the ad irsoldier of Fortungla magazine which
reports on the activities of mercenaries), a nundfesmall
publications aimed at hypnotists, behaviorists, rokgists,
and other professionals, and popular magazines asiBoll-
ing Stone To my amazement, | received more than a hundred
replies to the ad. Many stated that they had aranesi

Ignoring the obvious crank letters, | followed up the
others and discovered that many men were unaldayqust
what had caused their loss of memory. In some césess
obviously a result of the trauma of war—what camebe
called “the post-Vietham syndrome.” So | concemtlabn
those who had not seen combat but who either hgid decu-
rity clearances or were employed at the periphéth@ intel-
ligence services.

Letter and telephone exchanges narrowed the fieldhd
to eighteen persons who fit the pattern of thet fiv'o men
who had reported their amnesia to me. All eightead had
security clearances—and could only recall isolataents
from their Gl experience. | narrowed the field Itilrther to
those who remembered enough to have at least sdeze
however fragmentary and incomplete, of what hadpbapd
to them.

Their stories were believable, but they shed liiiat on
how amnesia had been induced and what behaviobead
controlled. To answer those deeper questions | werthe
libraries, and after two years of research | wale ab find
enough scientific reports and government documénttell
the whole story of what | call Operation Mind Canitr

Though the documented trail of mind control extends
back many decades, it was not always called by nhate.
The church and the state have always engaged ichpsy
theology and psycho-politics, the psychological ipalation
of belief, opinion, and actions for political and/eligious
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ends. But the complete control of the human ming waly
managed in the late 1940s. Therefore, my researchricen-
trated on the period from 1938 to the present,piirgod dur-
ing which | found there was an effort made by therzies of
the U.S. government to develop sophisticated tegles of
psycho-politics and mind control.

The objective of Operation Mind Control during thuis-
riod has been to take human beings, both citizénshe
United States and citizens of friendly and unfrignaiations,
and transform them into unthinking, subconsciouplp-
grammed “zombies,” motivated without their knowledgnd
against their wills to perform in a variety of wais which
they would not otherwise willingly perform. This &com-
plished through the use of various techniques @¢dlievarious
names, including brainwashing, thought reform, bara
modification, hypnosis, and conditioned reflex #pr. For
the purposes of this book the term “mind controill e used
to describe these techniques generically.

Mind control is the most terrible imaginable crirbe-
cause it is committed not against the body, butratjghe
mind and the soul. Dr. Joost A. M. Meerloo expregbe atti-
tude of the majority of psychologists in calling'itind rape,”
and warns that it poses a great “danger of destructf the
spirit” which can be “compared to the threat ofatqthysical
destruction . . ¥

Development of mind control was accomplished largel
through the efforts of individual psychologistsygisiatrists,
and chemists, working in isolated conditions undevern-
ment contract. Each researcher or research teanaleased
to know only what he or she needed to know to apdisimhis
or her fragment of the research or testing. Thdraots were
let through a number of government and private eigsnand

" Various meditation groups use the words “mind aahto describe
meditation, contemplation, and self-hypnosis; hkse are usually
harmless if not beneficial practices. These teamsgmight more
properly be called “mingelfcontrol,” for the individuals who use
them seek control over theswn minds and bodies to obtain desired
effects. The mind control examined in this bookhis control of one
individual’s mind by another.
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foundations so that the researchers were, by age,lagno-
rant as to the intended use of their research.

While the CIA was a major funder of the mind-cohtex
search, virtually every major government agencyabee in
some way knowingly or unwittingly involved. Whileblegan
my research believing that a “cult of intelligencgds behind
the mind-control program, | found that there is,fact, no
single originating force, but several. The operatis too
widespread and complex for it to be created byudt."clf a
cult there must be, then it is a cult within a citlt an inter-
locking chain of invisible mini-governments with witten
rules, unwritten plans, and unwritten loyaltiesisithe plan of
a secret bureaucracy—what | call a cryptocracy—twition-
spires against our laws and our freedoms.

“Cryptocracy” is a compound ofrypto, meaning “se-
cret,” and -cracy, meaning ‘“rule, government, governing
body.” The cryptocracy, then, is the secret govemimvhose
identity and whereabouts have slowly and relucyabten
hinted at by the Congress through its investigationo Wa-
tergate, the CIA, and the rest of the intelligeooenmunity.

While the CIA, near the top of the intelligence qyid,
has been drawing most of the fire, the evidenca ofyptoc-
racy clearly implicates the National Security Aggnihe De-
fense Intelligence Agency and its subsidiaries iiitamy
intelligence, as well as the civil service. Thaaalte extends
even among private contractors and institutions ratigious
organizations. With Central Intelligence in the gaard, the
cryptocracy is composed of persons operating withe Of-
fice of Naval Intelligence, Army Intelligence, Alforce Intel-
ligence, Department of Justice, Department of Hedtduca-
tion and Welfare, Bureau of Prisons, Bureau of Wfgcs,
Atomic Energy Commission, Veterans’ Administratigen-
eral Services Administration, National Science Fation,
and even major American corporations, especialijaae air-
lines, oil companies, and aerospace contractors.

The cryptocracy invades the privacy of citizens and
porations. It meddles, often violently, in the im&l politics of
foreign nations, and has hired, trained, and ecdpmind-
controlled assassins for the murder of heads de.sfBhe
cryptocracy may have been involved in attempts daotrol
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U.S. elections. It may control key figures in theSUand
world press.

The story within the story, | discovered, is aroagthing
one of a psychological war waged by this U.S. agmcy
against the American people. The scientific reparnd histo-
ries place the story in time, and at the governimetobor.
However, the literature of the cryptocracy ignotke very
real human factor. There is no written record @& thental
anguish, the torture to the soul that comes fross laf mem-
ory and the resulting identity crisis. That meragaguish is the
human story of mind control.

The stories that follow are told by the failures@pera-
tion Mind Control—failures because the victims renfer
something for where mind control is successful there is
memory left.

One of the characters ithe Manchurian Candidatde-
scribed his recurring dream that resulted fromsingpression
of memory. “It's not so much that | can’t sleeps Itnore that
I'd rather not sleep. I'm walking around punchy &ese I'm
scared. | keep having the same nightmare . . .”Aigbtmare
Condon’s hero described was actually the memorljaring
killed on cue. On stage, before an audience of Conish
mind controllers, he strangled one of his fellowdsrs with a
scarf, and blew out another’s brains with a higlkveeed pis-
tol at point blank range. Several of the men Irviesved had
dreams which could have been written by Condon.

Tex was an army sergeant stationed in the Mediteama
area. He came back from service with amnesia. Buhi$
dreams a vivid scene was replayed again and agairthe
dream my buddy—I know him real well, we've sharbuhgs
together—my buddy is taken with his hands behirsdback.
I'm standing in rank in a line of other soldierdane are like

" Due to editorial considerations, many of the swiiauncovered
have been left on the editing room floor. Eachvidlial in this book
stands for and tells the story of many victims ahancontrol. In
many cases the individuals | interviewed believeartlives or sanity
would be in danger if their names were made publi@ve honored
that concern and have withheld real names and laten so re-
quested. Except in these details, the first-pegories in this book
are completely true.

no
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a firing squad. | keep thinking | won't shoot myefnd, Il
turn the rifle on the commander. But we don't héfles.

“My buddy is marched into an open area in frontusf
with his hands tied behind his back. He is blindéa and
some Ay-rab is talking to him, or reading to himnother Ay-
rab comes up and hits him behind the knees witiflea brutt
and he falls to a kneeling position.

“Then, while he’s on his knees, one of the Ay-rtdkes a
big sword and cuts his head off. His neck squittsdh, but
surprisingly little . . . his head rolls on the gral. His face has
a peaceful expression. His body twitches and sauiike a
chicken. That's when | always wake up . . .”

So Condon was right. In their sleep, the memories o
atrocities surface to vivid awareness among theéim of
mind control. Night after night terrible imagesppuessed by
deeply conditioned responses, emerge as terrifyiigit-
mares. Are they mythological? The stuff of dreamy?are
they recovered memories? Tex's dream is a merengag of
more than 1,200 pages of such testimony.



Chapter Two
ONLY ONE MIND FOR MY COUNTRY

Through the gray waters of amnesia he drifted, ogmi
back from blind coma. First the echoes, like etmutrally
amplified voices speaking from a deep deep wellthen, far
off, the dim pink molecules of light . . .

David’s body lay still in the military hospital be®nly
his eyes rolled beneath the lids. For several hbarfay that
way, perfectly still—just eyes fluttering. The fleting be-
came more intense. Then his eyes opened.

“When | woke up,” David said, “I couldn’'t remember
anything. | couldn’t remember how I'd gotten therewhy |
was in the hospital.”

He asked nurses and aides why he was there. They to
him he’'d have to ask his doctor. When David finaéw him,
the doctor said, “You tried to commit suicide.”

That came as a great surprise to David. He ditiimkthe
was the suicidal type. He asked the dodtow he'd tried to
commit suicide.

“You took an overdose of Sleep-eze,” the doctad tom.

David knew that Sleep-eze was a patent medicirag,ith
was related chemically to an antihistamine, and ithaould
produce drowsiness; but David also knew it wasrearly as
dangerous as prescription sleeping pills. Althobgtbegan to
sense that something was fishy, he did not chadiehg doc-
tor, nor did he let on that he suspected the gimiye untrue.
For the next several days he simply lay in the habkpbed
puzzling over the odd chain of events that had dantim
there.
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| interviewed David several times over a periodtwb
years. Each interview produced additional inforomtias
David’s memory returned in fragmented, isolatedstaurThe
following is taken from thousands of pages of tcaipg and
has been edited so that the tedious process winicbvared
David’s memories is absent. It is slightly misleagionly in
that David did not remember his story in one candirs se-
guence. Nor did the other victims quoted in thisko

David had joined the U.S. Air Force in 1969. Durinig
high school years the draft had still been in d¢ffand after
graduating on the honor roll, David decided toratta small
community college to get as much education as lddoe-
fore his name was inevitably called by selectiveise.

As his induction date approached David realizedddd
obtain a deferral from the draft because of hishEgholastic
standing, but he decided instead to take a break #duca-
tion and fulfill his military obligation as profildy as he could.
Although he questioned America’s reasons for figitihe did
feel that military service was his duty.

David had not been a part of the sixties’ “revaati’ He
had never smoked marijuana nor taken LSD, nor leadem-
onstrated against the war in Vietnam like so mahyhis
friends. He was a studious, intelligent young mdao was not
inclined to rebellion. He was described by frierasl family
as one possessed of unusual common sense. In gesjin
his cautious and practical nature he negotiatecbattact” for
medical corps service with his local air force teer and
enlisted for a four-year tour of duty, thinkingghiould help
him fulfill his ambition to become a doctor.

After an uneventful in-processing, David was semt
Lackland Air Force Base for the usual six weeksibarain-
ing, and then on to a technical school for anosireweeks of
special training. But when the time came for his assign-
ment, to his great disappointment, he was assitmétke sup-
ply corps rather than the medical corps.

He felt betrayed by the air force, and immediatafier
receiving his AFSC job assignment number, he mticehis
barracks to rehearse a protest to his commandiigenfMo-
ments later, a nonuniformed man entered the emgtsatks
and asked him to step outside and take a walk.dDass puz-
zled but went along without comment.
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When the two had reached a quiet spot on the blase,
man told David that he guessed he was disappoiabedt
receiving the AFSC of a “box pusher” in a supplyre@f@use.
David was surprised by the man’s knowledge of hisason.
Before he could reply, the man told David that ##SC was
just a cover, that he had actually been choserot& im a sen-
sitive area of intelligence.

The assignment sounded glamorous to David, areflift
his sagging spirits. He immediately decided to tpma with
the change of plans and accept the special assignmighout
protest. The unidentified man told David to be @atti and to
learn well the special techniques of computer m@ogning he
would be trained in while waiting for his securityestigation
to be completed.

Within a few weeks David was issued a top-secrgttor
security clearance and assigned to the air balgkénat, North
Dakota. At Minot, he continued to feed supply numshiato a
computer, developing his already excellent meméty. did
his job well and soon he received a letter of comuoia¢ion
and was promoted to sergeant.

But for all his accomplishments, he had begun tagr
restless. Although he knew his computer programmisag
just a cover for intelligence work, he was stillt reatisfied
with air force life.

“I was beginning to not like the extreme regimeiotat
and, | suppose, inside myself | was beginning tddbup a
resentment about being there.

“But after | woke up in the hospital | was not retal. |
was passive. | lay there thinking, trying to rectie last
memories | had before | woke up in that bed. | didemem-
ber anything. It was like I'd been asleep for myirenlife up
to that point. Like | was Rip Van Winkle.

“The memories of what had happened | did recover av
period of time. But they were fuzzy at first. Iteseed like
somebody was violating me—raping my mind.

“I was strapped down in the bed. | was vyelling and
screaming about something. I'm not the type of perthat
cusses that much. | hardly ever use foul langubgel| know
that | said some pretty foul things to those meio wiere with
me. They were officers, and in the service you tcaall a
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superior officer an obscene name without gettingighed.
Yet | don't think | was ever reprimanded.

“One guy would ask me questions in an accusatony-ma
ner. Another guy would come over and say comfortiniggs.
Then the first guy would come back and accuse nanag
Then the second guy would come and pat my arm and b
friendly. | could remember their faces and theiret@f voice,
but I couldn’t remember the content of what theyevalking
about.”

David thought about his situation; supposéhhdtried to
commit suicide. He probably would be kicked outtlod ser-
vice. At best he might be given a medical discha®m he
began to prepare himself for that eventuality. Heught he
wouldn’t mind getting out of the service under asiscum-
stances, even with a psychological discharge.

It didn’t happen. Instead, David was visited by nieici-
vilian clothes who told him that he'd been chosend special
intelligence assignment. They said the details iefdssign-
ment could not be revealed until the proper tinmel then he
would not be allowed to talk to anyone about ite¥said he
would be receiving his orders soon.

“I had expected at least to have some stripes takey
for the suicide attempt,” David said. “Instead,efidifferent
sets of orders came down. They were all typed anylibrders,
regular orders, but they had me going to five défe places
at once. It was impossible.

“l took the orders to headquarters and told thei th
somebody had goofed. It was plain to see that sodybad
screwed up. The way the military runs, it was nuisual. No
one got excited about it. The guys in the officil ghat they
would straighten it out.

“Then | was told that | had two weeks’ leave coming
They ordered me home to wait while they got my msde
straightened out.”

Happy to get a break after eighteen continuous hsoot
military life without leave, David went home.

“I was hoping they’'d forget all about me, | was yirag
that this time the computer would completely losa"m

The first evening at home something compelled Dawid
break security. Alone with his mother, he told heat he
knew he had not really attempted suicide.
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“l suppose that my first duty was to my family, amy
second duty was to my country. After I'd dischargey moral
duty to my mother, | was free to obey my governrisewish
and not remember anything about it. That's probdtadw it
worked, in spite of their programming.”

After David had been at home for the full two weedasd
was just beginning to think that maybe the comphget lost
him after all, a telegram came. There were no amitrders,
no official seals, just a Western Union telegramesing him
to report to a base in northern California and frimare to
embark to the Far East on overseas duty. There menbers
on the face of the telegram, but at the time Daade them
no special notice. These numbers may have beerssigha
ment authorization, for seldom are servicemen sgetseas
on the strength of a telegram alone.

“When | got to the base in California, | showedrththe
telegram and the air police hustled me to anothptame and
flew me to Guam.”

On the plane to Guam David ran into an airman he’'d
known at Minot. The airman’s name was Max. Like [Dav
Max had been attached to the supply wing at Mibat, he
had been in a different type of supply operation.

In all the time they were together on Guam, Dawégar
learned the details of Max’s assignment. Both @nhwere
supposed to be supply men, but David thought Makdtane
pretty unusual qualifications for a supply man: ifstance, he
held a fifth-degree black belt in karate.

“Max and | had checked into the barracks when we go
there, but after preliminaries we were put on a &g taken
to an isolated place eight miles outside the bakere were
six L-shaped barracks set up inside a high elésdrifence
with barbed wire at the top. Inside the compouretéhwas a
movie theater, a store, a barbershop, a chowdradl,a recrea-
tion center. There were several hundred guys liimghat
compound.

“We could leave anytime we wanted. All we had to do
was show the proper credentials to the air polictha gate.
The compound seemed to be regular air force. Taeeplvas
called ‘Marbo,” and as far as | could tell, thererevguys there
who had all sorts of different functions in the &rce, but
nobody really discussed their jobs.
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“Several of the guys at Marbo had been in the suppl
wing in North Dakota. But at Marbo they were workim
other areas . . . In other words, guys who'd beethé supply
wing in North Dakota were in the civil engineerstbe air
police. One air policeman on Guam, | remember, baen
shoving around boxes just like other supply menmihe was
at Minot. Suddenly now he was an air policemanouldn’t
figure it out, and | wasn’t about to ask questions.

“I guess we all assumed that we were all on spexsal
signment, and I'm pretty sure that if I'd asked amg about it,
they would have avoided an answecertainly would have, if
somebody had asked me.”

David made rank fast in the air force. He was adgaio-
man, a good supply man. Yet anybody he talked tatagup-
ply duties didn’t know what he was talking abouts lduties
weren't like the others.

“My air force file shows that the first three digjibf my
AFSC are 647. A 647 is some kind of a box pushet, Y
never pushed a box all the time | was in the atdd

After their tour of duty, Max and David returnednhe
together on the same plane. At the airport Max eedied over
the intercom and went off to answer the page. Tivpalice
returned for his luggage and David did not see Matd after
he was separated from the service for some mofitiesn it
was a strange meeting.

David was walking down the streets of Disneyland an
his eye fell on Max walking toward him in a crowdavid
was delighted to see his old buddy again, but Mas w
strangely distant. “He didn’'t seem very interestedur reun-
ion.” David said, “He shook hands with me, and bée to
talk, but he seemed kind of passive. | wanted ttad@ivn and
tell all the things that had happened to me sineclast saw
each other, but Max didn’t want to talk. He cut shert, said
good-bye, and left.

“That's something that’'s always puzzled me. How ean
guy who was your constant companion for so manythsyra
guy who has fought for you and gotten to know ymide and
out, not want to talk to you? How could he have fhrsished
me off like that?

“When | first got out of the service, all | couldmember
about my four years was that I'd had a lot of fumean, all
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the pictures | have, and all the recollections dl,haere of
Max and Pat and | having fun, skin diving, laying the
beach, collecting shells, walking in the jungle. Hever
dawned on me until later that | must hadene something
while | was in the service.”

Pat was a young woman from the Midwest who was as-
signed to serve as David’'s secretary. Almost iristamwhen
they met on Guam, they fell in love.

“Pat was something special. She was everything uldvo
have ever dreamed of in a woman. | suppose shehé&lt was
everything that she wanted in a man. It didn’t takeg for us
to go to bed after we met, and from then on, thnoug my
tour of duty Max, Pat, and | were inseparable.”

David was not talking about a ménage a trois. Mas w
not attracted to Pat nor she to him. They all leldh other to
be good friends, but David and Pat’'s feelings facheother
were strongest.

David now thinks it odd that the three of them gluing
so perfectly from the first moment they met. Maxsvizavid's
kind of man, and Pat was David’s kind of womantHa years
that have passed since he got out of the air fdejd has
come to believe that Max and Pat and he were mataheiy
a computer.

“We hit it off from the start. We had the same rets,
we were nervous about the same things, and we wauggh
at the same kind of jokes. We were three individwahio were
very very close and where one lacked a quality ferohad
something that filled that lack.

“The air force takes your psychological tests—your
mes—the cumulative progress reports which have legh
on just about every individual in the United Stafesn the
first grade through high school. These records hete 1Q,
your aptitude tests, and all the things they acdataewon you
through your school years . . . they give them amete ex-
amination to determine your psychological profildavery-
thing about your likes and dislikes. They feed el infor-
mation, any information they are looking to matgh into a
computer and run yours with other people’s unt@ytiave a
psychological match.

“In spy books I've read, undercover agents serfibteign
countries are usually teamed with a spy of the ejpcsex.
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Even if two people are both married and have kftifies at
home, the directors of intelligence usually sermhglsomeone
who can take care of the natural human sexual nettise
other without risking a breach of security. Thatyysao horny
agent is going to have to associate with a prdstitw some-
one who might turn out to be a double agent or taspy.

“I'd talk with the other guys in the service aneytd talk
about getting laid in Hong Kong or Japan or Koredidn't
have to talk about anything. | didn't have to bréd. just
smile at them, secure in my love for Pat.”

David said that there were several other womenhe t
barracks who, like Pat, were secretaries but hedrig clear-
ance. And, as was the case with Pat, many of tHemtead
close relationships with the men to whom they hadrbas-
signed.

Two months before their tour of duty was to exjiavid
and Max were sent home. Pat stayed behind on GBam.
David and Pat arranged to meet once they weredadtbf the
service. They exchanged home addresses, but soniaaad
lost hers and he is strangely unable to rememlydabename,
or even the town from which she’d come. David nesaaw Pat
again.

“Looking back on it, it looks like it was awfullyotwven-
ient. Pat was a liberated woman, she knew exacily she
was. And that’s just the kind of woman | like to Beound.
She fulfilled every need that | ever had, to sudtegree that
it's a problem now. | can't meet a girl that's asod as she
was. When you've been in paradise, it's hard td fparadise
again. You always want to go back.

“I think of her all the time, but | just can’t rermber her
last name. It's a total blank. | just can’'t remembe

During the entire thirteen-hour flight home Daviddhto
debrief himself into a tape recorder while sittimgtween two
air policemen. He doesn’t remember what he talkealia No
one was “questioning” him; he just talked.

Upon his return, he was assigned to a base indbail#.
Immediately upon reporting for duty, he found the no
longer had a security clearance. His job was tavangele-
phones on the base and to listen to complaintsd kée calls
from the wives of air force personnel and relayirtloom-



Operation Mind Control 35

plaints to the proper channels. Thatlshe did during his en-
tire last year of service.

“When it came time to get processed out, | wantedet
the medals | earned when | was stationed in Gudray Tere
actually theater ribbons. | had so many ribbons rwhéeft
Guam that the officer | reported to told me nowear them
because | would attract attention to myself.

“During the out-processing they brought out my .file
They do that regularly every year anyway. They shaw
your records and have you go over them and male thait
they’re correct. Then you sign a paper that stdtesrecords
have been approved by you. The last time | was shay
records, they'd been changed. Instead of all tipedydog-
eared reports that were in my file before, thers tids clean
computer print-out.

“| asked the officer in charge what had happenethéo
notices of my being awarded those theater ribbldesold me
that since | had such a high security clearanceesofrthe
things that were in my files made it necessaryxfmuage a lot
of the information from the record. He said thatrthwas a
top-secret file on me which was available to peopt® had
the right clearances. The file he had me approve tiva one
which would be shown anyone who did not have thyhddst
clearance. He said that because this was moressrlg@ublic
record, it could not have anything on it of a sBwsinature. It
was very misleading, that report. It looked likbdd been a
supply man, a box pusher, and I'd done nothing, edzeept
try to attempt suicide. The phony hospital storysvia the
report—so deniability was built in.

“Then | went through the normal out-processing eedt
home. All | can say is that everybody, my folks, frignds,
everyone who'd known me before noticed how charigeds.
| was fearful, and under tight control.”

David decided that he would first reorient himgelfthe
civilian pace of life and then look for a job. Bwhen he be-
gan to look for employment, he suddenly realizeat tte had
some deep psychological problems.

At his first job interview, he was routinely askéd fill
out the company'’s job application form. He sat dawa desk
and started writing. He wrote his name and notiteat his
hands were sweating. As he began to enter his ssldris
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heart began pounding so loudly it was audible. ldeame
short of breath and felt like the walls were clgsim. He
fought to remain calm, but within a few momentsshatched
up the form and bolted out the door.

That evening he discussed the strange physicaiteffieat
had come over him with his parents. They assuredha was
probably just very anxious about getting the job.

The next day he went on another interview. Agaimhs
asked to fill out a job application. This time het durther in
filling out the form: he put down his name . . degks . . . date
of birth . . . Social Security number . . . healtformation . . .
but when he came to the place in the form whichuired
work information about the past four years the mhog in his
ears, the shortness of breath, and the terrifyéegirfg of being
confined in a small space came over him again,haniéft the
building with the form wadded up in his hand.

Over the next few months David applied for manysjob
The results were always the same. He could notcoves the
terror that gripped him whenever anyone asked him f
information about how he had spent the past foarsie

David’s parents suggested that he try to get anjoiking
with computers and take advantage of the trainiag the air
force had given him. The mere mention of computaezle
him fly into a rage. “I still couldn’t face whatevé was that
was blocking me. To this day, | can’t stand theutjitt of a
computer. I'd like to smash them all up. | realing,course,
that is irrational.”

David remained hopeful that whatever was causirgg hi
anxiety would pass with time. Meanwhile, he decidedyo
back to college. He had no trouble getting intoaanuniver-
sity since his high school and community collegadgs were
high, and no one asked him for details of his seryiears. But
during his first semester he encountered the sdotkdthat
had kept him from getting a job.

“In my psychology course you had to get up in froha
circle of people and talk. You had to bare yourlsbgust
couldn’t do it. | couldn’t stand up and be calm dedpeople
guestion me. They were all harmless questions|'thgfet the
pounding heart, the sweaty palms, the shortnebsseaith and
the feeling of claustrophobia again. I'd just clapmand leave
the room.”
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It was then that David understood that he couldonger
face the problem himself. He sought out a psyadktaivho’d
been recommended by a friend.

“The first psychiatrist | went to was male. He haskd
hypnotherapy with me, and he found me to be a eagy
subject. I'd go into a trance at the drop of a Bait whenever
he tried to regress me—saying, ‘I want you to gokbal'd
just bring myself out of the trance, even if it veadeep trance.
My heart would be pounding, my palms would be simgat
and I'd feel the same claustrophobia I'd felt whesrd’d con-
fronted those application forms.”

David found that he was much more relaxed withseis-
ond psychiatrist, a woman named Alice. Alice waahore
successful with hypnotherapy. David would go intérance
quickly and deeply, but whenever Alice tried toness him to
his air force period, he would bring himself outtbé trance
as he had done previously. But she found that Qyessing
David to his childhood and approaching the air édoperiod
from earlier years, remembering was less diffiéodthim.

“At first she tried to have me relax. She talkedaiwvery
soothing voice, telling me to close my eyes. | fidé | was
surrendering to her. It was easy to get me infgl trance. |
laid down my defenses and was going deeper andedgelyt
just as soon as she said, ‘Now we’re going to gekpa sat
straight up and was wide awake.

“Alice couldn’t get over how fast | went under. Otime,
she said, she was just talking to me and her ymitene com-
pletely under when she wasn't even trying. | waghlyi sug-
gestible.

“But whenever she'd say, ‘Let’'s go back,’ all theisales
in my neck would strain, and | would grip the arofsthe
chair until my knuckles turned white. Once | wadditg a
piece of paper in my hand, and when | came outyphbsis,
the paper was completely soaked with sweat. Ontyiraute
after she’'d said, ‘We're going to go back,” | waslevawake.

“Alice never did succeed completely with hypnodisi
something must have been released because of teerpis.
As soon as we were able to go back to the usuahtatech-
nigue of psychotherapy, | started talking aboutahildhood.
I'd never thought that much about it, | guess, babuldn’t
remember much of my childhood. For instance, myndfa
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ther had died when | was fourteen, and he had livigd us.
Everyone says he and | were very close, but | ladhantal
picture of him at all. That's when Alice startegifig to get
me to remember my childhood. | don't know if | remigered
my childhood before | went into the service or Hbtseems
like | did, because it wasn't a problem, but tosttay, still, |
can't remember much, and everything before thecdden is
completely blank.

“Alice and | kept working. At first, the memoriesew
recovered were all painful memories. Alice thoutfdt this
was most unusual. Usually people remember the plabke
things first. Then she tried to get me to remendrdy painful
experiences. And once I'd remembered a lot shéestarying
to get me to remember the pleasurable ones.”

David and Alice continued to work with standard gy
atric techniques and with hypnosis. Finally, afsxteen
months of three sessions a week, Alice asked Davidake a
choice.

“We probably can penetrate the blocks around yaur a
force years and find out how they were plantedahy, but it
may take a long time. On the other hand, we carkveor
every other area and get you to function normalithout
anxiety reactions whenever anyone asks you aboageth
years,” Alice said. “Now you have to decide if yjust want
to function normally, or if you want to unravel tivole mys-
tery and find out who did it, why it was done, amtdat they
have hidden from your own mind.”

Since the therapy had nearly depleted his famibgs-
ings, David knew what the answer must be. He tdideAhe
would be content to just function normally. Aftewa more
months of treatment, Alice and David had their s&egsion.

“After two hundred and six therapy sessions, Akl |
had one eight-hour session which more or less pexhpll the
information we had collected. She told me that whdinst
came in I'd’ talked in a monotone. | was very, vecpn-
trolled. | showed no emotions and had no inflectionmy
speech. I'd talked to her for the first three maenthat way.
She said that there was a wall that she couldedlbdown . . .
Alice recommended that | continue working on my olan
going to group therapy.
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“I went to a couple of sessions, but when | goframt of
a group | became fearful again. It was more that ftage
fright, it was a horrible feeling. | still havewthen | get up in
front of a group to be asked questions.

“Alice did not figure out what this was about. | arow
beginning to, but figuring something out is onenthiand ac-
tually overcoming it is another.”

Alice’s expert guidance and her deft use of hyperhy
were helpful. While he did not recover his memargiace, in
time David began to remember isolated events. Hevgable
to reconstruct a picture of at least some of thiegg he did
while in hypno-service to his country.

“One day | had a vivid dream. Then it was liketlditby
little, memory cells exploding in my brain. | begemremem-
ber certain incidents. At first | didn't know if ¢élse were real
memories or just dreams. Today, | still don’t knifwhey are
accurate or not, but they are so real in all theitails that |
believe they are the truth. Naturally when youa& lamnesia
you're not really going to trust your memories @stf but if
the memories settle in—if you can recall more amdametail
about an event—you know that you are recallingia &vent.

“The most vivid memory | have is about Vietnam. asv
standing at a long table on a beach. There wer¢hNdget-
namese soldiers sitting on one side and Americficeo$ sit-
ting on the other. Everyone was in uniform. Our nvegre
from the air force, navy, and marines. The marinad side-
arms, and no one else had a weapon.

“What horrified me was that out in the harbor, gifibre at
some distance from the beach, was one of our bhitle, and
another battleship or gunboat. | guess that it Wiaghamese
or Russian, but I'm not expert at naval craft idfedtion. All
| know is | was terrified because the big guns ba ships
were trained, not on each other, but on us . gudss they
were prepared to blow us all up should anythingwgong on
the beach, or should there be a double cross.

“We had our interpreters, who were air force meheyl
did the translating and our officers waited for thenslations.
The discussion was very heated, but for some relasamem-
ber vividly, nothing was being written down. Thaaynhave
been the reason that | was standing there at odeotthe
table. | remember that they had been trying, somesvalong
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the line, to get me to have total recall. | cagtmember the
details, or the progression of events.

“I know that | had memory training. At Marbo, foorse
reason, I'd get up three hours earlier than anysse and re-
port to somewhere | can't remember and then go ddkvat
eight-thirty. | remember riding the bus from Martoothe base
on Guam, and | was the only one on the bus. Buan'tc
remember where | went before | reported for regdlay.

“l suspect that the computer work was part of themaory
training, but | can’t say that's exactly what it sv& here must
have been more to it. | just don’t remember thaitietBut |
have the impression that | was used as a humandapeder.

“I do know one thing about that beach scene. When |
came back from overseas, only three days aftemedaack it
was announced that the North Vietnamese were doimggyve
our prisoners of war back in an exchange. The mgetnh the
beach might have been an early parley about erttimgvar
and exchanging prisoners. At least that's whakesrime as
the best answer to the question of what that mgetias
about.

“I might have been a witness. | really don't undansl
why—or why the gunboats were pointing their gunsust |
can’'t remember the date, or anything that placatniemory
in time.

“The thing that really bothers me about this whbieg is
that | can sit here and talk to you, but | stilhtait down and
say, ‘Okay, | joined the service on such and suaay and
this is what happened to me during a four-year ggeiin
chronological order.” Ever since | got out of therdce | ha-
ven't been able to give a day-by-day account of twhegp-
pened to me during those four years.

“Some people might call what happened to me braswa
ing. I've called it that, but it's not really braimshing. | think
of brainwashing as something brutal. | don't thihkwvas
treated brutally. Also, what happened to me wasetbimg
that was much more sophisticated than what | haad about
brainwashing.

“l believe I'm telling the truth, and I'd like toeg® some-
one disprove it. | only have these fragments of wgmso if |
went to the Air Force they'd pull out my folder atiaow it on
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the desk and say, ‘See, there it is in black aniewh . He's a
nut. He tried to commit suicide by taking a patewedicine.’

“l feel 1 was used. Why would they use an enlistean
who is supposed to be a supply man? Every squdai®sup-
ply personnel, so | guess it's a perfect coveruppdy man is
so common he wouldn’'t be noticed. How well it watkeut,
from their point of view, | just don’'t know. Butdm mine,
well, it didn’t work out too well. All the doubtsnd fears |
have now, years later, and after a lot of psycididkelp, which
| paid for myself, made the experiment, if it wasepa failure
to me.

“I never thought about laying down my life, but rbayl
laid down a lot more than my life in service to mguntry.
My soul?”






Chapter Three
THE MIND LAUNDRY MYTH

David’'s own assessment of his mental confusiorr &fte
air force experience was that he had not beenrfmashed.”
By the time David had his mind controlled, “brairshing”
had become a catchall phrase, but what David héfdred
was a much more subtle and hideous form of tyranny.

George E. Smith was a POW during the early dayhef
Vietham War. Unlike David, George did not have adjedu-
cation. It can even be said that he was a littleenand there-
fore a good candidate for brainwashing of both Alngerican
and the NLF (Viet Cong) varieties. He was one &f fiinst of
the Green Berets captured in the Vietham conftict963.

It was the practice of the U.S. Army in those dags
indoctrinate its men with poorly constructed ligghich, it
Was hoped, would motivate them to fight a war inchhthe
U.S. had only dubious legal business and little ahor
argument. The “credibility gap” existed not onlythin the
confines of the U.S. borders, but also in the fang fields of
battle, all the way to Southeast Asia.

If brainwashing is making a person believe in liggn
our troops were already brainwashed by their owaego
ment. It was a simple job for the Viet Cong to gdia POWS’
cooperation by telling them the truth—truth whiclhsieasily
documented.

Smith described the attitude which was instilledtlie
American soldiers by their military indoctrinatiofiWe were
arrogant . . . the army is a separate societygstits own hier-
archy, and | could rise to a stratum in the arnat thcouldn’t
attain in the outside world. They'd driven arroganmato us in
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the Airborne, which is a high level in the armyt [8pecial

Forces was the highest level you could reach, lite @& the

elite. Elitism was the philosophy they taught aad@y: ‘You

are professors of warfare, you shouldn’t fight selattacked.
It costs thousands of dollars to train one of ynd gou're too
valuable to send into battle.’

“I believed it. | believed everything the army sdidhever
guestioned anything they told me until | got to tvieem, and
then things didn’t quite fit anymore.”

Smith and three other men were captured in a midnig
raid which followed a heavy mortar bombardment lodirt
location. The Viet Cong took them deep into thegjes.
When they reached the VC compound they were fotoed
build their own prison out of bamboo. Then, aftee primi-
tive compound was completed and the POWSs had dett|e
the interrogations began. These were nothing liketts had
been led to expect. They were “friendly chats” wath inter-
preter Smith called the “Man with Glasses.” Eveigy dche
would tell his prisoners about the history of Vietm and the
U.S. role in that country. “It was right out of tlmovies,”
Smith said. “The prisoner was confronted by higtirdgators,
who were sitting on a higher level and making haol up to
them.

“Look at you,” Man with Glasses began. “You arei-pit
ful.” It was a typical brainwashing tactic, desigrte make the
prisoner think poorly of himself, to undermine Belf-image.
Sergeant Smith, like many others, already had a get-
image long before he was captured, even beforenlisesl in
the army. That image wasn’t enhanced any by findirag the
authorities to whom he had been so obedient hathfimisned
him.

“We had known interrogation was inevitable and had
feared it for so long, but it didn’t go the waywts supposed
to,” Smith said. “The guards were off somewhere afugight.
No one shone lights in our eyes. In fact, | sathie shade
while Prevaricator (one of the interrogators) sdriee tea and
candy and cigarettes.

“Man with Glasses did most of the talking, thoughén-
couraged me to say anything | wanted to. He indiste giv-
ing me their side of the story—why they were thieréhe jun-
gle and why the NLF had gotten together and watifig the
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U.S. and the Saigon regime. ‘We are fighting foetdam. We
do not try to take over your country. This is notour plans.
We are worried about our country. We love it veryaim. We
are proud people, and we want to keep our cournfrigh't |
know | was wrong to be part of the United Statef®refin
Vietham? And if | did, would | write a statementysay so?
He talked to me for about an hour, and at the dnthieoses-
sion he gave me a pack of the Cambodian cigarefesyour
enjoyment. Take them with you. When you are resting
smoking, | would like you to think deeply of whaevhave
discussed.’

“If sitting in the shade drinking tea while | listed to this
old guy talk was brainwashing, then it didn't fityadescrip-
tion | had ever heard. | recalled the stories lghtd about
Korea—the scene where they hypnotize you, or drafemon
your head, or put you in complete stillness—sonmgttthat
will drive you out of your mind. Then once they'taken eve-
rything from your mind they start over again. Wisamebody
says ‘brainwashing,’ this is what | consider theytalking
about—the classic Korean example. Or the storias ¢thme
out of there, anyway"”

The word “brainwashing” summoned a terrifying image
but like so many other words it became corrupt sage. It
was applied to describe situations in which me@paganda
or influence were used. Indeed, the word may haentcor-
rupt from the very beginning when it was coined &bYCIA
propaganda specialist, Edward Hunter. In his H8@knwash-
ing in Red Chinahe claimed that “Brainwashing, with the
even more sinister brain changing in reverse, éstérifying
new Communist strategy to conquer the free worlddstroy-
ing its mind.”

In the words of the noted Yale psychiatry professor
Robert J. Lifton, brainwashing was popularly hetdbe an
“all-powerful, irresistible, unfathomable, and meaji method
of achieving total control over the human mirdif’ was in
fact none of these things. Techniques which segametiange
the beliefs of American POWs and others behindrive Cur-
tain employed no hypnosis, no drugs, no new metlfimdthe
control of the mind and certainly nothing magical.

Hunter revisedBrainwashing in Red Chinand reissued it
in 1971. In the introduction of the updated edittmn contin-
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ued his attack on the Communists, much as he ddgs psy-
chological-warfare journalactics

“Change the word China to Cuba, and this book dea
scription of Communist warfare against the mind—
brainwashing—in Cuba, as well as in China. Thith&world
pattern the Communists employ; what might, in @ikt par-
lance, be called mind attack. It is the new dimemsh war-
fare, added to artillery attack, naval attack, read frontal
attack, air attack. Brainwashing’s dual procesdesofiening
up and indoctrination have been added to the dreénaar-
fare, girding the Trojan Horse in twentieth centagcoutre-
ments.” Though Hunter may have been correct abbet t
Communist use of coercive psychological technigomesits
own populations, he never once hinted that the gdsern-
ment might just be establishing similar techniqoiits own.

In 1958, in his testimony before the House Commitia
Un-American Activities (HUAC) he continued to prese
brainwashing as a Communist weapon: “Since manmdua
has tried to influence other men or women to hig wfathink-
ing. There have always been these forms of pressurieange
attitudes. We discovered in the past thirty yearngchnique to
influence, by clinical, hospital procedures, thaking proc-
esses of human beings. . . . Brainwashing is formgdof a
set of different elements . . . hunger, fatiguaséness, threats,
violence, and in more intense cases where the Rads spe-
cialists available on their brainwashing panelsigdrand hyp-
notism. No one of these elements alone can be dedaas
brainwashing, any more than an apple can be cafiete pie.
Other ingredients have to be added, and a cookingeps
gone through. So it is in brainwashing with indowtion or
atrocities, or any other single ingredient.

“The Communists have been operating for a full gaene
tion taking strategic advantage of the Americam@ples,
exploiting the best sides in our characters aserabilities,
and succeeding for a generation in changing theacleristics
of Americans.”

Given the anti-Communist climate of the Cold Waarnge
Hunter's zeal did not seem excessive, even thoaghdf his
conclusions were supported by the eyewitness ats@iven
by the repatriated POWSs. According to them, no slrighyp-
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nosis were used overseas; they told only of peisuasch-
niques.

Was Hunter’s then an exercise in projection—an nnco

scious defense mechanism, in which he was shiftiadplame
from the U.S. onto another?

Hunter'sBrainwashing in Red Chinaas widely quoted.

Through front page news stories, the American putdicame
aware, for the first time, that governments (thoughly

Communist ones were mentioned) could control pésple

thoughts and motivate them against their will ariheut their
knowledge.

Two years later, in May of 1960, Francis Gary P®wer

was shot down over the Soviet Union and cries afrwash-
ing again made U.S. headlines. At his public tmaMoscow,
Powers apologized to the Russian people for dohemt
wrong. Even though the CIA had told him that if ght) he
could admit everything, the voices of the “soldiesgthin the
U.S. were quick to brand him a traitor, and those were
inclined to be more sympathetic said that he hatpli been
“brainwashed.”

One psychiatrist, William Jennings Bryan, who hagp
the head of an air force medical survival trainimgpgram
which employed hypnosis to prepare pilots for tesise to
brainwashing, went so far as to coin a term fordhibetle new
technique which he thought the Soviets had develsiece
the Korean conflict and had used on Powers. The pile?,
Bryan said, had been “Powerized.”

Bryan said that Powers’ apologetic manner during
Moscow trial, his submissive, almost crippled woadgesti-
mony, his trancelike acceptance, all showed an engagzer-
sonality change since his capture.

“The pilot's apparent lack of real emotion durirg ttrial
was the most startling evidence that the RussiamWashing
through hypnosis has destroyed the normal, aggeessinfi-
dence and the cockiness characteristic of theorteffliers . . .
The big tipoff came,” Dr. Bryan said, “when Powexgolo-
gized for his American assignment, testified hevkrie was
wrong and said he felt no ill will toward his conyis Cold
War enemy.

“It is no longer a secret that Russia uses hypnasis
powerful instrument to destroy the resistance dalividuals
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she wishes to conquer,” he said. “Brainwashing bgm as
apparently used on Powers is vastly different ftbexpermis-
sive type of medical hypnosis . . . and the seffftosis used
by air force fliers in caring for themselves aftercrash . . .
Powers exhibited no telltale marks of physical &waistorture
during the Moscow trial, and indeed, he may havenev
thought himself that he was being treated rathdl, wat his
manner and personality were obviously so unlike tipgcal
American pilot that only a brand new type of otipewerful
technLque could have changed his personality irstsart a
time.”

Francis Gary Powers was returned to the U.S. i 19&
trade for Russian spy Rudolf Abel. He wrote in hisok Op-
eration Overflight(which was withheld from publication by
the CIA until 1970) that the tactic he decided updren cap-
tured was in accordance with his CIA instructiole said,
“When questioned, | would tell the truth.”

Powers insisted that he did not tell the Russianyshéng
which he thought they did not already know. In faetoften
agreed to things they suggested simply to mislkarht

As for sophisticated, “Powerizing” techniques, Poave
denied their existence. He even went so far asiggest that
the Russians were actually highly overrated inrthetelli-
gence-gathering methods.

“From what | had been taught about brainwashingad
anticipated certain things: | would be lectured wbaoommu-
nism, given only propaganda to read. Food woulddded out
on a reward-punishment basis; if | cooperated, uldide fed;
if | didn’t, | wouldn't. Interrogation would be addd hours,
under bright lights. No sooner would | fall aslébpn | would
be awakened, and it would start all over againj amentually
I lost all track of time, place, identity. And | winl be tortured
and beaten until, finally, | would beg for the piege of being
allowed to confess to any crime they desired. Nohehis
happened.”

Immediately after Powers crossed the bridge frorst Ea
Berlin he was examined by a West German flight song
under orders from the CIA. The surgeon took blomainf his
arm. Powers says the doctor told him “the bloodamwere
necessary to determine whether | had been druggbid.
seemed to be the first question of almost everyonghom |
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talked: Had | been drugged? They seemed almogtlisated
when | told them | hadn’t.”

Powers was then flown to the U.S. “I still couldn’t
comprehend that after twenty-one months of captilitvas
once again a free man,” he said, “which was periags, for
though | was yet to realize it, | wasn’t quite freet yet. In a
sense, | had been released by the Russians to beaode
facto prisoner of the CIA.”

The CIA men told Powers they would like to talkHim
for a couple of days. The “couple of days” turnad m be
over three weeks, in which Powers was thoroughlyrigéed
by a team of intelligence analysts and psychiatrishe first
qguestion the psychiatrists asked was, again, hacbden
drugged by the Soviets? The second question tHedasas,
had he been brainwashed? When Powers answeredténo”
both questions he was given tranquilizers, whichewhe first
drugs he had received since his U-2 left Turkeytlier over-
flight of the USSR. Powers noted, with some irotiyat
Americans are much more disposed to the use ofsdihuan
are the Soviets.

Perhaps even more ironic was the public disclaissered
by CIA Director Allen Dulles, which said the U.Sadhno use
for brainwashing: “What had popularly become knoas
‘brainwashing,” while of great psychological inteteto the
West, as it is important to study defensive techegj is never
practiced by us . . . for the simple reason thatveenot inter-
ested in converting people to our way of thinkirtyer forci-
bly or by trickery, which is its main intent. Wevsanever felt,
as obviously the Soviets and the Red Chinese amdNtirth
Koreans have, that there is much to gain in puténgrain-
washed’ person on the air to denounce his own cgpunen.
We have enough people who come over to us voliynfaoim
communism and who need no promptifiddulles, it seemed,
was either a reader of Hunter’s or they both hashbariefed
by the same propaganda section of the CIA.

Brainwashing was the term the psychological wartanié¢
of the CIA thought up to explain why American POWop-
erated with the enemy in Korea. Brainwashing wgdased
as severe deprivation of food, clothing, and shelteiring
which time a series of punishments and rewards apptied
so effectively that a person’s fundamental belieésild be
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made to change 180 degrees from their originaltiposiThis
brutal technique was not called torture; there waspropa-
ganda value in something as old as torture. The tGbAight
up the term “brainwashing” to lead people in the stéen
world to believe that the inscrutable Orientals lagain, like
Fu Manchu, invented a revolutionary technique aliig the
human mind. The word “brainwashing” and the officiav-
ernment explanation of what happened to the Kor@hVs
was propaganda. It was aimed at fueling a home-grfear of
the Communists upon which the Cold War so greatty d
pended. Propaganda, of course, was nothing moreattéul
deception; the careful planting of “misinformatioahd “dis-
information,” Cold War euphemisms for what had bealted
“the big lie” in World War II.

Modern propaganda began when Nazi Germany perfected
the art of “the big lie.” The Soviet Union and aoth@ommu-
nist countries took the methods of the Nazis angrawved
upon them. The United States did not actively eegagvide-
scale propaganda until World War 1l, when the O&8 the
Office of War Information started. But then it waell under-
stood that the guiding principles of propagandaew&When
there is no compelling reason to suppress a falitjtt. . .
Aside from considerations of military security, thwely reason
to suppress a piece of news is if it is unbeliesabl . When
the listener catches you in a lie, your power distias . . . For
this reason, never tell a lie which can be discedérAs far
back as 1940, American propaganda services hadsoiaéel|
the truth. It was a sound premise for effectivepaganda, but
it was a premise which was ignored by the succeegémera-
tions of Cold Warriors.

Somewhere along the line the CIA’s Covert Actioaft
lost sight of the value of using the truth as th&inmwveapon.
Taking over from OSS, they soon became expertsha big
lie.”

This policy surfaced to the attention of the Amangeo-
ple during isolated events such as the U-2 incidedtthe Bay
of Pigs invasion of Cuba when Presidents Eisenhcavet
Kennedy took the blame for what were obviously @iEs. In
the light of recent history it would appear thag¢gé chiefs of
state were somehow convinced that it was bettdsdoe a
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false confession that they had lied to the natf@ntto admit
that they had been lied to by their own intelligegency.

In the years since the founding of the CIA in 194&re
were hundreds of such lies and false denials andedtic
propaganda campaigns which did not immediately gaislic
attention.

Brainwashing, as planted in the press, is one ljitopa-
ganda weapon in a vast arsenal. But it is a wedpanhhas
remained effective against communism, cropping rupews
accounts whenever it is needed—whenever the Coldidvsi
domestic covert action arm thinks that the puldigaing “soft
on communism.”

Albert D. Biderman, a senior research associatéhef
Rand Corporation’s subcontractor, the Bureau ofigddgci-
ence Research, conducted a study of news itemsspatl
about our POWs in Korea. Biderman’s analysis comdil that
this kind of propaganda was “successively dominanthe
press during and after the Korean War. During thar, w
Propaganda focused on prisoner atrocities; wherwtrehad
ended, the focus shifted to stories involving thairbwashing
of POWs.

“Beginning with exchanges of prisoners,” he wrote,
“prisoner misconduct received gradually increasédngion
until, several months after the war, it came torshadow the
other themes.”

Throughout the Korean conflict, propaganda and tegun
propaganda campaigns on both sides grew in injensitil
eventually POWs became the most critical issuehefwar,
the “stumbling block” in the drawn-out truce tatket delayed
the war’s termination.

In 1953, some 4,000 surviving American POWs became
the subjects of another type of propaganda—promaydny
Americans, about Americans, directed at Americ#wsord-
ing to Biderman, “The theme of this propaganda thas there
had been wholesale collaboration by the Americasopers
with their Communist captors and that this unprecged
misbehavior revealed alarming new weaknesses innadr
tional character. This post-truce propaganda was an out-
growth of propaganda activities during the war.”

Desperately trying to believe that U.S. propaganda
motivated by good intentions, Biderman suggestext the
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“brainwashing theme” was pushed at home becaus€ dia
Warriors were “apparently worried that a numbeAaferican
prisoners would return espousing the Communist View
Biderman noted that “the Defense and State Depatsrand
the Central Intelligence Agency issued a streamprets re-
leases during the days prior to the first prisoserhanges in
Korea to prepare the public for the shock of fimgdthat many
of the POWSs had been brainwashed. The theme oé ttees
leases was that evidence of Communist indoctrinatio‘'pro-
Communist’ statements by Americans when they were
leased would be discounted because the prisonarkl\have
been subjected to the well-known tortures that Comists
used to brainwash their opponents.”

And just what were these “well-known tortures™ The
general principles of the Chinese brainwashing riegles
were repetition, pacing of demands, the forcedigpation in
classes of prisoners, propaganda which would irGenimu-
nist ideas into familiar and meaningful contextanigshment,
threats, rewards, suggestion, pleas for peace, puative
tricks, and deprivation of all but the minimum ngsies of
life. There was little that was new or innovativieoat the
techniques used by the Chinese. They did not usgsdor
hypnosis, nor did they invent any mysterious newiabs for
breaking the mind and will of a man.

Actually the Chinese controlled information in thBiOW
camps just as they controlled the mass media iit then
country. The system they used in the camps of gapdizing
through lectures, movies, reading, and testimomnias based
on the same system used on the Chinese populatidris not
without parallel in Western education and advergsprac-
tices.

Nor are the punishment-and-reward techniques used b
the Chinese in their interrogations exclusivelyedtal. These
same practices are employed by Western intelligegesnts,
police, and, more subtly by reporters trying taielinforma-
tion from a hostile subject. Confession and satfeism have
been used in religious movements as a basis ofecsiawn, or
as a way of perpetuating the faith, from time imroeial.

Dr. Edgar H. Schein of the Massachusetts Institfte
Technology was one of many persons who contribtaeithe
army study of the returned POWs. Of the centrataaabe-

-
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hind the brainwashing propaganda which the armgystlis-
closed, he wrote “When things go wrong, it is fasd ego-
deflating to say that we have been brainwashed tihaecog-
nize our own inadequacy in coping with our problefgru-
cial question, however, is whether such changesiirsociety
and such preoccupations represent weaknessesgral gie
deterioration of some of our highly valued insidut, or
whether they are merely the symptoms of the changiorid.
Are we becoming mentally apathetic and hence moyaeto
totalitarian solutions, or are we finding new wayswvhich to
relate ourselves to our international and intenmablems?
Many observers of the contemporary scene, among the
novelist and philosopher Aldous Huxley, and JooseNbo, a
psychoanalyst, feel strongly that we are headedrsdyuin the
wrong direction—that the combination of certain sociaicfes
and the weapons against the mind now availableiméVita-
bly lead to the destruction of the democratic wayife and
the freedom of mind which goes with it, unless weognize
clearlgy what is happening and put counter-forcés opera-
tion.”

In succeeding years, talk of “brainwashing” conédu
Usually it was heard that the Communists had “lwaished”
somebody, but on April 7, 1967, presidential hop&over-
nor George Romney turned that around. Romney, wdt
gone to Vietnam believing in the rightness of thes.Uin-
volvement there, came home saying that he hadredfféhe
greatest brainwashing that anyone can get whenggoaver
to Vietnam, not only by the generals, but also I diplo-
matic corps over there, and they do a very thorgogh

Nine governors who had accompanied Romney on
tour disagreed with him. Governor Philip H. Hoffidsahat
Romney’s brainwashing statement “tends to be alniost
credible.” Finding he had no support among hiseamgles
Romney quickly told reporters that he had not btsking
about “Russian type brainwashing, but LBJ type nwaish-
ing.” He said he meant the same thing the pressiimehen
you write about the credibility gap, snow job, amdnipula-
tion of the news.”

Webster's Third New International Dictionagives the
second meaning of brainwashing as “persuasion lopagr
ganda or salesmanship,” but the press and puldiegtit that

the
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Romney had meant the word in its first sense: “Kifde in-
doctrination to induce someone to give up basidtipal, so-
cial, or religious beliefs and attitudes and toegtaontrasting
regimented ideas.”

And the public let it be known that it would nottedor a
brainwashed presidential candidate. Romney’s poipylell
so dramatically in the polls that he eventuallypired out of
the race for the presidency. The word “brainwashprgved
to be more charged with emotions than anyone hpposed.

In one of the first mass market books publishedttan
subject following the army’s release of the studytte Ko-
rean POWSs, Eugene Kinkead wrote, “Unfortunately, dis-
tinction between brainwashing and indoctrinatiorfais from
clear to the average American. The army definesdtrtha-
tion as an effort to change a man'’s viewpoint whieis still a
thinking individual by regulating his thoughts aidtions.
This falls far short of the effect produced upomsodefen-
dants seen in Communist courts, defendants whoohad
ously been completely broken, and had ceased tbibking
individuals. | am afraid that the general concaptims been
that Communist techniques of manipulating humandeeare
SO persuasive, so completely irresistible that risoper can
keep his integrity in the face of them—and, by aggl that
no people, including ours, can stand against suckremy.
This is what distresses me so much about the popathim-
proper use of a word like ‘brainwashing . °.”

Perhaps. But by 1967, when George Romney claimed he
had been brainwashed, our own government was lrisad
beyond what Kinkead referred to as “brainwashingtie
United States government did not have to stoophéosiow
and exhausting process the Chinese and Russiadsloghe
age of electronic brain stimulation, neuro-psycltarpiac-
ology, and advanced methods of behavior modificatmd
hypnosis, the government certainly didn't have égort to
methods as unsophisticated as brainwashing.

The techniques of mind control developed, even 3§71
were making brainwashing seem like the metaphavais: a
washboard and scrub-bucket technique which hdd lige in
a world where the sonic cleaner, with high” frequesound,
higher than the human ear can hear, vibrates thérdim the
very molecules of matter—or the mind.
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Brainwashing was largely a campaign waged in the
United States home press. It served as a shargquopa-
ganda weapon and was aimed at the American peomdd
to the already considerable fear of the Communistalso
covered official United States embarrassment oveeeaning
rash of defections and collaborations with the eneand per-
haps most important, offered moral justificatiom fommoral
and illegal experiments to scientists working underern-
ment contract. They were urged as a matter of qien to
“beat the Communists in the mind-control race.”

It is doubtful that all of the “collaborators” iln¢ Korean
conflict succumbed to brainwashing. The eyewitntessti-
mony of air force Col. Laird Guttersen, one of fhes heroes
of the Vietnam conflict, and a real hero of the dagontrol
war, would suggest that they didn't.

Guttersen had been in charge of the air force smngn
Korean brainwashing at Maxwell Air Force Base. Ampeart
hypnotist, he later used self-hypnosis to blockpaid keep
himself alive in a North Viethamese POW camp wheee
spent more than twenty-seven months in solitaryicement.

He took the time during his campaign for the U.8nC
gress to offer me his views on brainwashing anddnaiomtrol.

As early as 1956 Colonel Gutterson realized thaatwh
was called brainwashing was nothing more than peggical
indoctrination. “Controlling the mind is one thifighe told
me, “but remember, this does not occur with psyoical
indoctrination. Nor does it occur, normally, witlygmosis.
The concept of complete and total mind control wagected
by the ‘brainwashing’ myth, and it was the themehs book
The Manchurian Candidatdgut mind control is not what hap-
pened to the Korean or Vietnamese POWSs. What tliee€é,
the Russians, the Vietnamese did was mind influenog¢
mind control.”

Guttersen said that while it was generally belieteal
brainwashing was the result of drugs and hypnasishis
firsthand knowledge, from the Korean conflict toetfiam,
there are no documented cases of drug- or hypnuhised
mind control. Reading the examples of what the PG¥ted
in both Korea and Vietnam, and what | saw in Hatlare are
only men saying, ‘I couldn’t have done or said #dkings
unless | had been drugged.” There are no spedfiorts of
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anyone saying, ‘They stuck a needle into me and kd and
so,’ or ‘They gave me something to eat, and theiu Iso and
so.” There were men who said, ‘I acted in a vergrgje way,
just like | was in a dream or something. | must éhdneen
drugged.”

There was a cover-up for a snafu in some of thgiraai
Korean briefings of our combatants who, Gutterssd,svere
told to cooperate if captured.

“I remember a specific briefing, though later it svde-
nied, where a group of us were told that we woudwell
advised, if we got shot down, to whip out a botifevodka
and a red flag and start waving it. We were advtsecboper-
ate in any possible way with the enemy becauseatyback
home would know that we were cooperating understuréd/e
were told that if we cooperated with our captorsyould not
give them an excuse to torture us. That was a fipéciefing
given to us. Of course, now we know that a good memof
our captive men followed that advice and did callabe on
the basis that ‘What the hell, nobody would believe any-
way. I'll just play the game.’

“But after they collaborated, it was denied thagytthad
ever been told to do it. When it was brought ughgyreturned
POWs who had received the briefing, it was denigdihze
military. But many of us who sat in on those brig knew
about them. This could be one of the reasons why thater
came up with the Code of Conduct, in order to pevspe-
cific guidance to all military personnel, so thatody would
ever be told to collaborate with the enemy again.”

The word “brainwashing” became commonplace after
Soviet Union presented evidence before the UnitatioNs
that charged the United States with the use of geanfare in
Korea—a major violation of the Geneva Conventiohe Bo-
viet evidence contained the confessions of sevemptured
United States pilots stating both in documents @amdilm that
they had dropped germ bombs on North Korea. Bytithe
these men were repatriated, their stories had @thang

Marine Corps Colonel Frank H. Schwable was the firs
American to sign a germ warfare confession. Hisfesgion
named names, cited missions, described meetingsteaidgy
conferences. Before a military court of inquiry $eble said:

“I was never convinced in my own mind that we ie thirst

h

—
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Marine Air Wing had used bug warfare. | knew we migcbut
the rest of it was so real to me—the conferendes ptanes,
and how they would go about their missions. . . .

“The words were mine,” the Colonel continued, “iblué
thoughts were theirs. That is the hardest thinguehto ex-
plain: how a man can sit down and write somethiadkmows
is false, and yet, to sense it, to feel it, to milseem real.”

A CIA memo dated April 11, 1953 addressed to thefCh
of CIA’s Plans and Preparations, contained a repban ex-
change that took place between then United Natkmbas-
sador Henry Cabot Lodge and an unidentified ClAnagEhe
CIA agent began to brief Lodge on the germ warfarefes-
sions of Schwable and others when, according tontemo,
Lodge interrupted expressing “. . . a profoundatitd for the
entire matter,” adding that “he hoped he would néear of it
again—it had been a nasty and difficult issue, gipially be-
cause of the difficulty ofxplaining awaythe film and the
statements of the American fliers. . . .” (Emphasided.)

The CIA memo continued with the agent reporting.
said that we fully shared his view that ‘the issues finished
in the United Nations,’ but that it had been ouperience that
‘the bug’ comes from a very hardy strain and hadilexed
apalling vitality. For this reason, | said that | thought it woul
be a mistake to be too complacent about the mditethe last
statement Senator Lodge replied with a questioroagist
what explanation we could give of the statementsthaf
American fliers—how did we account for this and wbauld
be done about it? | said that our best guess vedshb state-
ments had been in one way or another forced othetap-
tive airmen and that one of the techniques whichthaight
had possibly been used was the Soviet (and nowe8éajn
techniques of ‘brainwashing.” Senator Lodge saidt the
thought the public was very inadequately informdabua
‘brainwashing’ and that in the absence of a mucgelaquan-
tity of public information than now exists on thebgect, the
impact of the fliers’ statements is terrific. | hepl by stating
that we shared his view and Pointed out that theaienent of
Defense is expected to issue a lengthy statement. (Em-
phasis added.)

d
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Shortly thereafter, the word “brainwashing” was e
front page of every paper in America. We had nedugerm
warfare, CIA propaganda claimed, the Communists Ut
brainwashing.



Chapter Four
WITHOUT KNOWLEDGE OR CONSENT

“l can hypnotize a man-without his knowledge or con-
sent—into committing treason against the United States,
boasted Dr. George Estabrooks in the early 1940s.

Estabrooks, chairman of the Department of Psyclo#ig
Colgate University, was called to Washington by \ttier De-
partment shortly after Pearl Harbor. Since he vaasranking
authority on hypnosis at the time, they wanteddgmion on
how the enemy might be planning to use hypnotisfiwd'
hundred trained foreign operators, working in thaited
States,” Estabrooks told the military leaders, tdadevelop a
uniquely dangerous army of hypnatically controll&ixth
Columnists.*

At that time, only a handful of men knew of the gov
ment’s experiments with hypnosis for the purposeamftrol-
ling minds in the interest of “national securityti’ that decade
there had been no concentrated assassinationsesitignts,
candidates, or civil rights leaders. There hadyettbeen Wa-
tergate, nor any disclosures of government agericiexling
the privacy of United States citizens. The CIA haat yet
been conceived, and even its parent, the Offic&todtegic
Services (OSS), did not exist.

It was unthinkable at the time that an agency eflhS.
government would employ mind-control techniquestsown
people. Therefore it was natural for George Estaltgdo be-
lieve that if America were threatened by hypnotimancon-
trol, the threat would be posed by a foreign enemoyking
within the United States.
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So in 1943 Estabrooks sounded his public alarm, and
planted the seed for what would become priority-gepret
research for the next twenty-five years. Couchimgdisclo-
sure in hypothetical terms and saying that the btipad mind
“could be” put to military use, he then portrayedseene
which he said could “very easily take place.”

It would be possible, he said, for “the enemy” tanp a
foreign agent as a doctor in a hospital or his offite. This
“doctor” could, by means of fake physical examioas, place
thousands of people under his power over a perfoiine.
Estabrooks projected how, by hypnotizing key officand
programming them to follow suggestions, this “makkea-
neuver” could enable a lowly first lieutenant t&deover the
reins of the entire U.S. Army.

His alternate scenario depicted the General Staffi-s
moning a colonel from Intelligence to an emergemyeting
in the Pentagon two days after an outbreak of \Baoortly
after entering the room where Pentagon “brain énsstwere
gathered, the colonel is put into hypnotic trangeab army
psychologist and told there has been a changeaosgbr the
defense of major territory. The details of the plave to be
conveyed in absolute secrecy to the Pacific Comm&ntte
the enemy has been very successful in monitoriry dom-
munications, a new, highly reliable procedure isdwl to slip
the message past the enemy. The colonel, undenfthence
of hypnosis, will carry the top-secret message.

“When you wake up,” the hypnotized colonel is told,
“you will no longer have the slightest knowledgetloé secret
information carried in the lower layers of your wmhit The
colonel is then given instructions to proceed biplane to
Honolulu. He is told that in his normal waking stdte will
hold the impression that he is on a routine missiod must
report after his arrival to General Y.

“He is the only man in the world who can hypnotizai
again. Put to sleep by General Y—and only him—yadlh w
correctly recall all the details of this conversatiand disclose
the secret instructions we have just given you.”

Estabrooks said later he had given the Pentagmodpi
only as a practical example of how the new science phay
tismcouldbe used for military purposes.
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Going even further with his alarming predictionss-E
tabrooks told how disguised techniques of hypnosigdd be
employed to create an entire army of saboteursmithr own
country. “Let us suppose that in a certain cityr¢hives a
group of a given foreign extraction. They are lofahericans
but still have cultural and sentimental ties to teé country.
A neighborhood doctor, working secretly for a fgreipower,
hypnotizes those of his patients who have tiesrie to his
plans. Having done this he would, of course, remfreen
them all knowledge of their ever having been hyzeat.

“Next comes a one-month period of indoctrinatiomemn
hypnosis. By various means, including the offesatbstantial
rewards and educational processes designed t@#tesntheir
ancestral loyalties, their cooperation is obtaified.

Estabrooks explained how individuals so controlled
would have no conscious aversion to Americans andldv
continue to behave as good citizens. Subconsciphgsiyever,
they would be saboteurs and agents of the enemy.

“All right, you say. This sounds beautiful on papBut
what about the well-known ‘psychological principléiat no
one will do anything under hypnosis that he wouldit when
he’'s awake?” Estabrooks asked.

“My experiments have shown this assumption is peppy
cock. It depends not so much on the attitude ofstitgect as
on that of the operator himself . . . In wartintge motivation
for murder under hypnosis doesn’t have to be vémgng,”
Estabrooks warned.

“During World War |, a leading psychologist madstar-
tling proposal to the navy. He offered to take &drsarine
steered by a captured U-boat captain, placed unidehyp-
notic control, through enemy mine fields to attédo& German
fleet. Washington nixed the strategem as too risksst, be-
cause there was no disguised method by which thtaicés
mind could be outflanked. Second, because todaglnique
of day-by-day breaking down of ethical conflictaimwashing
was still unknown.

“The indirect approach to hypnotism would, | betev
change the navy’s answer today. Personally,” Estétsr con-
cluded, “I am convinced that hypnosis is a brigtlidangerous
armament which makes it doubly imperative to aubiel war
of tomorrow.”
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George Estabrooks may have greatly contributechéo t
U.S. government’s interest in hypnosis. For duting years
that followed, seeking ways both to improve the arémd to
control it, various government agencies, many efthwith
intelligence functions, secretly pursued researctypnotic
techniques.

A number of related events during the 1940s demon-
strated the extent of the government’s intereshypnosis.
Beyond changing beliefs, they sought ways to magiyeeople
to commit acts which they would not commit in a maf
state.

Dr. Bernard C. Gindes wrote of an amnesia experirhen
undertook for the U.S. Army in the late forties. ‘Foldier
with only grade school education was able to mereodn
entire page of Shakespearelamletafter listening to the pas-
sages seven times. Upon awakening, he could nall ety of
the lines, and even more startling was the fadt tleahad no
remembrance of the hypnotic experience. A week lagewas
hypnotized again. In this state, he was able teatthe entire
page without a single error. In another experimentest the
validity of increased memory retention, five sotdiewvere
hypnotized en masse and given a jumbled ‘code’isting of
twenty-five words without phonetic consistency. Yheere
allowed sixty seconds to commit the list to memdry.the
waking state, each man was asked to repeat the node of
them could. One man hazily remembered having haxeso
association with a code, but could not rememberentban
that. The other four soldiers were allowed to sttity code
consciously for another sixty seconds, but all dérprevious
acquaintance with it. During rehypnotization, thegre indi-
vidually able to recall the exact content of thedled mes-
sage.?

In 1947, J. G. Watkins induced criminal behavior
deeply hypnotized subjects during an army experiméfat-
kins suggested a distorted view of reality to hibjscts by
inducing hallucinations which allowed them to avalitect
conflict with their own moral concepts. He carefuthose his
suggestions to be in line with his subjects’ pretxg motiva-
tional structures, and so was able to induce dedantisocial
behavior.

in
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Watkins took a normal, healthy army private, a ypun
man whose tests indicated a most stable personality put
him in a deep trance. Though merely striking a sopefficer
is a court-martial offense in the army, Watkins teainto see
if he could get his subject giranglea high-ranking officer.

After the subject was deep into trance, Watkind tim
that the officer sitting across from him was a Jegsa soldier
who was trying to kill him. He must kill or be léitl, Watkins
suggested, and immediately the private leapt fetmsty at the
officer and grabbed him by the throat. In his wakstate, the
private would have been aghast at the thought yafgrto
strangle a superior officer. But under hypnosidiebing the
officer was a dangerous Japanese soldier, the ypurgte
had to be pulled off his superior by three huslgistants. The
officer came within a hairsbreadth of being stradglas the
young man was most persistent in his attempt fonkiat he
regarded as the enemy.

Watkins repeated this experiment with other subjethe
second time he used two officers who were gooadhdise One
of them was given the hypnotic suggestion thaother was a
Japanese soldier and that he must “kill or be dill&he man
who had received the command not only made a paolverf
lunge at his friend, but as he did, he whippedama opened a
concealed jack knife, which neither the doctor, dsgsistants,
nor his friend knew he had. Only the quick actiéie of the
assistants, who was a judo expert, prevented afpate fatal
stabbing.

In both cases, reality was so distorted that tHgjests
took murderous and antisocial action. If they hatom-
plished their “defensive” acts, both men could hbeen con-
victed of murder, since the law did not recognizetiwation
through hypnosis as a fact. The courts, in alldfgw cases,
had adopted the traditional scientific view thaiminal behav-
ior cannot be induced under hypnosis. That vieW sttinds
today.

To test the premise, which was then widely heldt #
normal person under hypnotic trance could not belan@
divulge information which would be self-incriminagj, Wat-
kins conducted a number of experiments where a tapne
bribe was offered to withhold information. Watkidsscov-
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ered that “when placed in a trance they ‘spilledény time,
either verbally or in writing.”

The subject of one of these experiments was astedli
WAC in military intelligence. Her commanding officer-
dered her not to reveal a list of what were madapipear to
be real military secrets. Under hypnosis she ‘sgillevery-
thing.

Another experiment was discontinued when it was dis
covered that a research worker in the governmesgnat was
spilling vital and top-secret war information toettriendly
army hypnotist, who did not have a “need to knott€ did
this loud and clear while in a trance before anene of 200
military professionals. If the subject had beeww#d to con-
tinue, the disclosures of information would havsuteed in a
general court martial, no matter how the doctorhnigave
tried to persuade intelligence headquarters thawths “just a
test.”

Much of the army’s experimentation with manipulatio
by hypnosis was inspired by the reports of Weslayrfond
Wells, a doctor at Syracuse University. Wells'seash, in
turn, had been inspired by the fiction of the 1888d 1890s,
which described criminal acts as being induced gynbsis.
Wells was taken by the idea that “the most strikefure in a
hypnotized subject is his automatism.” Althoughliearex-
periments had elicited no immoral or criminal baba¥rom
subjects under hypnosis, the results of experimetish
asked subjects to resist various suggestions itetida Wells
that people might be more suggestible than wasrghiyde-
lieved.

In the late 1930s, Wells conducted a simple expamtm
with a student volunteer. He chose a subject witb dtated
that he expected he would be below average in higaimlity
and claimed he could not be put into a trance. ieffeducing
trance, Wells urged him to do his utmost to resistevery
possible way, first going into the trance, and tdemg any-
thing against his own moral code.

When the student told Wells that he was ready @irbe
the contest, the doctor put his hand on the subjettest,
counted to seven, and found that the subject haday fallen
into a deep trance! After testing the subject’s crigontrol
and ability to obtain amnesia and hallucinationsllgV/pro-
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ceeded to suggest that the subject get up fronthas, go

over to Wells’s overcoat which was on a coatradloss: the
room, and take a dollar from the right-hand pock&ells

suggested that the subject see the coat as hisamdrtake the
dollar thinking that he had left it in the pockéthen the sub-
ject followed all of Wells’s suggestions, he thetdthim to

put the dollar in his own breast pocket and retorhis chair.
As he was about to sit, Wells said to him that whersat in
the chair he would remember only that he had hadektra
dollar when he came into the office, and that l&terwould

spend the dollar, just as if it were his own.

Afterwards, during the student’s recall of his exgeces,
Wells found that everything had worked accordinghe hyp-
notic program he had implanted. This was, of cquasginical
sort of test for amnesia.

“Whether his amnesia would have withstood ‘third-
degree’ methods of the police or the lie detectethmds of
the psychological laboratory is another questidhiglls said.
“On the basis of my previous experimental studyo$thyp-
notic amnesia, | would state it as my opinion tigtnotically
induced amnesia in the case of so good a subjectwould
have withstood any possible tests, or at leastighimhave
been made to withstand any possible tests if agdechutions
had been taken in the hypnotic production of theesia.*

Wells’ report of this experiment, published in aygol-
ogy journal in 1941, brought a negative reactiamfrthe sci-
entific community. Milton Erickson was among thesfito say
that Wells's experiments were at best inconclusiséckson
reported that after attempting to duplicate simitgapnotic
inducements of crime with fifty subjects, he hadefh He
concluded from his own investigations that “hypsosannot
be misused to induce hypnotized persons to comatitah
wrongful acts either against themselves or other$ The so-
called antisocial acts induced by Wells and othErickson
maintained, were most likely motivated by factotken than
hypnosis or suggestion.

“We know that it is possible, without recourse tgpho-
sis, for one person to induce another to commit@ng, a fact
we may explain loosely as the influence of one qealkity
upon another,” Erickson explained. “To settle thigestion is
difficult, since it involves three inseparable fast of un-
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known potentialities—specifically, the hypnotist agerson,
the subject as a person, and hypnosis as suchy tooshing of
the significant influence upon these three, bottiviidually
and collectively, of the suggestion and the perfomoe of a
questionable act”

But even Erickson conceded that the primitive bethg
libido, which dwells in everyone, makes almost amime
possible. When a hallucinatory state has been sdland the
subject thinks he or she is acting out of self-prestion, the
primitive mind takes over and the Kkiller instinstuinleashed.

In the late 1930s psychologists began grapplingy Wit
problem of human will, as the theologians beforenthhad
done for centuries. Some maintained that “will” mieaon-
scious volition; others, that it meant nothing thé manifesta-
tion of the belief system, that is to say, the lesithe earliest
conditioned responses. The area of will still lmgside the
limits of modern psychology. Many experts are loaten to
use the word “will” since it represents a mostdiéifined di-
mension of human nature.

Summing up a carefully constructed semantic argigmen
psychologists often say, “A person cannot be mad#otany-
thing against his will or basic moral precepts.’al ktatement,
taken at face value, is certainly true. A normaispa would
not wittingly kill a friend. But if he was made tmllucinate
that his friend was an enemy, and it was a “killber killed”
situation, he would initiate a natural responsereserve his
own life. In the process he might even take thegimed en-
emy’s life. After the hallucination passed, he wbrealize he
had killed his friend. This criminal act would bensidered, in
one sense, an act of will; but the real cause etition would
not be understood outside the hallucinated statdy e kil-
ler’s grief would remain, to attest to his knowledaf what he
did, and thahe reallydid notwantto do it.

Whether or not hypnosis can be used to deeply m@tiv
people to commit antisocial acts despite the datheir own
conscience is still an open question in academites.

George Estabrooks had evidence which made him con-
clude that “one in every five of the human race highly
suggestible, at least half are suggestible to p e#ensiderable
degree.” And he warned, “. . . mere figures do t&dit the
story. That one fifth has a power far beyond itsnbars; for



Operation Mind Control 67

this type of man, acting under direct suggestisnné mere
average person. He is a fanatic, with all that fiaisan may
imply for good or evil . . . Can this prospectiugbgect—this
one in five individual—be hypnotized against hidl?i

“The answer to this very vital question,” Estabre@on-
cluded, “is ‘'yes’ though we prefer to say ‘withcus consent’
instead of ‘against his will.” We do not need th#bjgct’'s con-
sent when we wish to hypnotize him for we use ‘disgd’
technique . . &

Believing in Estabrooks’ logic, pragmatists in tgev-
ernment began to explore the possibilities of wayshange
belief and motivate behavior. They let scores oftaxts for
research into hypnosis, behavior modification, d¢toaing,
and virtually anything that held even a slim chanééeing
able to give them control over the individual hurmaimd and
will.

Meanwhile foreign governments unfriendly to the tddi
States were involved in similar psychological reskaBut the
U.S. government’s fear of losing superiority instliew and
untested field ran away with them. Intelligence lgsta be-
lieved a “mind-control gap” existed, and to closthey mobi-
lized “think tanks” to develop a usable progranmegperimen-
tal researchat once

From one such think tank, the Rand Corporation,ecam
report entitledAre the Cominform Countries Using Hypnosis
Techniques to Elicit Confession In Public TriaBated April
25, 1949, it helped set the stage for using natiseeurity as
the rationale for resorting to mind control to mate criminal
acts, both at home and abroad.

“The successful use of hypnosis,” the report saiduld
represent a serious threat to democratic valuesSmas of
peace and war. In addition, it might contributethe devel-
opment of unconventional methods of warfare, which be
widely regarded as immoral. The results of scientiésearch
in the field under discussion would obviously lehémselves
to offensive as well as defensive applications @ndbuse no
less than to use. It must be assumed that almiost e sci-
entific personnel in the field of hypnosis are Kgeaware of
these social implications of their work and thattlare inter-
ested in limiting the practice of hypnosis to thematic appli-
cations.” That assumption proved to be untrue.
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The Rand report recommended “that these moral ard P
litical implications of experimental research onphgsis be
explored as fully as possible prior to official eacagement or
sponsorship of such research, so as to estabksimdist effec-
tive safeguards against its unintended consequénces

The Rand study dwelt at length upon Soviet expanme
in hypnosis dating back to 1923. “At the Stateitogt of Ex-
perimental Psychology in Moscow,” the report stati#dwas
demonstrated that hypnosis could be used in indumminno-
cent person to develop intense guilt feelings @andoinfess to
a criminal or immoral act which he did not comnhit. 1932
the experiments on hypnotically implanted ‘crimegre re-
ported (in English translation) by A. R. Luria, whbthat time
was a professor in the Academy of Communist Edonati

Quoting Luria, the report described how hypnosis wa
used as a device for producing emotional disturesunt order
to control behavior. “We suggested to the persoteunest,
while in a sufficiently deep hypnotic state, a aertsituation,
more often a disagreeable one, in which he wasmgay role
irreconcilable with his habits and contrary to b@ial behav-
ior—we thus obtained an actual and rather sharppyessed
acute effect. After awakening the person under.tesive had
a subject who was ‘loaded’ with certain definitefeafive
complexes, which mostly remained unknown to himself*

Luria described an experiment with a twenty-year-fal
male college student who was told under deep hygrbat
she was sitting in her room studying when a neighibdd, a
boy of six, came into the room. She was told that ¢hild
shouted when he came into the room and disturbesthéies.
She asked him to stop, but he did not listen. Thanyg
woman was then told that she would get angry angefcher-
self. She would take a stick and beat the boy, dinsthe back
and then on the head. The boy would cry out froenvtlbunds
on his head, but she would keep on beating him. \&hdd
then feel very ashamed and would be unable to statet
how such a thing could happen, how she could beat child.
Finally, she was told that she must try to fordet incident
altogether.

Luria explained that he had chosen this situatidt &
definite purpose. Since the hallucinated event wasrely
unacceptable by the moral standards of the younmamés
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personality, it was natural that she would feelergpnt. He
reinforced her natural desire to forget by suggestb her that
she remove the memory of the event from her mind.

In subsequent trances the subject was questionedt ab
the “beating.” With great difficulty she reconstted the
event, but shifted the emphasis on several pomtthat the
imagined event would conform more to her basic noode.
At first she refused to remember that she had &eéathe
child. She then conceded that she had “pulled dis.’eThen,
finally, she admitted she had “beaten him,” but stantained
she had not beaten him with a stick. Luria saidt timés
showed how unacceptable the situation was to haopality.
The student said twice, “my conscience has tortaned’ Lu-
ria said this showed the effectiveness of the htipreugges-
tion.

Of the experiment, Irving Janis, author of the Resbrt,
observed, “in this particular case, the implanteshmary was
initially referred to by the examiner as a ‘dreaather than as
a real event. But from the detailed reports of niheestiga-
tors, this procedure does not appear to be negeksaglicit-
ing a false confession: a hypnotized subject wiiém accept
and confess to an implanted memory as a real évdrig own
past life.”

The Rand report itself suggested that this trickygfnotic
suggestion might be used on a defendant awaitiafy frhe
defendant could be “prepared” in a series of hyjgrsgssions
to accept guilt about a criminal act he did not odtnand
then, if placed in a hypnotic trance while in tleeidcroom, the
prosecutor’s interrogation would elicit a false famsion.

Fearing the Communists’ use of hypnosis, the Rapdnt
warned that hypnosis, once accomplished, is hardetect.
Contrary to reports in the nineteenth century, Yy@rotized
subject is not blindly obedient, nor does he &&t &n automa-
ton when in trance. Hypnotic suggestions are acigdand
elaborated in a way that is consonant with theviddial's
habitual social behavior and his basic Person#iitys.” The
report stated that while often “the hypnotized sgbjseems
literal and humorless . . . he appears entirel\elficenscious,
and very often he acts abstracted, inattentivepsiras if he
were insulated against his surroundings,” thisoisalways the
case. A number of experienced hypnotists had bédén ta
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train their subjects to perform “in such a way tbaservers
could not tell that the subject was in a trancehat he was
acting under hypnotic suggestions.”

The Rand report outlined the following proceduratth
would elicit a false confession. “First, make thévject feel
guilty about some acts he had thought about ordwadally
carried out in the past. Second, make him feeltyguaibout
having committed some crime of which he was acguatho-
cent. The implanted guilt would compel the subjeatonfess
when examined by a hypnotist or anyone else desdnay
the hypnotist. Third, train the subject, by meahpasthyp-
notic suggestion, to go into the trance wheneveinple sig-
nal was encountered.” The subject would be tratoggive his
false confession in a normal, convincing mannerthstd ob-
servers would not be able to detect the trance.stat

To induce hypnosis in an unwilling subject, the aep
suggested any of three possibilities which wera thell sup-
ported by research findings:

1. As part of a medical examination, talk relaxatio the
subject, thus disguising the hypnotic inductionr Egample,
the person could be given a blood pressure test,that he
must relax completely in order to give an adeqtesérecord,
and then be given suggestions to go to sleep wihalld re-
sult in a hypnotic trance.

2. Induce hypnosis while the person is actuallyees!
from normal fatigue. This could be done by simpdyking
softly into the sleeper’s ear.

3. Use injections of drugs to induce hypnosis. Tkp-
notic drugs would relax the subject and put hina itiwilight
state” where the subconscious mind is very suddepiv sug-
gestion.

Subjects who refuse or resist the simple “talkimggth-
ods of hypnotic induction could be given a few gsaof par-
aldehyde or an intravenous injection of sodium g#natl or
sodium amytal. The appropriate dosage of thesesdnygria-
bly induces a state of light hypnotic sleep. Dursigep, the
subject could then be given suggestions which wputdiuce
the characteristic deep hypnotic trance. Whilehmnfirst drug-
induced trance, the patient could be given postbiprsug-
gestions to the effect that he would be susceptdbleypnosis
thereafter without the use of drugs. Subsequehgysubject
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could be allowed to practice carrying out posthytimsugges-
tions. He could then be rehypnotized, still withdis con-
scious cooperation, but this time without the usérags.

The report admitted that at the time of its writitigere
was no certain knowledge of just how successfuh excthe
three methods described might prove to be withviddials
“who are on their guard against being victimized Hmstile
authorities.”

“The drug technique,” suggested the report, “would
probably turn out to be the simplest and most iefficof the
three and so it would be the most likely candidate . . hyp-
notizing defendants against their will.”

Another important use of hypnosis for the governimen
the report said, would be the induction of amne¥ince a
deep hypnotic trance is achieved, it is possibléntmduce
posthypnotic amnesia so that [a subject] . . . dadt know .
. . that he had been subjected to hypnosis, tosdmugto any
other treatment.”

The report then turned to the problem of produdimg
deep hypnotic trance essential to posthypnotic amandt
stated that, based on research reports of that timabout 90
percent of any unselected population it should bssible to
produce the deepest (somnambulistic) type of traAceord-
ing to numerous authorities, a light trance isisight to elicit
a ‘confession’ of actual misbehavior which mighterwise be
withheld; but, for carrying out complete posthypo@mnesia,
it is a somnambulistic trance that is required.”

The Rand document expressed fear that Soviet igaest
tors had found other techniques which could proddeep
hypnosis in perhaps 90 percent or more of all ildials. An-
ticipating future advances, the report speculatednore effi-
cient ways to develop greater depth in hypnotindea It sug-
gested that a subject could be placed in a traremgyrtimes
each day until a sufficient depth of trance wasead. It was
thought that hypnotizing the subject and then awaidge him
several times in the same session might speedeuprttess.
This technique of successive and rapid trance tmmugvould,
it was hoped, make the subject easily susceptibleleep
trance in a few days.

To increase speed and depth of hypnosis, speasl afs
hypnotic drugs were also suggested. “For exampéerigs of
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drug-induced trances, as against only one suchntesd,
might serve to develop the majority of cases irdonsam-
bules. Moreover, certain unique drug compounds bges-
pecially effective in inducing very deep statesigpnosis.”

The report then said, “Conceivably, electroshockverd
sions might be used as an adjunctive device toegehsom-
nambulism in a very high percentage of the casesy\Wtud-
ies have shown that there is a temporary intel&@dmpair-
ment, diffuse amnesias, and general ‘weakeninghefego’
produced during the period when a series of elshtrok con-
vulsions is being administered. From my own anceithin-
vestigations of the psychological effects of suaatments, |
would suspect that they might tend to reduce r@si& to
hypnotic suggestions. It is conceivable, thereftirat electro-
shock treatments might be used to weaken difficaltes in
order to produce a hypnotic trance of great depth.”

In 1958 the Bureau of Social Science Research (BSSR
subcontractor to the Rand Corporation, issued ahttieal
report” on hypnosis to the air force that took upeve the
earlier Rand report had left off. Once again arithiank” was
calling for action in the mind-control race agaitis¢ Com-
munists.

“To both the lay person and the behavior scieftibie
author, Seymour Fisher, wrote in the introductitinypnosis
has long been regarded as a potentially powerftiiment
for controlling human behavior. Undoubtedly, theelligence
divisions of many countries have given serious ¢buo this
potential and have done classified research irouarareas of
hypnosis . . . it is conceivable . . . that thesghhiques could
have been used and covered up so successfullththamight
beimpossibleo recognize . . ."

Fisher outlined areas of future research where foaes
could advance in the mind-control race. He urgedgbwvern-
ment to develop tests to determine who was and wam not
a good hypnotic subject. He urged further researgtharma-
cology, suggesting that a number of drugs littlewn at the
time might be effective in inducing hypnosis.

He predicted that some drugs would prove usefulein
ducing the amount of time required to induce compigp-
notic behavior and that others would be usefuleimforcing
the lasting effects of hypnotically induced behaviontrol.
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He predicted that drugs would be developed whichulevo
permit far greater control over autonomic proces&mme

drugs, he suggested, would be found to permit obmtver

learning and perception as well. He also predidted new

drugs would be discovered which would be capablmdiic-

ing deep hypnosis in virtuallgny individual regardless of his
degree of cooperativeness.

All of these techniques, involving drug-induced hgpis
and electroshock convulsions, were eventually agped and
used to reduce some of our own citizens to a zorsigite in
which they would blindly serve the government. Rdtgss of
the Constitution and the laws which supposedly gutothe
individual against government coercion, “zombie®ravcov-
ertly created to do the government’s more unsawialging.
Such “zombies” asked no questions about the lggafitheir
assignments. Often their assignments were nevescamrsly
known. And if they were ever questioned about th&in ac-
tions, amnesia protected them from self-incrimiorati

What had started out a race against the Communists
slowly turned into a private war from within.






Chapter Five
PAIN-DRUG HYPNOSIS

In 1951, a former naval officer described “a s€crdt
certain military and intelligence organizations. dalled it
“Pain-Drug-Hypnosis” and said it “is a vicious waeapon
and may be of considerably more use in conquerisgciety
than the atom bomb. This is no exaggeration. Thensive-
ness of the use of this form of hypnotism in espgmwork is
now so widespread that it is long past the time rwheople
should have become alarmed about it . . . Pain-lbtygnosis
is a wicked extension of narcosynthesis, the drygnbsis
used in America only during and since the last war*

That statement was the tip of a vast iceberg ofdmin
control research using drugs as an aid to hypmudigction. In
the 1950s, under air force (and ultimately CIA)dance, a
series of papers was written defining the limitsvthich a
government (ours or an enemy’s) could go “to ma&es@ns
behave against their will.” In the introductiondae of these,
the authors stated that the purpose of their stualy “to re-
view available scientific knowledge on the use dfapna-
cologic agents to influence the communication dérimation
which, for one reason or another, an informant dugswish
to reveal.”

They went on to say that, contrary to the allegecessity
for conducting such drug experiments, “no publishegorts
have come to our attention . . . detailing the retdie applica-
tion of drugs by intelligence agencies of any naés a means
of obtaining information. The methods of Russiateliroga-
tion and indoctrination are derived from age-oldigmmeth-
ods that have been systematized, and are not depend
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drugs, hypnotism, or any other special procedusigded by
scientists.”

The report, expressing concern over “proper” drug e
perimentation, urged that control placebos be aiteired
“silently” so that no one would know who was gedtiwhat or
when. Also discussed were the effects of drugs itferdnt
individuals in various settings, the relation betwedosage
levels, the effects of food, drink, and other pbimijical
needs, and the effects of individual variableshsas sex, in-
telligence, medical and psychiatric status, lifeaion, and so
forth upon drug reactions.

The top priority for testing in mind control werbose
drugs which were found to induce hypnaosis. The adsta-
tion and effects of barbiturates, amobarbital, bachital, pen-
tothal, and sodium amytal were studied. Nonbaratauseda-
tives and calmatives such as ethchlorvynol, glingtte, me-
thyprylon, methylparafynol, captodramin, and oxaitEm
were also tested. A whole range of amphetaminestlagid
derivatives were discussed as good tools to “predac
‘push’—an outpouring of ideas, emotions, memoras] so
forth.” New drugs such as ritalin, marsilid, and st&line
were thought to hold great promise for mind-conapplica-
tions. Perhaps the most promising of this last grawas a
“consciousness-expanding” drug called LSD?25.

Four months after the first nuclear reaction wastd in
a pile of uranium ore in Chicago, the psychotrogfiects of
LSD-25 were discovered by a thirty-seven-year-oldisS
chemist working at the Sandoz research laboratorBdsel,
Switzerland. On April 16, 1943, Dr. Albert Hofmaanciden-
tally absorbed a minute quantity of the rye fungyproduct
with which he was experimenting. He later filed epaort
which described history’s first LSD “trip.”

“I was forced to stop my work in the laboratory time
middle of the afternoon and to go home, as | waedeby a
peculiar restlessness associated with a sensdtimilddizzi-
ness . . . a kind of drunkenness which was noteagaint and
which was characterized by extreme activity of imagon . .
. there surged upon me an uninterrupted streanamfstic
images of extraordinary plasticity and vividnesd accompa-
nied by an intense kaleidoscope-like play of colars®
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Sandoz Laboratories had actually been manufacturing
LSD since 1938, when it was first used in an expent with
monkeys. Their scientists observed then that thestance
caused a marked excitation of the animals, butethresults
did not motivate scientists to follow up with fuethresearch.
Work with LSD fell into abeyance until the spring D943
when Hofmann prepared a new batch for the storeraom
accidentally ingested some himself.

Dr. Hofmann described that LSD experience: “ | did
not know what was going to happen, if I'd ever canaek. |
thought | was dying or going crazy. . . . My fitst . experi-
ment with LSD was a ‘bum trip’ as one would say adays.”

Dr. Hofmann’s new discovery was investigated by the
European psychiatrists as a possible key to theidlaé¢ nature
of mental illness. In 1950 LSD was introduced to eXizan
psychiatrists, and interest spread rapidly in tlogerngific
community here.

In 1953, the CIA made plans to purchase ten kilmgraf
LSD for use in “drug experiments with animals andnan
beings.” Since there are more than 10,000 doses gnam,
that meant the CIA wanted 100 million doses. Tha Gbvi-
ously intended to “corner the market” on LSD sot thther
countries would not be ahead of the U.S. in theteptial for
“LSD warfare.”

That year Sandoz Laboratories filled many ordens fo
LSD from both the CIA and the Department of Defense-
cording to Hofmann, they continued to do so upluh& mid-
sixties. The army would visit the labs every twargeor so, to
see if any technological progress had been madartsathe
manufacture of LSD in large quantities. Dr. Hofmasaid that
he had never been told the reason for the armiesdst in the
drug, but he assumed, from the large quantitiesgoelis-
cussed, that it was to be used for weapons research

As an employee of the pharmaceutical house Dr. Hof-
mann was in no position to warn the army reseascheray
from the drug despite his belief that it would bdremely
dangerous if used improperly and despite his paististaste
for their work.

“I had perfected LSD for medical use, not as a wedap
he said. “It can make you insane or even Kkill ybit is not
properly used under medical supervision. In anectse re-
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search should be done by medical people and nebluyers
or intelligence agencies.”

In 1963 Hofmann received a letter from a scholafat-
vard requesting twenty-five kilograms of psilocytior re-
search purposes. Psilocybin was a psychedelic anutessimi-
lar in effect to LSD but more subtle and much lpgsgrerful.
Before the sales department at Sandoz would attisrorder
for “the extraordinarily large quantity of psychédecom-
pounds,” they asked the scholar to provide therh tié nec-
essary import license from U.S. health authoritiés failed to
provide it. Later Hofmann commented on “the unstadi
manner with which he handled this transaction [Whieft the
impression of a person unconcerned with the reiguisitof
society.” The scholar’s name was Timothy Leary.

Leary had been experimenting with psychedelic sub-
stances for several years by the time he wrotedimidnn. In
1961 he had conducted experiments with LSD at tiwec@rd
Correctional Facility in Concord, Massachusetts.atThe-
search was funded by the Uris Brothers Foundatiohléw
York City, under the auspices of Harvard Universiyhat
Leary learned from the Concord prisoners was phbtisin
1962 in his paper entitled “How to Change Behavianm. it,
Leary explained what a powerful tool LSD was foarbing
ways of thinking and living.

While Leary did receive NIMH grants while at the iun
versity of California at Berkeley from 1953-56 amdhile
working for the U.S. Public Health Service from 4958, he
denies that any of his psychedelic research pogtcHarvard
were funded by the government. However, they mayeha
been indirectly supported by it. In response toqugry, Na-
tional Institute of Mental Health Director BertradBnown said
that, although such research at Harvard Univergity funded
by HEW and NIMH grants from the period of 1956-6f%-
cords available for projects supported during period gen-
erally do not go below the major institution levelg., awards
are identified as being made to Harvard Univerdity, not to
departments or centers within that institution.” Here we
encounter another example of the government’s-buidteni-
ability.

Harvard claimed that its records on Leary's redearc
could not be located.
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Tim Leary and Richard Alpert were fired from Hargian
1963, ostensibly for giving LSD to an undergradubté basi-
cally because of increasing controversy over tharaaf their
research. Leary and Co. retreated to Mexico, wileeg at-
tempted to carry on LSD experiments outside the. lgdv-
ernment’s purview. In June of 1963 they ran afdud\en the
notoriously corrupt Mexican government and were ediggl
from that country for “engaging in activities narmitted to a
tourist.”

From Mexico they moved to Millbrook, New York, and
established the International Federation for Irdaeffreedom
(later the Castalia Foundation), which served pkatorm for
Leary to propagandize for LSD which, he now beléveould
save the world from nuclear perdition by ‘blowirgtmind.”

Leary frequently took LSD himself. His speechesjcivh
were addressed to overflow audiences, were tailanfor
true believers in the new drug cult. Leary issuehynpublic
statements on the benefits to the individual ancietp of
LSD. Always politically naive, he predicted thaketh would
come a day when “a new profession of psychedelideguwill
inevitably develop to supervise these experiences.”

Finally, in the mid-sixties, Leary coined his fansosio-
gan, “Turn on, tune in, drop out,” and spoke ateg# lectures
to the legions of young people who had illegallpexmented
with LSD and other psychedelic substances. Thrauglga-
zine interviews, television appearances, moviespros, and
books Leary projected himself as the culture hdra mew
generation which was fighting for an individualight to alter
his own consciousness—a right which Leary mainthinas
guaranteed by the Constitution of the United States

A CIA memo dated November 1, 1963 and obtained by
John Marks under a Freedom of Information suit ing#ést,
1977, featured Dr. Leary, Dr. Richard Alpert andittorgani-
zation which advocated the expansion of consci@asne
through psychedelic chemicals, the Internationadieffation
for Internal Freedom (IFIF). In alarming tones themo or-
dered all CIA groups involved in mind control op@as to
report if any agency personnel were involved wiither
Leary or Alpert or IFIF. The response to this intee memo,
if there was one, was not released by the CIA.
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By 1968, society seemed to become divided intoethos
who had taken illegal drugs and those who hadwenEially
LSD, marijuana, and cocaine were available on stremers
and schoolyards throughout the land. If the govemmrhad
covertly supported the unwitting Leary and assesiathe
snhowballing effects of their LSD propaganda nowsealia
reversal of policy. It became obvious to them &b and the
other psychoactive drugs were politically dangerotiisey
allowed people to see through the indoctrinatiorthef gov-
ernment, the credibility gap, and the governmepppganda
for the Vietnam War. The “acid heads” adopted aowiary
fervor and began actively criticizing the war inetiam and
calling for many social reforms. The “psychedebsalution”
embarrassed the government at every turn.

If the government didn’t actually “begin” the psyetelic
revolution, it was certainly responsible for shudtit down. It
did this by controlling the availability and qualibf drugs.
Underground LSD labs were raided, and it wasn'glbefore
its quality degenerated and the supply dried upefé stud-
ies have shown that when LSD became illegal (Octdhe
1966)real LSD ceased to be available on the street. What was
sold as LSD was every other kind of chemical, idoig sev-
eral forms of veterinary tranquilizers! Often mathiee was
sold as LSD, as well as heroin mixed with amphetesi

Simultaneously, as the LSD supply dried up, largp-s
plies of heroin mysteriously became available. #svstrong
heroin, imported from the Golden Triangle in SoalteAsia
(largely under CIA control). Many young people whead had
their “consciousness expanded” too far to distisljuetween
one drug and another turned to heroin. The goventime
inspired hysteria over drugs had led many to thitwell,
they lied to us about pot, they must be lying aboertoin.”
And so when psychedelics were no longer easilyiodta and
heroin was, many young people became addicts.

The political visions of the psychedelic generatiaded,
as many who had “turned on” dropped out of citg kfnd fled
to the country. Those who stayed in the citiesofeéd
Leary’s advice and dropped out from participatiorifie main
stream of the society. Many of them followed areralate
route in the American tradition by living as pushand boot-
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leggers, making large sums of money from the nessbated
demand for illegal drugs.

In 1958, Dr. Louis Gottschalk, the CIA’s “independe
contractor,” had prepared a think tank report whiohgested
that the intelligence agencies might control peadpieugh
addiction.

The report put it this way: “The addiction of a smIto a
drug which the interrogator could supply, obviousWpuld
foster the dependence of the source on the int&twogWhere
the source was addicted previous to the situathmn,nterro-
gator might find already established a pattern wds®on of
laws and responsibilities which the addict had tmed to
meet his need for the drug in a society which pibss its
use.”

The report went so far as to recommend that wouGled
who had become addicts to pain-killing drugs beruiéed
from hospitals. It stated: “Where the source hadobee ad-
dicted in the setting as a sequel to the treatmkimjuries, the
ability of the interrogator to give or withhold thizug would
give him a powerful weapon against the sourc&®. . .

In the late sixties, when it became known that samas
of Gls serving in Vietnam had become addicted totiaa
heroin, the U.S. Bureau of Narcotics tried sendinggam of
agents to Laos, but its investigations were blodkethe Lao-
tian government, the State Department, and the @VAile
the Laotian government’s hostility toward the buréaunder-
standable, the reticence shown by the American rgovent
and the CIA requires some explanation. AccordingUt&.
narcotics agents serving in Southeast Asia, “thee®u en-
countered a good deal of resistance from the Cld\tha Em-
bassy when it first decided to open an office ietdam . . ."
Did this policy bear some relation to Gottschaliti;mk-tank
statement, made some thirty years earlier—to creatarmy
of drug dependent people who could be controlledthmir
suppliers—in this case the CIA?

The CIA also contributed indirectly to the heromaffic
by training men who then turned to smuggling. e 4974
Pulitzer Prize-winning study of the heroin trade the staff
and editors oNewsday it was revealed that U.S. Bureau of
Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD) agents in Miam
cross-checked a list of men who landed at the BaRigs



82 Walter Bowart

against police records. They found that at legstr8ent of the
1,500-man ClA-trained force had subsequently beessiti-
gated or arrested for drug dealing.

“If it hadn’t been for their CIA training,” one BND
agent was quoted as saying, “some of these mighdrrieave
gone into the [smuggling] business.” He added tiait train-
ing in paramilitary operations, weapons use, andggling of
equipment and men from one place to another is sweted
for illegal drug importing.

The head of the Office of Strategic Intelligencd8atDD,
John Warner, said, “The key to heroin traffickisgtihe prin-
ciple of compartmentability. It's the same way BEA oper-
ates. Most people don’t know what the whole projeetlves;
most just know their particular jof5.”

Former CIA agent Victor Marchetti was reported &&-s
ing “The CIA is implicated in the drug traffic iregeral coun-
tries. The Mafia, thanks to the CIA, has a freechamthe vast
opium traffic from Turkey through Italy to the Uad States.”

On July 19, 1975, Sen. Charles H. Percy, (R., i)
leased a letter charging that the CIA had the deidiiepart-
ment drop a drug case to protect its own involvemedrugs.
Percy’s letter said that the CIA refused to giveeial prose-
cutors evidence in a case against Puttaporn Khrarmakh a
CIA employee, and one other person. Percy compalathat
“apparently CIA agents are untouchable—howeveroseri
their crime or however much harm is done to society

The senator’s letter said he had written the Jasihe-
partment to find out why charges were dropped afgdime
two men, who were allegedly attempting to smugiitg-hine
pounds of opium into the United States from Thallafihe
reply he received, from Deputy Assistant Attornegn@ral
John C. Kenney, stated that CIA Associate GenetainSel
John Greany had “insisted that there were othesiderations
at stake and that the material sought by the pusecwould
not be turned over.” Kenney said Greany had expththat if
Khramkhruan and his associate went on trial, “theaton
could prove embarrassing because of Mr. KhramkHsuigr
volvement with CIA activities in Thailand, Burmana else-
where.”

The CIA knew that heroin causes no “consciousngss e
pansion.” It brings on a physical feeling, a warghowing
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“high,” and then dullness and insulation. But thevgrnment
was interested in behavior control, and heroire WSD, was
an important tool in gaining such control.

While some clandestine agencies of government were
busy distributing drugs to pleasure-seeking undengd
America, in the laboratories they were studyingggrfor their
capacities to provide access to the mind for pepad behav-
ior control. Seeking the perfect “incapacitatingeay” army
chemists at Edgewood Arsenal came up with a dragvknas
“BZ” whose effects were ten times more powerfulnthzsD.
Described as a hallucinogenic “superdrug,” BZ waid $0 be
so powerful that a person who took it often experéal amne-
sia for long periods of time afterwards.

To test its effects BZ was given to 2,490 “volumgge
General Lloyd Fellenz, former commander of the ety
facility, said that the purpose of the BZ experimams to
produce an incapacitating gas or drug which coddlaced
in an enemy’s water supply.

Dr. Solomon Snyder, professor of psychiatry andriplaa
cology at Johns Hopkins University Medical Schdwd for-
merly worked at Edgewood. “The army’s testing oflL#as
just a sideshow compared to its use of BZ,” Dr. damysaid.
“Nobody can tell you for sure it won't cause a ldagting
effect. With an initial effect of eighty hours, cpared to eight
hours for LSD, you would have to worry more abdsitlong-
lasting or recurrent effects.”

Dr. George Aghajanian, who had also worked at Edge-
wood, confirmed Snyder’s opinion. “With LSD,” Aglzajian
explained, “you tend to dwell on the experience eachll it
and that can lead to flashbacks. But with BZ an esianoc-
curs afterwards that blocks the experience dut.”

Predicting the course of future events, Gottsclsal&port
stated: “The volume of effort devoted to studyihg behav-
ioral effects of drugs has expanded tremendouslyeaent
years and will probably continue to grow. In péhis may be
attributed to the ready financial support suchvittdis have
achieved. The interest of scientists in employinggd in re-
search, however, transcends an interest in dregtsffper se.
Drugs constitute valuable tools for experimentatirected
toward developing basic physiological and psychiclalg
knowledge. Work by scientists in several such areagar-
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ticular, will increase knowledge of drugs which mbg ex-
ploitable by interrogators.”

Gottschalk’s conclusion was that “drugs can opeeste
positive catalysts to productive interrogation. @imed with
the many other stresses in captivity that an ichlial may be
obliged to undergo, drugs can add to the factonsedi at
weakening the resistance of the potential informantBut for
many reasons, the use of drugs by an interrogataeoti sure to
produce valid results. The effects of drugs depend large
extent on the personality makeup and physical stafuthe
informant and the kind of rapport that the inteatny is able
to establish with the informant. Knowing the predoating
pharmacologic actions of a humber of psychoactivgs, an
interrogating team might choose that chemical agdtith is
most likely to be effective in view of the informé&personal-
ity, physical status and the various stressful 6gpees he has
already undergone .

This study and subsequent ones verified the feat #h
number of drugs could conveniently be used to ke the
human mind against the will of the individual. Thgh the
use of drugs, the skilled mind controller couldsfimduce a
hypnotic trance. Then, one of several behavior frzadion
techniques could be employed with amplified succdss
themselves, without directed suggestions, drugsctfthe
mind in random ways. But when drugs are combineth wi
hypnosis, an individual can be molded and manipdidie-
yond his own recognition.

The government’s interest in controlling minds anditi-
vating involuntary behavior was focused not onlyimaividu-
als but also on large groups. Mass hypnosis amivimpsy-
chology” were well-known phenomena, and to that prapa-
ganda techniques had already been developed. Bag fnar-
cosis” was a new concept out of which grew the idéa
“nonkill” warfare, where vast populations could siltane-
ously, or in one action, be drugged into submission

In 1961, in an appearance before the Subcommittee o
Science and Astronautics of the House of Represessa
Maj. Gen. Marshall Stubbs, head of the Army Chemica
Corps, gave a speech cautioning that “we have apé dar
enough in our research on these incapacitating oangs to
be confident that they have real potential in warfale do
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not want to exaggerate claims for them to createiittpres-
sion that we are on the verge of bloodless war.”

General Stubbs admitted, “We are attempting to com-
pletely separate the incapacitating agents from l&ibal
agents so that any castigation normally given tictagents
will not be associated with them, since they do maim or
kill. As a result we hope to have a weapon which giwve the
commander much freer rein in its use as compareiettoxic
agents. It is my hope that through the use of iacapting
agents, the free world will have a relatively cleerd rapid
means of both fighting and deterring limited wahieh has
come to the forefront in the international politisaene in the
last several years. It is one means by which wensaimtain
some degree of equality in the face of overwhelniman-
power superiority of the Communist-dominated nagibn

One idea consistently expressed in the utterancgs\we
ernment employees was the idea that “we must bheaCbm-
mies to the punch.” To that end the army launchextazh
program investigating nerve gases, riot controlegaslefoli-
ants, herbicides, and biological agents such dwantRocky
Mountain spotted fever, and bubonic plague. It alseeloped
what it called “harassing agents”—chemicals thatseahead-
aches, vomiting, and severe pain.

The idea was that one saboteur would be able ty car
enough in his pocket to temporarily incapacitate plopula-
tion of a city the size of New York. A two-suiteiepe of lug-
gage could hold enough drugs to disable every maman,
and child in America. Most of the drugs the goveemiex-
perimented with were odorless, colorless, and lesteand
therefore undetectable. They were easily solubledter, and
only slowly would they lose their potency in chimated water
supplies. Food which came in contact with thesemitals
remained contaminated for days unless thoroughlghed.
The inhalation of particles of these drugs suspeériddhe air
produced the same effects as ingestion. Dissothey, could
penetrate the skin and enter the bloodstream wiithauing
been ingested.

The army assumed that a city exposed to such chémic
attack would cease to function, the inhabitants@tdfused by
the “trip” that the army could march into the ciyd take
over, facing only minimal resistance. And the nday, the
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populace would return to normal consciousness anfitho
work for the occupying army.

To test their assumption, the army gave a squasbbf
diers LSD in coffee without their knowledge. Aftére drug
effects began, the soldiers were ordered by trexigesant to
perform normal and routine tasks while they welmdd by a
hidden camera. They could not follow even the sespl
command nor accomplish the most ordinary task waithac-
ceptable degree of competency. Two of the men sirgjg-
gled helplessly throughout the entire afternoonthsplatoon
sergeant was not a coffee drinker, he did not vectiie drug.
Neither had he been told about the test. Accorgihgl grew
more and more frustrated and perplexed as his ted anore
and more erratically.

Further studies indicated, however, that in actueifare
things would not be that easy. Urban populatiorendprela-
tively little time out of doors. Since most of tleedrugs settled
out of the atmosphere quickly and did not passutinoair-
conditioning systems, they would therefore not tffevery-
one. If the water supply were lightly laced witlpsychedelic,
an individual would have to drink a pint of tap eabefore
being affected. The concentration could be madevibea
enough so that one would only have to brush hit teewash
his face before getting “high,” but with concenimats that
large, even an infant’s formula or a cup of tea lddae a dan-
gerous poison.

Further, those exposed to minute amounts of thiema-*
pacitating agents” might be able to fight off thamptoms.
Those heavily dosed would suffer enormous menstbdions
and could become wildly irrational. Mildly intoxitsd per-
sons might go about as if in a normal state, unavlaat their
judgment and motor skills were impaired. The résglhum-
ber of accidents would be monumental. Thus, it becalear
to the government that even the supposed “nonigiie of
warfarecouldtake thousands of lives.

Eventually the army did shelve its plans for drugpri-
kill” warfare. But the major obstacle, as they siwwas not
that it might kill the enemy, but that as of yee tarmy was
unable to immunize itewn troops against drug effects. Not
until 1975 was a reliable LSD antidote developed.



Chapter Six
THE GUINEA PIG ARMY

In June, 1975, it was revealed publicly for thestfiime
what many had suspected—that the CIA and a nunflge
ernment agencies under its direction had actuabnhbgiving
behavior-influencing drugs to citizens within thaitéd States
for more than twenty years.

| was in Washington at the time, searching thelogtee
card files at the National Technical Informationn8ee. A
previous search by friends in military intelligencithe M.I.
Classified Index had revealed nothing but peripheeéer-
ences to the object of my study: government rebeiardrugs,
hypnosis, behavior modification, and related sutisjec

The NTIS file is supposed to contain a complete eiim
cal listing of all government contracts, by contracmber,
whether or not they are classified. The contracticavere
indeed numbered in consecutive order, but the dness
looking for were missing; the index simply skippaeer them
and continued on in numerical sequence. Other dardke
index were marked “classified,” and | would not daveen
able to obtain the papers to which they referregt tBe re-
ports | was looking for were not even cited in thdex, al-
though references to them in scientific journaldidated that
they had once existed. Classified or not, theseiteats had
been removed from the record.

That afternoon press accounts of Rackefeller Report to
the President on CIA Activitiesaid, “Beginning in the late
1940s, the CIA began to study the properties aaaebehav-
ior-influencing drugs (such as LSD) and how sucligdr
might be put to use in intelligence activities.”
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Further, according to the report, “The primary msp of

the drug program was to counter the use of behavior

influencing drugs clandestinely administered by ememy,
although several operational uses outside the drBtates
were also considered.”

“The drug program,” the report went on to say, “vpast
of a much larger CIA program to study possible nsefor
controlling human behavior. Other studies expldredeffects
of radiation, electric shock, psychology, psyclyiagociology,
and harassment substances.”

As it would do two years later, the press playedthg
drug angle and ignored the other experiments. The Had
been actually experimenting with all kinds of micahtrol
techniques for twenty-odd years.

It gave me little comfort, but it reaffirmed my sgn to
read in the report that “unfortunately only limiteelcords of
the testing conducted in these drug programs ave avail-
able. All the records concerning the program wergered
destroyed in 1973, including a total of 152 sepmafitds.”

As | left NTIS, George Orwell's prophecy 984 came
to mind: “Who controls the past controls the futuiého con-
trols the present controls the past.” How long wloitilbe be-
fore our society would perfectly mirror that st@ewell envi-
sioned when he said: “All that was needed was andimg
series of victories over your own memory. ‘Realigntrol,’
they called it . . . ‘double-think.”

In 1984 the government continually changed its past
creating new historical fictions to justify its gent. | won-
dered if we had already gone beyond 1984, wher@ral|
said, “truth is falsehood,” and “ignorance is sg#n”

Five days after the Rockefeller Report was releatesl
public flap began. The children of Dr. Frank Olsware in-
formed by the CIA that their father had been thdhidual the
Report cited as the “employee of the DepartmenhefArmy
who was given LSD without his knowledge while hesved-
tending a meeting with CIA personnel working on tireig
project.” Olson had died when he fell, jumped, omgehow
exited from a twelfth-floor hotel window in New Ylgrwhile
still under the influence of what was then billesl the most
powerful mind-altering drug known to man.

by
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For twenty-two years the cause of Olson’s deathlesh
concealed. His family had been led to believe tmathad
committed suicide because of a mysterious, unexgdai
“mental breakdown.” At no time after Olson’s deaths his
family offered a true explanation of the real cirgiances
which had caused it.

Eric, the eldest son of Dr. Olson, said, “I'm vemgry at
the CIA because they let us grow up thinking othda had
inexplicably committed suicide.” Young Olson saltht his
family had decided to sue the government, not aniy of a
desire to collect monetary damages but because thivd
there’s more information involved in this. It's al& way of
holding the CIA publicly accountable for what thaigl.”

The Olson family discovered that an individual dgeth
while in government employ cannot sue the goverringut
this didn't stop them. They asked the Senate te thém a
special bill of recompense for the death of thedheftheir
household. On May 18, 1976, the full Senate apgrdves.
3035 by voice vote and sent it on to the HouseateBill
3035 specifically authorized appropriations totgli$l.25
million to be paid to the Olson family. The HouseRepre-
sentatives, being more conservative at the timetham Sen-
ate’s generous award and the Olson family eventuatieived
only $750,000. A similar case, tried in a civil egumight
have brought the Olson family as much as threeiamiltiol-
lars.

Months before Olson plunged to his death, HarolLBI,
a professional tennis player, died after being mivepeated
doses of experimental psychochemicals by the artmthe
New York State Psychiatric Institute in New YorktyCiFor
years the Blauer family had been trying, to no lavai find
out the true cause of Harold Blauer’s death. Invita&e of the
Olson scandal, the army relaxed its cover-up andllfi sur-
rendered Mr. Blauer's medical file to his daughdrs. Elisa-
beth Barrett.

The chemical identities of the drugs he had reckivere
not given; the drugs were listed only by numbere flambers
were said to represent various hallucinogens, lecabse of
“national security” it has never been revealed whatchemi-
cals were that killed Harold Blauer.
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The crucial part of the army’'s medical report slate
“Prenarcosis:—apprehensive—considerable persuasien
quired—injection administered at 9:53 A.M.; postwsis:—
9:59, subject so restless has to be restrainedutser-out of
contact with reality—arms flailing—sweating proflise
10:01, rapid oscillation of eyeballs; 10:11, bodyd all over,
10:15, stimulant administered; 10:20 to 11:45, deema;
11:50, artificial respiration administered; 12:1dgctor pro-
nounces subject dead; 12:30, hospital authoritiesfied;
3:30, body transferred to city morgue.”

Harold Blauer died without ever knowing what drugjch
received. And from the words in the report—"consiie
persuasion required”—it looks as though he hadwlun-
teered, either.

Frank Olson died without really knowing he’'d beéveg
a drug. It had been slipped into his drink and lzes wold it
was LSD only after the mind-bending effects hadupeg

Both Blauer's and Olson’s deaths were covered uthby
excuse of “national security.” Their families weteliberately
misled about the cause of death. No monetary cosgtiem
was offered except for the pensions or allotments the
families under normal circumstances.

In the wake of these personal tragedies, incregsinjc
pressure led other government agencies to make dbefes-
sions. The army announced that since 1956 it hetédeSD
on nearly 1,500 unwitting servicemen, and on sévau-
sand more volunteers, a total of 6,940 in all. & same time
the army made this disclosure, it requested peromsgom
the Defense Department to conduct further testh aiitleast
two new drugs—drugs which were many times more pfule
than LSD. Permission was granted with the stipoiathat the
“guinea pigs” be volunteers only.

Within days of the army’s admission of drug testitite
Department of Health, Education and Welfare reveabat it
had administered LSD to about 2,500 prisoners, ahgud-
tients, and paid volunteers between 1954 and 1968V said
further that it had given seven and a half millidollars in
grants to more than thirty university researchet® vinde-
pendently ran LSD tests on human subjects.

What was not revealed until much later was thatGh&
had used every possible military and civilian ageac gov-
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ernment, as well as a number of universities arnag re-
search groups, to test LSD and other drugs, plusde array
of psycho-technologies in an all-out search foiratdé meth-
ods of controlling the human mind.

But the CIA’s record was pretty good; for out of e
thousands of individuals who were given LSD or ottieigs
without their knowledge, only three are known toddied.

In 1955 a new drug-testing program was begun at the
Edgewood Army Chemical Center. Volunteer soldiersrev
recruited but were not told what drugs they wouiddiven,
nor that men had died as a result of similar expents. They
were told they’'d suffer only temporary discomfoBeven
thousand soldiers underwent the Edgewood Arseratts.
Five hundred eighty-five men were given LSD; thst nwere
administered other unspecified drugs.

Dr. Gerald Klee was one of the first psychiatristsvork
on the drug-testing program for the army. When tjoeed by
television crews as to how the volunteers had beeruited,
he said that he didn’t really know. They had comarf all
over the country, believing only that they werergpio the
Chemical Center to be used as subjects in cheraiqaéri-
ments.

“Most of them were not highly educated, and evethdiy
had been told exactly what they were to be givdmeyt
wouldn’t have understood it,” Dr. Klee said. “Thdvantage
to them was time off to get away from some plaasy tthidn’t
want to be, to be near their family, girlfriendshatever, and
they had a pretty good life while they were thexge,a matter
of fact. They spent very little of their time inetlexperiments
and had a lot of free time . . ."

Wendell Queen was an army sergeant in 1964 when he
volunteered for the drug experiments at Edgewoodar¥
later, when the Olson case was made public, Mr.eQuged
to find out what drugs he had been given. He remanwall of
security. The army stated that it had no recorttibavas ever
given drugs.

But Sergeant Queen remembers differently. He haah be
given a drug that penetrated his skin, not throagdction but
simply by being placed on his arm with an eye despfirhey
just took a small drop and put it on my arm, andany be-
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came inflamed and kinda itchy, something like a radquito
bite,” he said. He was not told what drug it was. WMas told
only that the effects would be temporary.

Several hours afterwards, he began to float. “lalbetp
feel kinda happy and the room started turning adguBSer-
geant Queen related. “l had lost all my senseadlip sense
of balance or sense of the environment around me.Later
on that night | really got paranoid and if anybadyuld come
close to me | would think that they were going ilbrke . . .”

Sergeant Queen had “flashbacks” for several maaifties
that experiment when he would relive the statesnofd he
had experienced on that day.

“My roommate told me later that one night | woke up
screaming and hollering ‘don’t kill me, don't kithe.” He said
| became so violent that | began tearing my bed Sprgeant
Queen said.

Sergeant Queen remembers that at Edgewood he tried
making a joke about being a human guinea pig. Thkdim
administering the test didn’'t appreciate his seoséumor.
“He said that the doctors were the only human guipigs
around there because they took every new drug fifstsaid
that they always got a bigger dose than anyoneesisedid.”

According to the army, their LSD testing progranmea
to an end in 1967. An army spokesman promisedlavialip
study on the 585 men who had been given LSD, buiady
carried it out with only thirty-five officers—anduperficially,
at that. Still, the army maintained that there badainly been
no LSD deaths since Olson and Blauer. Once agaiastnot
telling the whole truth.

George Danald, a colonel at the Army Chemical Stioo
Fort McClellan, Alabama, agreed to become a gupigain
1959. He believed in progress, and he believed ligiout
experimentation and research there could be norgseg
Thus, when the opportunity presented itself to Himreadily
submitted to an injection of what was said to b®LS

Immediately after he took the drug, according t®wife,
“his overall characteristics seemed to change, dtigude
changed, mannerisms changed, and I'm sure a geahibre
that | didn’t notice at the time.”
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A year after Colonel Danald’s psychedelic expergehe
was transferred to Edgewood Chemical Center. Edeny it
was his habit to pick up his daughter Dawn promptiter
school. One day he didn't meet her and Dawn walkethe
Officers’ Club looking for him. His car was in tiparking lot,
so assuming her father was inside, she went irgcchib and
asked if anyone had seen him. When nobody seemeeé- to
member that he'd been there that day, she wenb upeir
apartment on the floor above and knocked on his.dbwere
was no answer, so she went in.

The sitting room was littered with papers. She wdlinto
the bedroom and noticed that the twin beds weret.ayphen
she turned on the lights, she saw her father’s shayped at
the foot of the bed.

In shock, she went to her room next door and telepd
her mother, who was at work. “Mommy, | found Daddshe
said. “He’s on the floor and he looks awful white.”

Colonel Danald had been dead for five hours whewrDa
found him. He had taken his own life by putting2& caliber
bullet through his temple. The pistol was stilhis hand.

Colonel Danald did not have a history of mentatabs-
ity. Until the time of his experience at Fort Mc{ld@, he had
never had a depressed moment. The only clue hisyféuad
to his apparent mental anguish was that, a few nsol¢fore
he died, he had once threatened to kill himseH family ar-
gument. No one had paid any attention to that shedad
been such a stable person in the past.

Mrs. Danald believes that her husband’s death wased
by the mind-bending effects of the experiment, $he has so
far been unable to prove her case. She and hetyfdvave
received no compensation except the benefits whiohld
normally accrue to a lifetime army officer.

Mary Ray was a research assistant at a psychltatspi-
tal which held military contracts to test LSD frob958 to
1969. She helped doctors conduct experiments o i@
900 people. Some of them were mental patients966 Ishe
offered herself for LSD testing. Her descriptiortyipical of a
“bum trip.”

| was in a state of becoming the universe. | becatne
jects,” she said. “I was no longer a person. Thegot to a
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state of absolute terror. The closest thing | amember be-
ing like that was as a child, when | was given ethe. it was
the feeling like just before losing consciousness.”

But Mary was able to bring herself back from theDLS
void: “I realized that | was a person, out of thiflowing
black seething weirdness, this horror . . .

“I looked down and | saw my arms which were two tehi
rivers with black threads and they were my veingedlized
that, and | felt that if | tried really hard, sonoshl could sever
the veins. | realized even though | was not realperson that
| could end all this living nightmare, this helly loutting my
veins.

“Then | concentrated on this problem for what se&me
centuries, because time did not exist. It was ang time
distortion. | tried desperately to try to kill myseThere is no
question in my mind, that if | had had some sorsladrp in-
strument, and if | were alone, | would have killegiself . . .”

The doctors and medics in attendance were helgidss.
one seemed to know how to handle the situationoiNoknew
what to do. It seemed like they were kjilayingscientists.*

Mary Ray reported no amnesia, and no recurringr-afte
affects. She never felt another overwhelming cosipual to
commit suicide, nor any compulsion to keep her erpee
secret.

In June of 1958, William F. Chaffin was a sergeaarthe
U.S. Air Force, stationed at Dover Air Force BaseDiela-
ware. He had been a basic training instructor wiogical,
chemical, and radiological (CBR) warfare earliehia career
and thought, when he read the bulletin offeringuntgers a
thirty day tour of duty at Edgewood Arsenal, thatvould be
easy duty. It would be a nice break in his dulltimel and a
thirty-day leave at government expense. He assuhace’d
be involved in a program much like the one he’dgtauin
basic military training on chemical and biologicahrfare
tactics and defenses.

On September 10, 1975, before a joint sessioneoSHm-
ate Subcommittee on Health and the Senate Subcteenait
Administrative Practice and Procedure, Chaffinifiest to the
lasting effects of his volunteer tour of duty at Edgewood.
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He told the committee that upon his arrival at Buged,
he was placed in a barracks with approximatelytythither
volunteers. Daily, some of the volunteers were tiale vari-
ous points on the base, given gas masks, and nsexperi-
ments involving DDT and other relatively mild chesalis. But
at first Chaffin was simply ordered to report t@extain sta-
tion each morning, and then he would be releasedho re-
mainder of the day to pursue his own interests.

Today Chaffin cannot say with any certainty howdon
this procedure went on. He can’t remember whetleewhs
there for one week, two weeks, or three weeks bdferwas
actually used in a test.

“At some point around the middle of the month ofyJu
[1958],” Chaffin told the committee, “myself andufoor five
other individuals were taken to a hospital on thkeser We
were, at that time, taken into a room and a psydist or
psychiatrist—I cannot remember which—who | believas
associated with the University of Maryland, infordnes that
we would be administered a drug or a substancesitilled
water. We were further informed that this drug obstance
would be odorless, tasteless, and colorless. We wasked to
perform certain tests prior to the ingestion of thibstance.
My best recollection of these tests is that we waraply
asked to estimate certain amounts of elapsed tipnarty
means other than a watch or clock. We were theantdlack
to our various wards and a short time thereafteras given a
beaker of colorless, odorless, and tasteless swugsthy an
orderly or an attendant.

“I have no recollection whatsoever that | was infed of
the nature or qualities of the substance. Certamdyreference
was made to any possibility of detrimental psychadal or
physical effects on myself, or my future family, taking of
the substance.

“I cannot estimate adequately the length of timatth
elapsed after | took the drug until | first begannibtice the
effects, but my best recollection is that it wagha nature of
one-half hour.

“At that time, | remember being taken back to they-p
chiatrist or psychologist and again asked to es&nvarious
lengths of time by any means except observing akclor
watch. It is extremely difficult for me to descrilaglequately
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what occurred in the next hours of that day. | hawehis day,
distinct recollections of vivid and colorful everlgat made no
sense whatsoever to me. | have distinct recollestaf either
myself hallucinating or other individuals halluciimy and

imagining that they were seeing certain objects tuigs. |

do not recall if they were in fact hallucinating,ibl was sim-

ply imagining they were.

“I was obsessed with a feeling that | can only dbscas
utter and total depression. | don't think thesedgaadequately
convey the meaning of that which | experienced,|Bitmply
do nothave the words to set forth the occurrences ofdapt

“Later, | was released from the hospital. | canmaiall if
this was after a period of twelve hours, twentyrfbours, or
thirty-six hours or more. It is simply impossible adequately
determine what lengths of time elapsed.”

Shortly thereafter, Chaffin returned to his basés ke
returned to its usual routine, but for some reasenfound it
extremely difficult to talk to anyone. He could reaten bring
himself to tell his wife about his Edgewood expecie.

“Since that time,” Chaffin said, “I have experiedcghat
| believe to be LSD flashbacks on at least threxassse occa-
sions. The feelings that encompassed me on those differ-
ent occasions were again what | can only descrbe total
depression accompanied by nearly uncontrollablerelde
take my life . . .”

After Chaffin’s return, his wife became pregnamt.No-
vember of 1958, she miscarried. The Chaffins’ dodte
formed them that in all likelihood the fetus hadebede-
formed. “I do not know at this time if this wasr#ititable to
LSD which | was administered at Edgewood, Marylaod,
not. We do not at this time know if various otheplgems
which have arisen in one of my children are diseettribut-
able to LSD or not. Conversely, we do not at tiisetknow
that there is no relation.

" Actually there is no conclusive scientific evidertbat ingestion of
even large amounts of LSD-25 can cause geneticomadtion.
There is only evidence that if laboratory animaisl &ggs are satu-
rated with a pure concentration of LSD, chromosodahage can
occur.
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“After the ingestion of the substance in July ofb&9
Chaffin said, fny personality and behavior began to change
[emphasis added]. After seven years of marriageas cer-
tainly not an individual that tended to depressibdowever,
after the ingestion of LSD, | have undergone, azhtioned
earlier, several occasions of the same total anckrae de-
pression that occurred when | was given the LSHaily.
Additionally, my wife has related to me one inciti#mat oc-
curred and which | have no recollection of whatswew his
incident involved my actually taking a gun and maip¢ing to
leave our home for the purpose of taking my owa'lif

Then Chaffin told the Joint Committee, “I would diko
state for the record that | believe that the Unigdtes Air
Force was always extremely fair to me in my militaareer. |
enjoyed my military career and consider myself éoabloyal
member of the United States Air Force, retired. Ustalso
state that the trauma that | have undergone asudt i being
surreptitiously administered this drug is somethirgpnsider
to be totally out of keeping with my concept of thervice. |
can only hope that the Committee will take evenangeavail-
able to make sure that the other individuals whoeveg minis-
tered LSD receive notification and help.”

Army records show that William Chaffin was given a
drug known only as EA1729. On August 5, 1975, after
Olson disclosure, Chaffin wrote a letter to the warstating
that he thought he might have been given LSD. H@ested
the medical follow-up the army had promised. Midhse
Johnston of the Army Surgeon General’s office resied to
his letter. “In checking our records,” Johnston t&fdwe find
that you did receive LSD in the army research mogrMedi-
cal consultants in the Office of the Surgeon Gdnar@ now
making plans for a follow-up study of persons whokt LSD.
You will be contacted within the next few monthgianvited
to be examined . . "

Chaffin was called in for a physical subsequently e
feels the examination was inadequate. He has behatmy’'s
word that the drug he received was LSD. Probablyai$ not.
LSD is not known for its abilities to induce amreedo cause
depression, or to place a lock on the tongue. yttang, LSD
could be used in interrogation to loosen the mind #he
tongue.
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Until that day in Edgewood, William Chaffin had ays
had a firm grip on reality. Either he was given afieseveral
drugs far more powerful than LSD, and with differenoper-
ties to affect the mind, or he was given LSD andthtough
some extreme behavior modification procedure wipch-
grammed him to remain silent, and later, afterduisnection
with the Edgewood experiment had been severed,igh i@
take his own life.



Chapter Seven
THE MKULTRANS

Following the release of the Rockefeller Reporhni®.
Marks, author and former staff assistant to theéeSkepart-
ment Intelligence Director, filed a Freedom of Imfmtion Act
appeal on behalf of the Center for National Segusitudies
requesting documentation from the CIA. Marks retpeks
documentation for the evidence cited in the RodlexfdRe-
port on the CIA’s mind-control activities conductetthin the
United States.

Seven months later, Marks was given more than 2,000
pages of top-secret and “eyes only” documents byGQMA's
Information Review Committee. These pages were &aite
the bulk of the information upon which the Rock&felCom-
mission had based its report. Exempted from relagse por-
tions of or entire documents which contained infation said
by CIA officials to pertain to “intelligence sous@nd meth-
ods which the Director of the Central Intelligerttas the re-
sponsibility to protect from unauthorized disclasyrursuant
to section 102 (d) (3) of the National Security A¢t1947.”
But in the Xeroxed pages Marks obtained was arseté to
the effect that within a few hours of his resigaat{forced by
the disclosures of the Watergate and Church Comes}t
Director Richard Helms ordered the records shredded
burned.

The remaining documents, which were judged by the C
to be “safe” to keep for subsequent release, whrhighly
sanitized. They contained few names of particigatindi-
viduals or organizations and none of the detailshef long-
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range experiments designed to mold and controhtimels of
American citizens.

In addition to offering a superficial review of ti@&A’s
involvement in research on mind control, the docotsme
Marks obtained gave the Agency’s own officially sered
version of what had happened to Dr. Frank Olson.

According to the CIA, at a “liaison conference” witort
Detrick personnel at Deep Creek Lake, Maryland, tba
eighteenth and nineteenth of November, 1953, Dso®knd
seven other men were given LSD in glasses of Gmntran
orange-flavored liqueur. The unsuspecting “guinigs’pwere
told twenty minutes later that they had been giveb.

Olson suffered “serious aftereffects,” and latex Hame
day, he was sent at CIA expense to New York Citshvain
escort, Dr. Robert V. Lashbrook. There he was takesee a
psychiatrist, Dr. Harold A. Abramson. After five ydaof ob-
servation and treatment, Dr. Abramson decided@tsdn had
to be hospitalized. Arrangements were made forakisit-
tance to a private sanitarium near Rockville, Mang.

Following that consultation with Abramson on Novesnb
22, Olson and Lashbrook returned to their roonth@iStatler
Hotel and retired for the evening. At 2:30 A.M. thext morn-
ing, Lashbrook was awakened by a loud crash. Adagrtb
the “eyes only” investigation report, he went i@tson’s bed-
room and found him missing. The window, “glass atig!
and the blinds were missing. Lashbrook assumed Gsdn
had dived through them.

Before Lashbrook notified the hotel desk he calzd
Sidney Gottlieb, the chief medical officer of théACdrug
project, and informed him of Olson’s fate. Lashtkaben
called the desk man who called the police.

When the police from the Fourteenth Precinct adijve
Lashbrook told them that Olson was employed by Uh8.
Army. He also told them that he, too, was a goveminem-
ployee and a friend of Olson’s, but nothing elsalide, how-
ever, found Lashbrook in possession of governndtttifica-
tion, including a CIA badge, and made note of itientifying
data. The CIA and the Department of Defense quittibk
over liaison with the police and succeeded in doeeup the
cause of Olson’s “suicide.”
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Three months later, CIA Director Allen W. Dullesote
three notes of reprimand and sent them to the sloéfthe
Technical Services Staff, Technical Operations, @hdmical
Division. The “eyes only” reprimand to the Chief dfe
Chemical Division said, “I have personally reviewbe files
from your office concerning the use of a drug oruamitting
group of individuals. In recommending the unwittiagplica-
tion of the drug to your superior, you apparently dot give
sufficient emphasis to the necessity for medicdlaboration
and for proper consideration of the rights of thdividual to
whom it was being administered. This is to inforouythat it
is my opinion that you exercised poor judgmenthis tase.”
It was signed, “Sincerely, Allen W. Dulles, Directo

There was no change of operations. The researchirmh
control continued unabated.

According to the documents obtained by John Mates,
CIA mind-control program was run under four differero-
ject names. “In 1949 the Office of Scientific Idigénce
(OSI) undertook the analysis of foreign work ontair un-
conventional warfare techniques, including behaliairugs,
with an initial objective of developing a capalyilib resist or
offset the effect of such drugs. Preliminary phasetuded
the review of drug-related work at institutions lsues Mount
Sinai Hospital, Boston Psychopathic Hospital, Ursity of
lllinois, University of Michigan, University of Minesota,
Valley Forge General Hospital, Detroit Psychopat@imic,
Mayo Clinic, and the National Institute of Health.

“This first project, code-named Project BLUEBIRDasv
assigned the function of discovering means of d@mhg
personnel to prevent unauthorized extraction obrimition
from them by known means. It was further assigrethtes-
tigate the possibility of control of an individuay application
of special interrogation techniques, memory enhauecd, and
establishing defensive means for preventing ingation of
agency personnel.”

In August, 1951, Project BLUEBIRD was renamed Pro-
ject ARTICHOKE, and was subsequently transferrednfthe
Office of Scientific Intelligence (OSI) to the Gt of Security
(OS). OSlI, however, retained the responsibility dealuating
foreign intelligence aspects of ARTICHOKE. In 1958¢
OSI proposed that experiments be undertaken td_&Bt on
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Agency volunteers. Records do not indicate, howewvbether
or not such experiments were made. According tartfeema-
tion released, OSI's involvement in Project ARTICKBE
ceased in 1956.

The emphasis originally given ARTICHOKE by the OS
became focused on the use of drugs such as sodintatpal
in connection with interrogation techniques andhvtite poly-
graph. During this period there was an informalugr&nown
as the Artichoke Committee which had representstivem
OSI, OS, Medical Services, and Technical Servigege to
form, only brief records were kept, so that theadetof the
exchanges of this committee are still secret.

A CIA memo to the Director of Central Intelligendated
July 14,1952, cited a successful application otolypnotic
interrogation undertaken by a team of represematikom the
CIA. This memo revealed that by that date two sssitg
interrogations had already been conducted usingsdand
hypnosis. The subjects were Russian agents suspadieing
double agents. The cover was called “psychiatridingd”
(they were admitted to a hospital). The controlhnds were
by narcosis, by hypnosis, and by a combinationathbThe
subjects were regressed by hypnosis and madeite st
experiences. When the interrogation was completedhgp-
notic suggestion succeeded in giving the subjectsesia of
the actual interrogations. The interrogations wegarded by
the CIA as being very successful.

“In each case,” the CIA memo read, “a psychiatric-
medical cover was used to bring the ARTICHOKE téghes
into action. In the first case, light dosages aigir coupled
with hypnosis were used to induce a complete hyptiance.
This trance was held for approximately one hour &ortly
minutes of interrogation with a subsequent totahesm pro-
duced by posthypnotic suggestion. In the second (as in-
dividual of much higher intelligence than the firsa deep
hypnotic trance was reached after light medicatitms was
followed by an interrogation lasting for well ovan hour.
However, a partial amnesia only was obtained a time,
although a total amnesia was obtained for a magotr @f the
test. Since further interrogation was desired,caise test was
made on this individual in which the ARTICHOKE textjue
of using a straight medication was employed. O tbist,
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highly successful results were obtained in thatlkirfiterroga-
tion lasting two hours and fifteen minutes was picat, part
of which included a remarkable regression. Durlrig tegres-
sion, the subject actually ‘relived’ certain pastivties of his
life, some dating back fifteen years while, in didali, the sub-
ject totally accepted Mr. (deleted) [the case effiand inter-
preter at this time] as an old, trusted, and belopersonal
friend whom the subject had known in years pasbéorgia,
USSR. Total amnesia was apparently achieved forttize
second test on this case.”

The memo revealed that sodium pentothal and theusti
lant desoxyn were the drugs used to aid the hypricaince.
The memo continued: “For a matter of record, theeceffi-
cers involved in both cases expressed themselvie teffect
that the ARTICHOKE operations were entirely suctdssnd
team members felt that the tests demonstrated usinely the
effectiveness of the combined chemical-hypnotihtégue in
such cases. In both cases, the subjects talkedyckrad at
great length and furnished information which theecafficers
considered extremely valuable.”

According to Agency Inspector General Chamberlain,
“There is reference in papers in the records hglthb Office
of Security, of something referred to as an ARTIGHO
Team traveling overseas in 1954, with indicatiofiopera-
tional applications to individuals representing an@nunist
Bloc country. There is no record of the operatianite re-
sults.”

A summary of a conference on July 15, 1953, offeaed
clue to other kinds of operations conducted und&TA
CHOKE. The report, addressed to the Chief of SgcudIA,
said, “Mr. (deleted) then discussed the situatibra dormer
Agency official who had become a chronic alcohald who,
at the present time, was undergoing operative rreat in
(deleted) for a possible brain tumor. This indivatlhad called
the Agency prior to the operation and warned thagnvgiven
certain types of anesthetics (sodium pentotha8yipusly he
had been known to talk coherently. The matter \a&ert care
of by placing a representative in the operatingmraand by
bringing the various personnel participating in th@eration
under the Secrecy Agreement. Mr. (deleted) stated the
subject did talk extensively under the influence sodium
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pentothal and revealed internal problems of theng&ge Dr.
(deleted) added that he was acquainted with thailslen the
case.

“(Deleted) then commented that this type of thiredh
been a source of great concern to himself and stimethe
operations work and stated that he hoped that tRFIA
CHOKE efforts to produce some method that woulchpps
guarantee amnesia on the part of those knowing g&ngy
operations in vital spots would be successful. ked that
some individuals in the Agency had to know tremersdo
amounts of information and if any way could be fdua pro-
duce amnesias for this type of information—for amste, after
the individual had left the Agency—it would be anarkable
thing. Mr. (deleted) stated the need for amnesia particu-
larly great in operations work. Mr. (deleted) and. Ktleleted)
both explained that work was continually being damean
effort to produce controlled amnesia by various imsea

“Mr. (deleted) called attention to the fact thattla¢ pre-
ceding conference, Colonel (deleted) had advarteeddea of
testing new methods, new chemicals, and new teaksi¢and
combinations thereof) on certain carefully selectetployees
of the Agency, probably individuals in the trainiggups . . .”

One of the documents John Marks obtained was dated
July 30, 1956. Under the heading “Schizophrenic kgéhe
memo stated that bulbocapnine, an alkaloid, coaltse cata-
tonia or stupor from its affects on the centralvoes system
and the cerebral cortex. The report stated: “Wérelés have
certain psycho-chemical properties tested on maimguthe
bulbocapnine which we were fortunate to obtain fr¢ohe-
leted), a sample being enclosed herewith. Moredualpnine
is available if needed.”

Along with the sample was the request that subjbets
tested for “loss of speech, loss of sensitivitypin, loss of
memory, and loss of will power.”

Another memo in 1956 authorized psychiatrists iivem
sities and state penitentiaries (the names wertathl to test
these drugs on unwitting subjects.

An even earlier memo said “it was essential to fard
area where large numbers of bodies would be usedefo
search and experimentation. Dr. (deleted) statat ith con-
nection with the testing of drugs, he was quitdaiera num-
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ber of psychiatrists all over the United States hdae willing
to test new drugs, especially drugs that affecntied . . .”

ARTICHOKE evolved to become Project MKULTRA
which, according to CIA documents, was “an umbrpHaject
for funding sensitive projects . . . approved bieAlDulles on
April 3, 1953. Cryptonym MKDELTA covered . . . poli and
procedure for use of biochemicals in clandestineraipons . .

Besides drugs, MKDELTA and MKULTRA experi-
mented with radiation, electroshock, psychologyychgatry,
sociology, anthropology, harassment substances, velmat
were called “paramilitary devices and materials8n@cts
were made with individuals at prominent hospitatsl @rug
“safe houses” under Bureau of Drug Abuse contrbkotligh
the Bureau of Narcotic and Dangerous Drugs (BNDBJ a
federal institutions such as prisons, drugs cowdabdminis-
tered to unsuspecting individuals.

One hundred thirty-nine different drugs, includiayious
amnesia potions, were first tested under laboratonditions
(see Appendix B). Then, beginning in 1955, the npoetnis-
ing drugs were given to unwitting subjects “in natnsocial
situations” through the informal arrangement maeééneen
the CIA and the BNDD. The CIA Inspector Generabpart
indicates that this part of the mind-control pragravas termi-
nated in 1963, but that a project to test variougys “in an
inquiry into improvement of learning ability and mery re-
tention” did continue until 1972.

Document 32 in the MKULTRA file, sheds a more direc
light on the CIA’s involvement in mind-control reseh. The
“Memorandum for the Record” was written by an unitifged
intelligence officer. It is reproduced below in é@stirety.

17 January 1975
MEMORANDUM FOR THE RECORD

SUBJECT: MKULTRA

1. The following represents the best of my unaicsbl-
lection regarding the MKULTRA program. | was first
briefed on it in 1962. At that time it was in theopess of
a significant decrease in activity and funding. @kief,
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Defense and Espionage (C/D&E), | continued to dese
funds significantly each year until the program was
phased out in the late 1960s.

2. MKULTRA was a group of projects most of which
dealt with drug or counter-drug research and develo
ment. The Director Central Intelligence (DCI) artet
Deputy Director of Plans (DDP) were kept informed o
the program via annual briefings by Chief TechniBat-
vices Division (C/TSD) or his Deputy. Most of the-r
search and development was externally contracted an
dealt with various materials which were purportedhave
characteristics appealing for their covert or cksithe
administration under operational conditions. Thgecb
tives were behavioral control, behavior anomalydpi
tion and counter-measures for opposition applicatid
similar substances. Work was performed at U.S. dndu
trial, academic, and governmental research faesliti
Funding was often through cut-out arrangementstifges
was usually done at such time as laboratory work wa
successfully completed and was often carried osuah
facilities as the (deleted) and the (deleted). lincases
that | am aware of, testing was done using voluniee
mates who were witting of the nature of the tesigpam
but not the ultimate sponsoring organization.

3. As the Soviet drug use scare (and the amoustgef
nificant progress in the MKULTRA program) decreased
the program activities were curtailed significanths
budgetary pressure and alternate priorities didtate

4. Over my stated objections the MKULTRA files were
destroyed by order of the DCI (Mr. Helms) shortbfdre
his departure from office.

Cl OFFICER
By Authority of 102702

As for the unidentified intelligence officer’'s chaithat the
experiments “in all cases that | am aware of wexdgomed
on “volunteer” and “witting” subjects, one can ordyggest
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that this man may not have had the “need to kndvdua the
unwitting subjects. Records of court proceedingtcate that
many “guinea pigs” in federal institutions were riolly in-
formed of the long-range consequences of drug-er@thbe-
havior modification.

One such experiment on human “guinea pigs,” coredlict
at the California Medical Facility at Vacaville,violved the
use of the drug anectine, a strong muscle relaxarith
leaves the victim totally without involuntary musctontrol.
The body lets loose its waste, breathing stops, \aitidout
proper attendance, death can result.

Whether or not the subject dies, he experiencefetiimg
that he is dying. According to chief Vacaville phiatrist Dr.
Arthur Nugent, anectine induces “sensations of aaaffion
and drowning. The subject experiences feelingseepchorror
and terror, as though he were on the brink of dé&tthile in
this condition a self-styled therapist scolds hion fis mis-
deeds and tells him to reform or expect more ofstume. Dr.
Nugent told theSan Francisco Chroniclé‘even the toughest
inmates have come to fear and hate the drug. Itddaime
them, | wouldn’t have one treatment myself for tyld.”

Writing about the anectine therapy program, Jeddiita
ford noted that of those given the drug, nearlycailld be
characterized as angry young men. “Yet some seehave
been made even angrier by the experience, foretbearchers
said that of sixty-four prisoners in the prograrmenpersons
not only did not decrease, but actually exhibitadrezrease in
their overall number of disciplinary infraction.”

Experimentation with drugs and behavior modificatio
became so widespread in prisons and mental iristitithat
in the middle and late 1960s court dockets becameded
with lawsuits filed on behalf of the “human guingigs” who
were victims of such research. By 1971 the numb&avesuits
had reached such proportions that the Senate Subitiz® on
Constitutional Rights began an investigation. Thremars
later, the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, eldiy Sena-
tor Sam Ervin, released a report entitled “IndiadRights
and the Federal Role in Behavior Modification.Was largely
ignored by the press, yet it revealed some intexgéforma-
tion.
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Two years before the CIA and its subcontractors emvn
up to their mind dabbling, a large number of bebawmodifi-
cation projects were already underway. The repmtiased
that thirteen projects were run by the Defense bept; the
Department of Labor had conducted “several experigie
the National Science Foundation conducted “a suobiata
amount of research dealing with understanding hubsav-
ior”; even the Veterans’ Administration participdtén psy-
chosurgery experiments, which, in many cases, wetking
more than an advanced form of lobotomy.

One of the largest supporters of “behavior reséancs
the Department of Health, Education and Welfare, iss1sub-
agency the National Institute of Mental Health. Tdudbcom-
mittee said that HEW had participated in a “vengé&anumber
of projects dealing with the control and alteratmhhuman
behavior.” Largest of all the supporters of behawmdifica-
tion was the Law Enforcement Assistance Adminigirat
(LEAA) which, under the Department of Justice, fadchun-
dreds of behavior modification experiments. All thbove
agencies were named in secret CIA documents ae thbe
provided research “cover” for MKULTRA.

The subcommittee found that controls and guidelines
where they existed, were at best loose. The pangdganized
and loosely accountable research operations indladé only
traditional conditioning techniques, but also madvanced
modifiers such as chemotherapy, aversive therapyrasur-
gery, stress assessment, electric shock, and tHekwasvn
form of psychological indoctrination popularly el “brain-
washing.”

Another of the documents released to John Marks was
one dated February 10, 1951 entitled “Defense Agjcoviet
Mental Interrogation and Espionage Techniques.bdgan:
“International treaties or other agreements haveen&on-
trolled the experimental development and actualafisencon-
ventional methods of warfare, such as devices dbvarsive
activities, fiendish acts of espionage, torture amgrder of
prisoners of war, and physical duress and othethigz per-
suasive actions in the interrogation of prisoners.”

According to this document, the Technical Servides
sion of the CIA contracted with officials of whatas then
known as the Bureau of Narcotics to have mind-arilting
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drugs given to unwitting subjects. The CIA felttthiae drugs
needed to be tested in “normal life settings,” lsat the “full
capabilities to produce disabling or discreditirffgets” of the
drugs would be known.

With the full approval of Allen W. Dulles, an ariga:
ment had been made with the Bureau of Narcoticsretdye
the CIA financed and established “safe houses” hickv fed-
eral narcotics agents could dispense the drugsetuatd the
reactions of those who took them. No CIA men warsent
when the drugs were administered. The report didrenxeal
the number of “unwitting” subjects given drugs tioe identi-
ties of any but Olson. But it did acknowledge, fbe first
time, the scope of the cryptocracy’s interest indrgontrol.

The CIA Inspector General, Donald F. Chamberlaias w
stimulated by Olson’s death to investigate the abated
drug program himself. In a summary dated Februard©35,
he wrote “Records do not permit a description afhstela-
tionships as may have existed between these vaaittisties;
it is apparent that there was some sharing of inédion be-
tween these various components in the Agency, amles
overlap in time, but there also are indicationsnofependent
approaches to the problem.”

Naturally, the CIA allows itself to be questionendaex-
amined only by loyal employees. But even the indgoin-
spector general could not avoid reporting thatGh& had had
a recurring interest in behavioral drugs for mdrant twenty-
five years. The earliest record of this interegeddo the post-
World War Il period, when the CIA, heir to the O%8nd
control research and perhaps the victim of its onativating
propaganda, thought that the Soviets were usingsdand
other behavior-influencing techniques.

In 1949, Irving L. Janis of the Rand Corporatiompte:
“Defense against these [mind control] actions wi#pend
largely upon knowledge of enemy capabilities. Repaf
experimental and actual use of illegitimate intgation tech-
nigues by the Soviets to obtain intelligence andrtoonfes-
sions against the interrogatee’s will indicate dieghe need
for medical investigation,” the report claimed.

“The implications referred to above embrace seveasd-
gories. The behavior of defendants in Soviet coartd in
those of the satellite countries, together withwhmle pattern
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of Soviet trial procedure, makes it essential fertai consider
Soviet use of drugs, hypnotism, hypno-narcoanalgectric
and drug shock, and possibly the use of ultrasonics

The report continued, “There is documentary evidetac
support the belief that the Soviets have been ottimymedi-
cal research, have actually used various technjcares have
made provision for large-scale productions of uncamn
drugs known for their speech-producing effects ¥ Only a
few drugs with which the Soviets were supposed doek-
perimenting are named. No hard evidence is predetat
they were in fact experimenting with such drugse Thport
goes on to point to the trial of Joseph Cardinahdéizenty,
who was accused of collaborating with the enemg (thited
States), as an example of the Russians’ use ofdnugbtain-
ing forced confessions in court procedure. “Behapiatterns,
rapport, symptoms of residual effects of treatmeatsl the
physical condition of the defendants all indicabte tuse of
drugs. Several documents refer to memorized testynmand
departures from text, indicating forced false cseafens.”

It was later learned that the elicited confessiovese
false. By Mindszenty’s own admission, they were induced
by drugs or sophisticated techniques of mind cdntioey
were simply forged, and rather poorly forged att.tha
Mindszenty’'s foggy mental state at the trial hasuteed from
psychological indoctrination, isolation, and intagation, and
generally can be regarded as standard police puoegedor
most countries of the world.

The report clearly stated that “the use of thesgslidoes
not usually result in amnesia of past interrogaionless the
victim's mental faculties have been destroyed bgirttef-
fects.” Thus, even if drugawere used on Mindszenty, by the
CIA’s own conclusion he would have remembered getthe
drugs and something about the subsequent interoogaés-
sions. The fact was he remembered neither. Itrigl\sunot a
coincidence that the CIA “eyes only” report whiclaimed
Mindszenty was narcohypnotized was issued the sgeae
that Edward Hunter, the CIA “propaganda specidlisieased
Brainwashing in Red Chinavlost newspaper reporters would
never go to press on the kind of sourceless, geéredanfor-
mation provided in the CIA report; yet are we tdidee the
cryptocracy had launched a thirty-odd-year researuth de-
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velopment project based on evidence which amountéear-
say?

Another CIA report uncovered by Marks, “Defense
Against Soviet Medical Interrogation,” revealed tlarming
statistics that “although susceptibility to narggzhosis varies
from person to person, skilled operators can rgddipnotize
about twenty-five (25) per cent of a given groupawkrage
persons.” It added “at least eighty (80) percergwéwver,
would be susceptible following the use of certaings . . .”

This second document also discussed the plan of the
CIA’s organization of “a Special Defense InterragatPro-
gram.” In addition to outlining the use of drugsdamypnosis,
the report brought up two other mind-bending paksés:
electroshock and ultrasonic sound.

“Psychiatrists in many nations,” the report saitiave
used insulin and electric shock as methods of ehoicder
certain circumstances in their psychiatric workedflic shock
is more rapid than any of the above techniquesgfar hyp-
nosis]. It is instantaneous. It can be applied witkvithout the
recipient’'s knowledge. Amnesia of interrogationsiag that
of hypnosis. If the enemy uses electric shock fitgrrogation
purposes and the victim is available after recovfeoyn the
shock, highly trained specialists should be ableeteeal the
past use of electric shock by electroencephalogragphaly-
sis.”

The report went on to recommend that groups withen
CIA, the armed forces, and the FBI be organized @atdi-
nated to give high-level direction to this projetCivilian
capability for solution of some of the problems ldobe util-
ized,” the report said. “Close liaison between CGiAd the
Armed Services has been established, but it issaffective
as it should be. Liaison within the Armed Serviegpears to
be inadequate, and they do not seem to be awaatd civil-
ian sources of knowledge. Liaison with the FBI bis subject
may be described as ‘cooperative,’ although somewhasu-
ally evasive. A satisfactory guiding organizatiaould be set
up under high-level direction for the developmehtn inte-
grated program. If feasible, a committee to accashpthis
purpose should be appointed.” The report conclunedec-
ommending that “a technical committee should ineludedi-
cal intelligence representatives from the CIA, Nagymy,
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Air Force, probably the FBI anald hocGovernment and non-
Government consultants.”

From the first days of Project BLUEBIRD, and thrbug
out all the ensuing CIA projects the goal was thee—find
answers to the following questions:

“Can accurate information be obtained from willing
unwilling individuals?

“Can Agency personnel (or persons of interest tg th
Agency) be conditioned to prevent any unauthorgmarce or
enemy from obtaining information from them by amolvn
means?

“Can we obtain control of the future activities ygfcal
and mental) of any individual, willing or unwillindy appli-
cation of [mind-control] techniques?”

Beyond the laboratory and operational researchnovitu
ting subjects, the CIA set up training teams whitiuded
polygraph operators, interrogation specialists,noists, and
others in what was a long-range, all-out effort&velop reli-
able mind-control and counter-mind-control techeigjuin all,
fifteen separate research areas were defined bglhelan-
ners.

Most of the drug projects came under the operading
thority of the U.S. Navy. At Bethesda Naval Hoshpitander
the direction of a Dr. Gaefsky, the drug projectttvas begun
in 1947 continued until 1972. The CIA reports definthe
project as one which sought to “isolate and syritleepure
drugs for use ireffecting psychological entry and control of
the individual (italics added).

Also under the navy’s direction was a project heldole a
Dr. Ellson at the University of Indiana called “Betion of
Deception.” This project was aimed at determinimg physio-
logical changes which occur when a person is erjagele-
ception. Mechanical and electrical devices wereetiped to
measure these changes.

At the University of Rochester, again under nawech
tion, a Dr. Wendy investigated motion sickness. THA re-
port describes that study as one to determine éfffiect of
drugs on the vestibular function of the ear and dbeelop-
ment of side effects which indicate the possibitifypsycho-
logical entry and control.”
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Besides mind-control drugs and techniques, alsesiiv
gated were tools which might be effective in conmpising
individuals. One report stated that in spite of th&nsive
research, as late as 1960, “no effective knockgillit truth
serum, aphrodisiac, or recruitment pill was knownekist.”
Towards that goal under the auspices of the U.&yABur-
geon General’'s Office, a Dr. Beecher at Harvardvesity
was given $150,000 to investigate “the developnaat ap-
plication of drugs which will aid in the establisant of psy-
chological control.”

And, under air force guidance, a Dr. Hastings attmi-
versity of Minnesota was engaged to research tfectef of
LSD on animals. His research area, as defined By, @lso
included the use of electric shock in interrogatiaith par-
ticular emphasis placed on the detection of prea of electric
shock and the “guaranteed amnesia” it produced.

According to the documents, the investigation grfmysis
as a mind-control tool was kept under the aegithefCIA.
Their prime research interest was the “investigatad the
possibilities of hypnotic and post-hypnotic conftol

While MKULTRA was the code name for the research
and development period of mind control, MKDELTA wiag
code name for the operational phase, during whicbfahe
techniques of mind control were applied to indiatiu

What followed next was the MKULTRANS, acting out
their “mindless” roles at the behest of the crypaog.






Chapter Eight
THE MATA HARI OF MIND CONTROL

Candy Jones was a sex symbol during World War II.
Born Jessica Wilcox, with her catchy stage namesdmaghely
legs she rose to a standing second only to Betgbléras
America’s most popular pinup. Like other pinup gjirshe was
a favorite of the troops at the front, and she itelt duty to
entertain them near the battlefields. After her emtised
beauty faded and she could no longer serve to tlaésenorale
of the troops with her appearance, she served damtiy in
another way. She served under MKULTRA as a hypno-
programmed CIA courier for twelve years.

While on a USO tour in the Pacific in 1945 Candy-o
tracted a case of undulant fever and, shortly #feee ma-
laria. On top of that, she caught the contagiongis known
as “jungle rot.” Within a week, her hair had begarfall out,
and her complexion had turned a sickly yellow.

The combination of these diseases sent her to icamil
hospital in Manila, where she met a young medidéiter
whom she identifies only by the pseudonym “Gilbkrhsen.”
He would, later, offer her the opportunity to beeoa CIA
courier.

In 1959 Candy started a modeling school in New York
She rented office space in a modern skyscrapessithe hall
from an office occupied by the one-time heavyweigbxing
champion, Gene Tunney. One night Candy noticedeafiing
lady” fumbling for keys to open Tunney’s door. Thext day
Tunney reported that his office had been burgldsibait that
nothing important had been stolen.
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Later the same week Candy observed a young copple a
proaching Tunney’s door. She watched as the yousy taok
out a set of keys and went through the same tndteror
process that the cleaning lady had performed anfgims ear-
lier. Candy went into the hallway and asked thengpman
what he was doing. He told her that he was supptisedeet
Tunney there. Candy informed him that Tunney hétdhieurs
before and was not expected back that evening.cblple
hurriedly left.

The next day Candy told Tunney about the incidela.
was not alarmed nor did he even seem to be inegtabat a
second burglary of his office had been attempted.

One day later, in the lobby of her building, Camdwg into
a retired army general she’d known in the Southfiead he
general had not known her well in the past, but mawvas
more than courteous. He mentioned that he was ®wéy to
have lunch with Tunney so Candy invited him to béfice
first and showed him around. Then she brought liross the
hall to Tunney. Tunney seemed quite surprisedGlaaidy had
known the general, and, after a brief conversattbr, two
men went to lunch and Candy continued with herrmss.

A few days later Candy was visited by a man whoomt
duced himself as an FBI agent. He asked her albeubtir-
glary of Tunney's office, and Candy told him whéateshad
told both Tunney and the superintendent of thedngl. The
FBI man then unexpectedly went over to the windedgk
and picked up a microphone Candy had obtained #dien
Funt of “Candid Camera” fame. The agent wanted riovk
what use Candy had for the microphone. She expmlaihat
she used it to tape her models’ voices to help tderelop
their speech. The agent said that he'd been loofangust
such a microphone to use in a surveillance job dty-F
seventh Street. He asked Candy if she would mirekibor-
rowed it. Flattered that she’d been asked to hbép EBI,
Candy offered it for as long as it was needed. FBé man
thanked her and left with the microphone.

When he returned a month later, he was accompdnyied
another agent. After making casual conversationafdiew
minutes, the FBI men asked Candy if she would atloewn to
have some of their mail delivered to her office efiehwould
be letters addressed to fictitious names in cateoimodeling
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school. Some of the letters, he said, might be edaffom
Europe and addressed to her, or to a specifieitidict man’s
name. If that happened she was supposed to calinader and
report the arrival of the mail. Candy, once agé#attdred, said
she’d be happy to help.

Two weeks after Candy took the job with the FBI,n&e
Tunney moved out of his office. The general, howekept in
touch with her all during that year. He invited tierseveral
parties, and even sent her a Christmas card.

In the summer of 1960, Candy received a lettereat h
apartment from the first FBI man, and the next tteeygeneral
called her at her office. Somehow he knew thatveae taking
a trip to speak at the all-male Tuesday Night Sugab in
Denver, and afterwards going on to San Francisattend a
fashion show. The general wondered if, since shegeing to
California anyway, she would mind carrying a lettesm a
government agency. He told her the letter was tdddwered
to a man who would call at her hotel and identifpgelf.

Again flattered to be called upon to serve her tgun
Candy agreed to act as a courier. The importaterletas
hand-delivered to Candy'’s office a few days after general’s
phone call. There were two envelopes—a large osiglénof
which were her instructions and a smaller one whimftained
the actual letter. Candy carried the letter witlh teeDenver,
then on to San Francisco where she waited for ¢wtact.

Within a few days she received a call at her histeh a
man who identified himself as Gil Jensen; it was shme man
who had been Candy’s doctor in the Philippines.

Jensen invited her to dinner that evening at thekNteop-
kins Hotel. During dinner Candy brought up the sabjf the
letter, but Jensen avoided the subject, sayingttieat could
better talk about it at his office the next day.

Candy protested that she had to go back to New Wuark
next day, but Jensen would not take no for an ansWetold
her that it would be worth her while to stay on éofew days.
“There’s some interesting work you could do for tbentral
Intelligence Agency, Candy, without interfering kityour
business.”

He told her that the work could be quite lucrateed
since at that time she needed money, she decidsthyoand
find out what the CIA was offering.



118 Walter Bowart

The next day a car picked Candy up at her hotedaode
her across the Bay Bridge to the Oakland offic®onfJensen.
That was the beginning of what Candy’s biographendd
Bain (who told Candy’s story in the bodkhe Control of
Candy Jonesdescribed as twelve years of adventure which
would eventually take her to the Far East as art@gerative
of the CIA.

“She would be harassed, badgered and even tortured.
Bain wrote. “Her role was small, a carrier of megs and
the fact that she chose initially to perform suakies, for pay,
renders the misfortunes that befell her ‘occupatidazards.’

“What Candy hadn’t bargained for, however, was beco
ing a human guinea pig in a secret CIA scientifiojgct in
which mind control was the goal.

“She was an unwilling and unknowing laboratory sabj
for twelve years, and only her chance marriagedsaee from
the final stage of her adventure—her own suicidelrameo-
graphed by Dr. Gilbert Jenseh.”

In 1973 Candy Jones married an old friend, “LongnJo
Nebel, the host of a New York all-night radio takow.
Candy had met John in 1941, at the height of hexezawhen
he was working as a free-lance photographer assigpyea
magazine to photograph her. After losing contadhveach
other for more than a decade, they accidentallgwex their
acquaintance and were married twenty-eight dags. lat

On their wedding night, John noticed that his bnws
suddenly acting out of character. She had lefbéeand gone
into the bathroom to look in the mirror. When sle¢urned,
John said, “I saw somebody who omBsembledhe woman
I'd married.” He stressed the word “resembled” heesn al-
though the body which walked out of the bathroorohged
to Candy, the being inside it did not. Her voicesveald and
distant, and her expression was cruel. Soon tlaagtr bitter
mood passed and the warm and loving Candy returned.

The next evening Candy’s strange “mood” returnetinJ
naturally became curious about his wife’s psychonysand
began asking questions about her past. Candy toidabout
her contact with the FBI in 1959. She also told hivat from
time to time she would still have to take littlgo# for the gov-
ernment.
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On June 3, 1973, John and Candy came home edtig in
morning after doing one of his all-night talk show&andy
tried to sleep, but found that she could not. Sissdd and
turned and when she complained to John of her Iglsgpess,
she was near tears.

John told Candy that he'd read that hypnosis coeilax
insomniacs, and although he never had tried t@apybne into
the trance state, he’'d read a lot about it andulggested per-
haps they ought to try it. Candy laughed and shidan't be
hypnotized, John.” But a short while after Johnaretp hyp-
notize her, Candy was deeply asleep.

Although John had no way of knowing it then, Camdis
already a highly suggestible subject since sheblegeh hypno-
tized on many previous occasions by the CIA. Beeafghis,
whenever John sought to induce trance in Candyyabidly
became relaxed and was able to get a full nighitamal sleep.

One night, while under John’s hypnosis, Candy snotjde
and spontaneously began to relive her childhoodinguhese
age regressions, she revealed many terrible intidanwhat
had been, obviously, a lonely and troubled pastirgamlike
monologues she related how her father had abuse®dhee
when she was eleven he’d crushed her fingers, grane, in
a nutcracker because she wouldn't cry when he \Wwastao
leave.

Candy'’s portrayal of her mother depicted a persay a
little less cruel than her father. A calculatingmamn, she often
locked Candy inside a closet as a form of punishmen

In several hypnotic monologues Candy revealed hmav s
had developed an alter ego named Arlene to defendrbm
the blows of her formative years. Later, John veadiscover
that the despicable personality which he had olesetaking
over his wife’s consciousness on their wedding highs the
same alter ego she’d developed in her childhodshn Nebel
began tape-recording his wife’s hypnotic monologues

One day, while under hypnosis, Candy told John &bou
working with Dr. Jensen in California. She revealbdt Jen-

" Bain fails to say whether or not Candy’s alter gipymate was a
manifestation of true schizoid behavior, or if Jansleveloped a
monster from a harmless childhood fantasy.



120 Walter Bowart

sen worked for the CIA and she did, too, but Jolas wot
interested in the CIA story.

John became interested, however, when his wife de-
scribed how Dr. Jensen had tried to hypnotize Aecording
to Candy, when Jensen had suggested that she stabhyip-
nosis and she had told him with great certaintyt thiae
couldn’t be hypnotized, he had agreed with her thist was
probably true, judging from what he knew of hergoerality.

John had read that the best way to deal with astibjho
believes he cannot be hypnotized is first to agvéh him,
then to proceed to demonstrate how a hypnotist thighto
induce trance. John's subsequent hypnotic sesswitls
Candy verified that that was exactly what Jensen dhane.
But he'd gone one step further.

According to the memories dredged up from Candy’s
subconscious, Jensen had regularly given her iojectof
“vitamins.” John thought these might actually héde=n hyp-
notic drugs. Although Candy had probably alwaysnbee
good hypnotic subject, narco-hypnosis provided s&c®
greater depths in her already pliable personality.

When John began asking Candy about Jensen in her co
scious state he found that she could provide littfermation
about him. She could only recall visiting Jensentloat first
trip for the CIA. She had no memory of what hadpgeaped in
his office, nor of the events of her life whishmediatelyfol-
lowed that visit. John began to fear that the Chtdr still
possessed a hold over his wife’s mind.

Over the course of many hypnotic sessions with €and
John Nebel gathered up her fragments of memoryvance
them into a picture of a satanic CIA doctor. Befparts Don-
ald Bain, “the major difficulty in dredging up thisaterial is
that Candy Jones was programmed by Jensgto remem-
ber, and this programming proved frighteningly effifee.”

John later discovered that on that first visit, sken had
obtained from Candy the important piece of inforipratthat
she had had an imaginary playmate named Arlena. Sihgle
fact provided the basis for the methodical splitof her per-
sonality, for it was Arlene that Jensen wisheduliivate as a
courier, not Candy.

Candy’s willingness to carry messages was the exten
her conscious cooperation with the CIA. But frone tirst
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visit to Jensen’s office she had become an unwjittictim of
Operation Mind Control. Jensen had her sign a #gcoath
which officially made her an employee of the goveemt, and
as such she forfeited her right to legal compeosatdr the
harm done her by the ruthless mind-control opemnatio

Jensen also placed her against a large sheet ef pap
traced her silhouette. Then he photographed hensked her
to pick a pseudonym for a new passport. She suggjdstr
actual middle name, Arline.

In answer to Jensen’s questions she revealed #wat h
imaginary playmate had spelled her name A-r-1-e-de@sen
said that he didn’t care which way she spelledhit asked her
to pick a last name as well. Candy suggested theer@rant,
which was the last part of her grandmother’s naResen-
grant and “Arlene Grant” was agreed upon. It wohél an
easy name for Candy to remember since that wasehe
name she had given her alter ego in childhood.

As time went on, John found that he was talkingertor
Arlene than to Candy. In one session John askeghArif she
thought Jensen had in any way crippled her. Ara@nfully
replied that Candy had not wanted to be programimetthat
she “didn’t know what end was up.”

John asked Arlene who had developed her, and she re
plied, “Mother Jensen. He hatched me like a mottemn.”
Jensen had told her to come up through Candy’sathnshe
said. He'd say, “A. G.! A. G.!” and Candy would exfence a
severe stomach pain before Arlene took over hesqmality.
When she refused to come when she was called,Jemsdd
give Candy an injection, and one day he miscaledland
gave her three injections, which put Candy to sleegfour-
teen hours. Jensen had quite a scare because lediffidult
time reviving her.

Under John'’s hypnosis, Candy revealed that shebbad
given a number of drugs by Jensen: possibly aminaeser-
pine, and sulfazin, as well as the “truth drugsdism amytal
and sodium pentothal. She was programmed not ¢éavahy
doctor except Jensen to treat her, and neverdwahyone to
give her thorazine, the powerful tranquillizer.

The details of Candy’s role as a mind-controlled €bu-
rier were pieced together from hundreds of hourtapés of
her hypnotic monologues. She worked for the ClIAarnier
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professional name Candy Jones, under the nameeA\Geant,
and under her given name, Jessica Wilcox. She ingtsof-

dered to lease a post-office box at Grand Centetldh in the
name of Jessica Wilcox in August of 1961. She naaied

this box until 1968 or 1969 and paid for it herséffail sel-

dom arrived at the box, but when it did Candy waakk it to

her office and hold it for an unidentified man whtways

made the pickup, or sometimes, a phone call wouttero
Candy to deliver certain letters to various locagi@round the
city.

Slowly it began to dawn on Candy that some of the-p
ple she was delivering mail to might be just thedkof people
who could kill her for reasons of their own. To faat herself,
she wrote a letter to her attorney and put two edpn safe
deposit boxes at different banks. The letter stétat for rea-
sons she couldn’t disclose she often used the nariege
Grant, Jessica Wilcox, and Candy Jones. She wantedt on
record the fact that these different names allrrefeto her. In
the event of her death, she wrote, whether it westd acci-
dent or sudden illness, whether it happened in Uhéed
States or outside the country, there should beoeotigh in-
vestigation. She wrote that although she was nébetty to
divulge her sideline activities, she was not perfiog illegal,
immoral, or unpatriotic acts.

Candy holds that assumption to this day, even aftar-
ing her own voice under hypnosis tell tales of jtaistorture,
of illegal entries and exits from the country, asfdthe most
shocking kind of abuse at the hands of the CIA.dyaroba-
bly still would do almost anything out of this hyguoultivated
sense of patriotism.

Eventually John tried to get his wife to see a p@feist,
but she refused, saying that if she did so she dvget very
sick and might even have a convulsion. Evidentlyséa had
told her this. Even talking about possible thergpye Candy
severe stomach cramps.

Candy had been programmed so that she would ngt onl
be protected from foreign intelligence operatiobat from
everyone the CIA included. Jensen planned to use her for
some evil design of his own.

Candy Jones was, in fact, not one, but two zombies.
Candy and Arlene, sibling rivals trapped insideghme skin.
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They would talkto each other but nevetbouteach other
to anyone but Jensen. They traveled together ona3kign-
ments, Candy Jones being the person who actednwittie
United States, and Arlene Grant, the persona wbk tver
once the airplane left the country.

Usually when Candy arrived in San Francisco fronwNe
York she would immediately go to Jensen’s officaefie she
would change clothes, don a black wig, and pickhep fake
passport in the name of Arlene Grant. Jensen woalldforth
the Arlene personality and send her off to Southéasa to
deliver her messages. In his book, Donald Bainesrithat
Arlene often carried an envelope, but he wondeisely; if in
fact there was anything in the envelope. The pdagils
strong that Candy carried her secret messageswiigti mind,
locked behind posthypnotic blocks which could bkased
only by hearing the proper cue.

In 1966 she was sent on several missions to Taiwan,
where three businessmen were her contacts.

On her first mission to Taiwan, Arlene was methat &ir-
port by one of them. She immediately offered hira &mve-
lope, but he insisted that she accompany him tohbine,
which turned out to be a large and institutionl-Istructure
located on an impressive estate twenty miles oaiffalpei. In
front of the house a long row of trees lined thévalway
which circumscribed a lush green lawn. There wettgero
buildings on the property some distance from thearhause.

As he escorted Arlene into the house she noticedGii-
nese women dressed in lab coats on the lawn. $eel dsm
who these women were, and he explained that theg oy
household help. During that first three-day vitlie man en-
tertained Arlene royally. He took her to extravagdimners
and on an extensive sightseeing tour of the island.

When she returned to San Francisco, Jensen mat tier
airport and drove her back to his office. Thereghge her an
intravenous injection of drugs and restored hethto Candy
Jones personality. She turned in her Arlene Grassjort and
put her black wig, dark makeup, and clothing inl@set in
Jensen’s office. On that trip she also turned deedensen
several rolls of exposed film which she had takermer sight-
seeing tour. On her return to New York, she fouad dtaff at
the modeling agency very upset because she hadttengto
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tell anyone where she was going or how long sheldvbe
gone.

A month later, Candy was again summoned to San-Fran
cisco. Jensen put her through the same procedubefase,
having Arlene Grant emerge and travel to TaiwanaiAgthe
same man met her at the airport and took her tacdistry
home. Again she stayed for three days. But thig time was
not a guest but a prisoner.

Candy recalled, through John’s questioning und@mnby
sis, that she was hooked up to an electric boxoafeskind
and was shocked repeatedly on her shoulders, aant,
breasts. The Chinese grilled her about the contntise en-
velope she’'d just delivered. She protested that dilenot
know anything about its contents, but that ansviémot sat-
isfy her torturers.

When she wouldn’t change her story, they turnegues-
tions about Dr. Jensen. Arlene maintained that didenot
know Dr. Jensen. Obstinately, she stuck to her naragned
cover story, even though she was severely and tegiga
shocked.

Although the real event had taken place almosty&ars
earlier, the physical impressions revived by relivthese ex-
periences under her husband’s hypnosis were sagstitat
her lymph system responded protectively and punfipidi to
her skin producing blisters in the exact placesretibe elec-
trodes had been attached.

According to Candy’s recollection, the torture gied
only after the Chinese man talked with someonehent¢le-
phone. Following his conversation he unstrappedtoen the
chair and seemed most friendly and apologetic. dieé her
that the electrodes had been used not to torturduteto try
and jog her memory. After lunch he drove her to airport
and put her on a plane for San Francisco. She réeenthat
on the return flight she wore gloves in order tdehthe blis-
ters. She also recalls that her hands smelled lafrguacid,
although she has no recollection of having beenddiwith it.

At San Francisco, Jensen met her and gave herusie ¢
tomary injection after they reached his office. tdlel her that
the torture had been a mistake, the result of agsaphical
error in the message she had carried.
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In 1968 Candy was again sent to Taiwan. Normally an

individual would not knowingly and willingly plackerself in
a position to be tortured a second time, but Jésssmtrol
over Candy was so complete that she did his bidditigout
the slightest hesitation.

The final trip to Taiwan brought her into contacithw
other Taiwanese. She delivered her envelope, iime to a
girl in an art gallery. She remembers that afterdhl took the
envelope from her, she spit in her face. Under hgmCandy
could not recall any reason why the girl had dame s

After delivering the message, Arlene was pickedbyp
the same man and driven to his home. Again shetavaged
with electrodes and questioned about the contdritseomes-
sage she’d delivered. When she would not, or coolg an-
swer, her torturers put her hand in a box whichtaioed a
scorpion. This apparently was supposed to be a deatic,
for when the scorpion bit her, the torturers imragely
stopped the shocks and gave her antibiotics andnéstered
other medical treatment.

Candy told her husband that on another occasion
thumbnails had been cut to the quick in an atteamptake her
talk. She remembered that this had taken placeounaly 24,
1968. On still another occasion, something had Ipe¢m her
ears to cause pain. But throughout all this tortuensen’s
programming held. She said nothing.

In another hypnosis session Arlene told about mgptti
dizzy in a Taiwan hotel after having one drink. Sfsgan to
sweat profusely and went to a bathroom which hddtla
dressing room and a bed in it. An attendant accoiedaher
and took her clothes and hung them up since thdykaome
drenched with perspiration. She was given a drgsgown
and allowed to lie down. Eventually a doctor camade her.
He gave her an injection and she drifted off tegle

After the doctor left the room, the female attertdzame
over and began to pinch her on different parts ef hody,
asking her where “the papers” were. When the astendegan
to pinch Arlene’s nipples, she fainted from the nparhe
woman persisted, repeatedly pulling her to a gjtfposition
and severely pinching her nipples.

When the woman finally left the room, Candy remerape
she tried to crawl under the bed to hide. The docdme back

her
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and gave her another injection. The next day winenasvoke
and dressed, she was courteously escorted torffatady her
torturers as if nothing had happened.

When she got back to Jensen’s office, she repdinech-
cident to him. He seemed most concerned aboutiitiben
he asked to see her bruises, she refused to smovudri black
and blue nipples.

On a number of occasions Candy was sent to ther&ent
Intelligence Agency’s training ground called “Therf.”
Known to the outside world as Camp Peary, it apgbén be
an ordinary military installation. There Candy lead how to
search a room, and various guerrilla warfare tadticluding
how to commit undetectable arson. She was taughttbaise
a poison lipstick to take her own life, and hows® the same
lipstick to kill someone else by sticking a pinides it, then
jabbing the intended victim. She learned how to arsd as a
defensive and offensive weapon. She learned hdiretowari-
ous weapons, how to climb ropes, and how to wriided
messages on her fingernails and cover them witlspor'he
training at “The Farm” was known as 3-D: “Detecediroy,
and Demolish.”

At one point Candy told her husband of an espgciall
outrageous incident which took place at CIA headgus in
Langley, Virginia. She had been taken to an amphitr
where more than two dozen CIA men were gatheredito
ness a performance of Dr. Jensen’s stable of zanbieere
were eight subjects scheduled for the performanceGandy
was the first.

In a deep hypnotic trance, she was made to liechakea
table. The table was wheeled before the CIA audiesicd
Candy was introduced to the group as Laura Quidrfitie
wore her Arlene wig during the entire performance.

Dr. Jensen demonstrated his complete control dver t
prone, disrobed figure of Candy Jones. He lit al@and told
his nude subject that she would not feel a thingerr he
shoved the burning candle deep into her vagina.

Several of the witnesses tried to break througlse@s
control, but they all failed. “Candy is perfect,”rl@ne told
John. “Jensen proved in Virginia how impossiblevds to
break his control.”
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Piecing together such fragmented incidents of Candy
secret CIA past, John Nebel discovered that his Wifd been
programmed to commit suicide once she was no longeful
to the CIA. The self-destruct program was to bévattd in
Nassau. She was to check into the Paradise Beat# bio
December 31, 1972. She'd stayed at the hotel margstbe-
fore on normal business trips, so there was nothimgsual
about that. But on this occasion Arlene was prifteedponta-
neously take over Candy’s body upon receiving anphcall
from Jensen. She was programmed to walk Candy’y tmd
steep cliff overlooking the sea and there to makdégha dive.
This was to be the last dive of Candy Jones’ fife from that
location her body would certainly have crashed thi rocks
on the beach below.

It was extremely fortunate that Candy married Jskbel
on the very day she was supposed to check inthdted. The
marriage, by putting off the Nassau trip, had skoduited
Jensen’s program of suicide, which was scheduledttfe
same month.

But today, despite John’s help in countering mutchem-
sen’s programming, Candy is still not completelgefrof his
control over her mind. Still, whenever she look®ia mirror,
she feels Arlene struggling to take over her cansiess.

Although Candy told Jensen that she was througtkwor
ing for the Agency in the middle of 1972, more thsix
months after she and John were married a strangeeptall
was recorded on their telephone-answering machine.mes-
sage was: “Japan Airlines calling on the 03 Julg:40 P.M. .
. . Please have Miss Grant call 759-9100 . . . iSHelding
new reservation on Japan Airlines Flight 5, for gieth of
July, Kennedy-Tokyo, with an open on to Taipei.sTtd per
Cynthia that we are calling. Thank you.”

A check with Japan Airlines disclosed that the namb
759-9100 was indeed the reservation number forathme.
There was, however, no record in the airline’s cotepof the
reservation or a record of who made it. Neither Wese a
reservation clerk named Cynthia, or anyone elgbeatirline
by that name. The “per Cynthia” phrase may have lzeeode
which was supposed to trigger Candy’s automatigznm, or
it may have been a thin disguise for the Agencyasgnted by
Cynthia’s first and last two letters.
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Today, Candy’s controlled mind and John Nebel’'sseen
of patriotism still prevent the whole truth of tlséory from
emerging. For some reason John Nebel, Candy Jamek,
Donald Bain conceal the real names of Candy’s progners.
In Bain’s book the name Gilbert Jensen is saidet@ Ipseudo-
nym.
Another doctor, who supposedly conditioned Candy to
hate and distrust people, is given the name “Dn.skiial Bur-
ger” in the book, though at one point there is@triote stating
that Nebel wondered if Burger wasn’t a cover nametlie
California hypnotist, Dr. William Jennings Bryan.

Bryan, as noted in an earlier chapter, was the diygmn
and physician who offered the long-distance, irtsthagnosis
that Gary Powers had been “Powerized” by the Ssvide
was formerly a hypnotist for the air force and bagn linked
to the CIA. He was also the technical consultanttfie film
The Manchurian Candidate

According to the April 22, 1969,0s Angeles Timeshe
California State Board of Medical Examiners fourah lguilty
of “unprofessional conduct in four cases involveexual mo-
lesting of female patients.” For this offense Bryaas only
placed on five years’ probation—the lightness @& pgenalty
might well have been accomplished through his cotioes
with the CIA.

Alan W. Scheflin, an attorney who for five years leeen
researching the subject of mind control for hislb@®be Mind
Manipulators says he has evidence which suggests that the
Nebels and Donald Bain may be concealing the faat the
“doctor” who programmed Candy is the same doctoo wio-
grammed Lee Harvey Oswald, James Earl Ray, andarsirh
Beshara Sirhan.

In early 1976 Candy Jones and | both spoke on aNKSA
radio special on mind control. | was interviewed teélephone
and Candy was interviewed in the studio. We didmeeét, but
KSAN provided all the participants with duplicatgés of the
program.

On the KSAN program Candy Jones and Donald Bain
both insisted, despite my own evidence and argusnehe
testimony of Jessica Mitford, and the evidence ey by
two other investigative reporters, that Candy hadrbonly a
human guinea pig used for experimental purposes.r&tords
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of the CIA mind-control project clearly show, hoveey that
during the 1960s the cryptocracy’s mind control lgade far
beyond the experimental stage. On that radio shoandy
Jones herself revealed that Sir William Stephen@orMan
Called Intrepid believed that she was no guinea pig. She re-
ported that Stephenson wrote her that as far badkeaearly
days of World War Il he had used zombie agents tike in

the service of British Intelligence.

Shortly after the program was aired | called Nebeffice
to try and make contact with Candy or John. Theyigaored
my previous letters and my calls were taken byrtheducer,
who tried to help me but finally had to report titia¢ Nebels
were not interested in being interviewed. | subsedy
learned that neither would they grant an interviewJohn
Marks of the Center for National Security Studidhey
turned him down as flatly as they’'d turned me down.

My attempt to clarify the question of whether ot fi.
William Jennings Bryan had anything to do with pargming
Candy Jones was also frustrated by his avoidanceneof |
persisted in trying to get an interview with hinmtibiMarch of
1977, when Dr. Bryan died prematurely at the agédiftyf,
allegedly of a heart attack. He was a rather flagabb man
who toured the country holding “conferences” whieeewould
lecture on the uses of hypnosis in police intertioga He died
at one such conference in Las Vegas, Nevada, oplythm
after his name was raised in connection with Carahes.

A few of the questions which beg for the Nebelswaers
are: What are the real names of the men who pragein
Candy? Why weren't they included in the book? Whet
Candy’'s and John’s personal political affiliationgy are
they not outraged by Candy’s manipulation? Why tirey
attempting to protect the guilty and justify thpesof Candy’s
body and mind by the “national security” rationale?

In light of Candy’s disclaimer, and the Nebels'usl to
clear up these questions, | can only ask the reddecide
whether or not Candy Jones was a courier in a fofigra-
tional sense, or only an experimental guinea pigslee still
maintains.






Chapter Nine

THE SLAVES WHO BURIED
THE PHARAOH

The CIA uses thought reform, programming, and indoc
trination on its own employees. Patrick J. McGarvayet-
eran of fourteen years in U.S. intelligence serviescribed
the cryptocracy’s more ordinary indoctrination prdares in
his bookCIA: The Myth and the MadneddcGarvey said that
his indoctrination was carried out in a classrooficlv was
“right out of The Manchurian Candidatdt was a cavernous
room not unlike a nineteenth-century surgical eitiuib pit.”

That training, he said, consisted of “an admixtufe
common sense, insanity, old-time religion, and sahéhe
weirdest lectures you can imagine.” The most inguttrtesult
of this early training, as far as the CIA was caned,
McGarvey said, “was the attitudes they manageddalcate”
among the recruits.

“Many among us believed in the intelligence estbli
ment simply because we were part of it. This at#étlingered
for years among us, and today, in middle age, rbss still
talk about the mind-bending job they did on us niyrthe
training period. | am convinced that this manipiolatof atti-
tudes has been responsible for keeping silent theynmen
who have since left the craft of intelligence. Besma of my
indoctrination, | still get a visceral twinge—andve qualms
of conscience about writing this.”

McGarvey was referring to behavior modification whe
he said, “CIA has a wonderful informal system ofaeds and
punishments for the faithful and unfaithful.”

Other fragments of information have leaked throtigh
memory blocks and security oaths of former CIA erypEs.
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They can be found scattered throughout the “trudessions”
literature of former spooks. They offer furtherngises of the
CIA’s interest in mind control—but they are onlyrgpses.

“The most impressive part of this initial CIA inddoa-
tion,” writes Miles Copeland, “is the attitude tondaloyalty,
security, precision, attention to detail, and Healsuspicion
that it manages to implant in the minds of theneas . . . The
fact is that this aspect of the indoctrination basn designed
by some of the nation’s best psychologists, emplpyihe
most modern techniques of ‘motivational researCreitainly
it achieves its purpose. The psychologists redemtinsinua-
tion that they are engaged in ‘brainwashing,” angutihat the
effect of what they have contributed to the tragnis exactly
the opposite of brainwashing as practiced by thm&3e. In-
stead of conditioning a person so that he can aco@p ‘ap-
proved’ ideas, it sharpens his instincts and @iitfaculties so
that he can recognize specious political reasomihgn he
encounters it. Also the psychologists believe tlgeurse im-
parts a strong sense of mission, which is lackimgother
branches of government.”

Despite the CIA psychologists’ defense of theirerse
“brainwashing,” terrible damage has been suffergthb peo-
ple who have matriculated from the CIA’'s mind-cohtpro-
jects. Those techniques employed for indoctrinatiod “loy-
alty training” of CIA personnel are but the begimgyiof a
mind-control operation which is the most effectisecurity
device short of assassination.

Institutionalized secrecy came to America on the ef/
World War 1l. From the beginning, psychology wagtbthe
most important external weapon against the Nazis Japa-
neseand the internal control mechanism for the wartime gov-
ernment.

Psychological warfare was used in World War |, but
the beginning of World War 1l it had taken on a ndimen-
sion. Previously the inspiring, depressing, persea®r mis-
leading messages of propaganda had been deliveredget
populations via the printed page or by word of rhoun
World War Il, for the first time it became possiklerough
radio to address the entire population of a couatrthe same
time. The effects of propaganda, so magnified, imecan
important tool in warfare.
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After the war, electronic propaganda became thplesta
weapon for waging the Cold War. Persuasion, argtmen
propaganda, and indoctrination went out over theaies not
only to “enemy” populations but to our own civiligropula-
tions as well.

The full story of the OSS and the beginnings of @&
was not known until 1976 when a government repidre War
Report of Strategic Servicewas declassified. In 1940 Gen.
William J. Donovan was appointed President Franilin
Roosevelt's special emissary. Upon his return feoMediter-
ranean tour he reported that “neither America nataB is
fighting the new and important type of war on mtran the
smallest scale. Our defenses against political paythologi-
cal warfare are feeble, and even such gesturesas theen
made toward carrying the fight to the enemy ardufli in-
adequate.” Donovan urged the President to prepareoimbat
in the field of irregular and unorthodox warfare,&ell as in
the orthodox military areds.

Five months before the Japanese attacked PearbHarb
President Roosevelt added one more new bureatetdleiv
Deal bureaucracy. It was tagged COI, perhaps iadithcro-
nym for the publicity-shy Office of the Coordinatof Infor-
mation. Its leader was, of course, William J. Daanov

Donovan has been called “a queer figure who corfles o
three-quarters Machiavelli and one-quarter boy.£dxding to
Anthony Cave Brown, he recruited “Communists tol Kil
Krauts. He feared and distrusted Communists ingslachere
they counted. In Italy and France, he could neugtegmake
up his mind what to do politically; and, since piokl belief
was the clandestine’s primary motive, his policéen failed
and, even when they succeeded, led to interminalbilgdles.
Likable, even admirable on occasions, he was indacEliza-
bethan man, swaggering about capitals in beawtdud, dis-
playing a fine calf for a riding boot, but forevdependent
really upon the British for the finesse which tkatret strug-
gle demanded®

The British Secret Intelligence Service had devetbps-
pionage and intelligence to a fine art during Wovithr |.
They were already masters of sabotage, guerrilidiane po-
litical warfare, deception, crypto-analysis, irreggumaritime
warfare, technical intelligence, and secret irgeltice when
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World War Il began. During that war they took ifigggnce
into the vanguard of psychology, using drugs angnbsgis to
program couriers to carry secret messages lockiethd@ost-
hypnotic blocks.

The British were the first to employ a financingvide
known as the “Secret Vote,” or unvouchered fundss was
money made available without recourse to legistatiad ac-
counted for only by personal signature. As AnthdDgve
Brown observed, “plainly, almost unlimited opporities for
fraud existed in this arrangemefit.”

Donovan’s COI copied the unvouchered funds finagcin
idea, as well as many others, from the British. gt great
emphasis on the psychological warfare arm of iigtetice.
The British had also emphasized “psy-war,” but Da@ro
promoted it to the-degree that he made the psyghwbwar-
fare division the central control organ of the entspionage
agency.

In 1941, after the birth of COI, President Roosteasked
Donovan to make specific proposals for the impletatgon of
his ideas for psychological warfare and the devalemt of an
intelligence plan. Donovan submitted to the Whiteuke a
paper entitled “Memorandum of Establishment of #%&w of
Strategic Information.” In it he clarified his ided the rela-
tionship of information to strategic planning irigbwar.

Pointing out the diplomatic and defense inadeqsaofe
the then-existing intelligence organization, Donowsaid, “It
is essential that we set up a central enemy igezilie organi-
zation which would itself collect either directly ¢hrough
existing departments of government, at home andaabmer-
tinent information.” Such information and data sldoloe ana-
lyzed and interpreted by applying the experiencéspécial-
ized, trained research officials in the relatecestiic fields
(including technological, economic, financial arglyghologi-
cal scholars).” He emphasized that “there is anatf@ment in
modern warfare, and that is the psychological kt@gainst
the moral and spiritual defenses of a nation.”

In June, 1942, the Office of Strategic Service (D®&&s
created to replace COI. Some time passed betweefotima-
tion of the OSS and the issuance of its chartee. délay was
created by Donovan’s controversial idea that thelpslogical
warfare unit should be in charge of the entireliigience op-
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eration. The intellectuals hovering around OSS edgwith
the Joint War Plans Committee about what exacthcips-
logical warfare was, and who should direct it ie thame of
the United States of America.

Finally a definition was agreed upon. The officifini-
tion of psychological warfare read: “. . . it isetkoordination
and use of all means, including moral and physizglwhich
the end is to be attained—other than those of rgized mili-
tary operations, but including the psychologicgbleiation of
the result of those recognized military actions—ehhiend to
destroy the will of the enemy to achieve victorgdn damage
his political or economic capacity to do so; whiehd to de-
prive the enemy of the support, assistance, or aymypof his
allies or associates or of neutrals, or to preWmacquisition
of such support, assistance, or sympathy; or whéctd to
create, maintain, or increase the will to victorfyour own
people and allies and to acquire, maintain, oréase the sup-
port, assistance, and sympathy of neutrals.”

And, as Donovan had wished, the Joint Chiefs off Sta
decreed that “All plans for projects to be undeztalby the
Office of Strategic Services will be submitted he tJoint U.S.
Chiefs of Staff through the Joint Psychological Yeles
Committee for approval. The Joint Psychological fatar
Committee will refer such papers as it deems necggs the
Joint Staff Planners (JSP) prior to submissionh® ‘t Joint
U.S. Chiefs of Staff. The Joint Psychological Wegf&Com-
mittee will take final action on all internal adristrative plans
pertaining to the Office of Strategic Servicés.”

The lifespan of OSS was less than three yearsnDuiniat
short period of time it developed psychological faeg into an
effective weapon against the minds of civilian anditary
populations foreign and domestic alike. To wagesdife
psychological war the OSS needed background infooman
United States citizens. Thus the burglary of Paviiles was
sanctioned. The pattern of illegal clandestinevés within
the United States, which became public knowledgh Wa-
tergate, began in 1945 when the OSS broke intoffee of
Amerasiamagazine, an alleged Communist publication. The
OSS illegal entry was followed by a legal FBI séathree
months later, but no evidence thfamnerasiawas engaged in
subversive activity was ever found.
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Throughout the war Donovan never lost sight of fret
that while OSS was a wartime expedient, it was alsaex-
periment to determine the nature of a peacetime ldtélli-
gence structure in the postwar period. EventualySQdid
provide the framework for the peacetime intelligerservice
through which the United States continued the itteral and
territorial struggle against the Communists.

By a small, humorous twist of fate, it was on OetoB1,
1944—Halloween, the traditional day for spooks afidy
tricks—when President Roosevelt once again turonddano-
van for his views. The President asked Donovaretelbp a
plan for the organization of an intelligence sesviahich
would function after the cessation of hostilities November,
Donovan submitted to the President his proposathHercrea-
tion of a “central intelligence service.” In his merandum,
Donovan proposed liquidation of OSS once the wartima-
cessity had ceased. He was anxious, however, tefqwe the
intelligence functions developed by OSS, so he atguk his
original COI concept of a central authority, repugtdirectly
to the President, which would collect and analygeliigence
material required for planning and implementatiémational
policy and strategy.

“Though in the midst of war,” Donovan wrote, “weear
also in a period of transition which, before we aveare, will
take us into the tumult of rehabilitation. An adatgiand or-
derly intelligence system will contribute to infoeoh deci-
sions. We have now in the Government the trainedl spre-
cialized personnel needed for the task. This taddould not
be dispersed’”

On September 20, 1945, OSS was officially termichéte
Executive Order 9620. “Research and Analysis” fiomst and
“Foreign Nationals Recruiting” were transferred ttee De-
partment of State. The remainder of the OSS funstiaere
transferred to the Department of War. That same ttheynew
President Harry S Truman sent a letter to Donowériining
him of the executive order to close OSS, and thankim for
his outstanding service.

The President wrote, in part, “You may well findistac-
tion in the achievements of the Office and takelgiin your
own contribution to them. These are in themselaegel re-
wards. Great additional reward for your efforts wHolie in
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the knowledge that the peacetime intelligence sesvbf the
Government are being erected on the foundatiomefacili-
ties and resources mobilized through the OfficeSthtegic
Services during the war.”

Hidden behind the President’'s compliment was tlet fa
that Donovan was shut out from the formation of @& be-
cause of a major character flaw: he had a strosiikdiof or-
ganization. Whether Donovan was really the righhrfa the
job of chief of America’s first intelligence sereids debat-
able. Success in covert operations depends upaffiarent
bureaucracy and good judgment in authority. In meages
Donovan displayed neither. At heart he was an iattivho
did not even like the personalities of conventioadinistra-
tors. Stewart Alsop said that he ran OSS ‘“like antyy edi-
tor.”

“In every respect, OSS was Donovan'’s child,” OSSdii
rian R. Harris Smith wrote. “He nourished the ageir its
infancy, and it bore the stamp of his personalfitfhat stamp
carried over into the new peacetime intelligencenay, the
CIA, the first in American history.

But while Donovan was the grandfather of the crgpto
racy, its techniques and much of the rationale rimelihem
were the work of the Dulles brothers. The followisyiew of
the Dulles’ rise to prominence shows the mannewirich
cryptocrats form their liaisons.

On the evening of the day South Korea was invaded,
President Truman had hastily returned to Washinfitmm his
home in Independence, Missouri. He gathered hiscipal
advisors together at the White House to discussether-
gency. Unanimously, his advisors recognized thevityraof
the situation and agreed with Gen. Omar Bradlegn tthe
head of the Chiefs of Staff, who said the intelige reports
indicated Russia was “not yet ready for war, bukarea they
are obviously testing us, and the line ought taltaavn now.”

Quickly, Truman ordered Gen. Douglas MacArthur to
provide military protection for the delivery of asnto the
South Koreans and to evacuate American dependdati-
structed the military chiefs “to prepare the neaegsrders for
the eventual use of American units.” On the follogviday he
said he was convinced that “the Republic of Koreaded
help at once if it was not to be overrun.”
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Truman was given CIA reports which indicated that K
rea was a repetition, on a larger scale, of thdirBblockade.
The intelligence reports further indicated that tioKorean
Communists would eventually prove to be a threalapan,
Formosa, and the American base on Okinawa. It haditst
time the “domino theory” was used.

The President, acting on the advice of the CIAeoed
MacArthur to give immediate naval and air suppartthe
South Korean army, without allowing him to ordes kioops
to cross the Thirty-eighth Parallel. (This act odwing a po-
litical rather than a strategic boundary set thecedent in
Asia for the use of the same tactic later in thetvam cam-
paign.)

MacArthur's zeal and military instinct disposed him
blindness concerning such arbitrary boundaries.e}{essed
urge to attack China with nuclear weapons eventuell to
his unprecedented dismissal by Truman. MacArthuy have
had the knowledge and the skill to win the Koreamfiict
unconditionally, but such a military victory in thight of his-
tory did not fit into the long-range war of attoiti the cryptoc-
racy supported as a tool of the military-industréamplex,
against the Communists.

Domestic politics also served to compound the poofer
the new cryptocracy, which was then cutting itsthean
Southeast Asia. In 1952, when Dwight D. Eisenhowes
elected President of the United States, he appbiidén Fos-
ter Dulles as Secretary of State, and allowed Fssieother
Allen, who was then the CIA’s “deputy director fplans”™—
the clandestine operations branch of CIA—to takeralirec-
torship of the CIA one year later.

According to Townsend Hoopes, who served in bo#h th
Truman and Johnson administrations, though thessesde
sown by Truman, it was under the Eisenhower adtnaiien
that the Cold War was “pervasively institutionatizen the
United States.” He described the Cold War’s chiehifesta-
tions as “. . . a strident moralism, a self-righte@and often
apocalyptic rhetoric, a determined effort to rirfge tSoviet
Union and China with anti-Communist military all@es, a
dramatic proliferation of American overseas miltdrases,
and a rising flow of American military equipment fimreign
armies accompanied by American officers and mepraowide
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training and advice. The posture of imperative,altot
confrontation,” he said, “thus came to full devetegnt during
the Eisenhower period. By 1960, the United Stategem-
ment was not only positioned and determined tora@sthe
major Communist powers, but also determined—throagh
implicit extension of logic and the inertial momemt
generated by a large and powerful military-foreigfiairs
bureaucracy—to control the pace and character ¢fiqad
change everywheré.”

In the chill of the Cold War, few Americans rememexe
that John Foster Dulles had been pro-Nazi befotéeHin-
vaded Poland. No one thought, either, to questierfact that
while John Foster Dulles was running the State Ciept,
and therefore dealing with friendly governments brother
Allen was running the CIA, which he once descritesda
State Department for dealing with unfriendly goveants. No
one seemed at all disturbed by the Dulles dynastgl,only a
handful of people realized to what extent the Dulieothers
held power in the Eisenhower administration.

Lieutenant Colonel L. Fletcher Prouty (USAF) wag th
Pentagon’s chief briefing officer assigned to thail& House
during the Eisenhower administration. He workedelp with
Allen Dulles in coordinating military support foheé various
clandestine political operations undertaken by @ié&. He
knew the intimate working arrangements of the Bulieoth-
ers and of the cryptocracy they were building.

In his book The Secret TeamColonel Prouty gave a
glimpse of how the Dulles brothers “worked” the fdent:
“That evening, before his usual tennis game onbhiskyard
court, Allen Dulles dropped by his brother's seeddouse
just off Massachusetts Avenue and discussed theatipe
[which involved an amphibious plane and a Polidbtfb be
run under a CIA business cover]. Foster agreed Histn-
hower would go along with it. He walked over to thvall
lined with bookshelves and picked up the speciatentele-
phone that connected directly with the White Hoaperator.
All he said was ‘Is the man busy?’

“Foster Dulles opened with, ‘Boss, how did you do a
Burning Tree today? . . . Well, six holes is bettean nothing
. .. Yes, I've been talking here with Allen. Hesha proposal
he wants to clear with you. He feels it is very ortant, and it
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will lift the morale of Frank’s boys. [Frank Wisnaras then
Director of Intelligence Clandestine Operationsguyknow,
since Korea and Guatemala you haven't had themgdoin
much. Will you see him tomorrow morning? Fine. Hew’
Mamie? O.K. boss, I'll speak to Allen . . . 9:30 . Thank
you—good night!’

“There was not much left to do,” Prouty said, “titight
would be scheduled.”

A relevant analysis of “the brother act” is providby
David Wise and Thomas Ross. “[The Dulles brothersbod-
ied the dualism—and indeed the moral dilemma—oftéthi
States foreign policy since World War Il . . . FersDulles
reflected the American ethic; the world as we stidile it to
be. While he took this public position, his brotheas free to
deal with nastier realities, to overturn governrsesaid to en-
gage in backstage political maneuvers all overglbbe with
the CIA’s almost unlimited funds . . .

“This is not to say that the same two-sided forgigticy
would never have evolved had the director of tha @hd the
Secretary of State not been brothers. It veryyikebuld have.
But the natural friction between the objective anethods of
the diplomats and the ‘spooks,” between the Staealftment
and the CIA, was to an extent reduced becauseeotlitse
working relationship of the Dulles brothers. Theras conse-
quently less of a check and balant®.”

John Foster and Allen Dulles had worked togethéorbe
coming to government. Foster was the star attooiekhe in-
ternational law firm of Sullivan and Cromwell. Hersuaded
his partners to take Allen in “to soften up custestiewhich
Allen had a great gift for. Eventually, Sullivanda@romwell
sent Allen to Berlin to negotiate private affairitwthe Ger-
man industrial barons before the war. After the tuake out,
he was sent to Switzerland with OSS, where, undeer; he
used his former business contacts inside Germarsupply
information for his many spectacular single-handiet|li-
gence coups against the Axis.

Though Allen Dulles was more gifted as a diplonfent
his elder brother Foster, it was Foster who carcdresidered
the mastermind of the Cold War Aberration. Fosteyed
upon the fear of Communists and implemented theldaor
policing foreign policy of the Pax Americana whielkientu-
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ally led to our involvement in Vietnam. It was @®ld War
campaign at home that made citizens tremble in dé&om-
munist attack and their children crouch under sthesks in
atomic air-raid drills. It was John Foster Dullés,the com-
pany of men like Senator Joe McCarthy and RichaiscbiN
who presented the specter of the Communist meradbet
American public. They convinced the nation that ¢benmu-
nists were about to unleash a global war and ewdireat nu-
clear attack upon the United States.

During Eisenhower’s 1952 campaign for the presigienc
he promised to “peacefully bring about freedom tfee cap-
tive nations.” John Foster Dulles later repeateskffower’s
promise, omitting, however, the word “peacefully.”

Lest we judge John Foster Dulles unfairly by thenst
dards of our own time, it must be said that, torhiad, there
must haveseemedo have been good reasons for invoking the
Communist threat. As Senator Frank Church’s (195&)ate
Committee to Study Governmental Operations saidiie€x-
tent to which the urgency of the Communist thread Ibe-
come shared perception is difficult to appreciate.”

More likely, there was another, more insidious osafor
the Cold War: the economy. A glance at a historgraph of
the American business cycle will show that since €ivil
War, economic depressions tend to precede andwdlids.
wars. Dulles’ generation came to power in World Wafter
having suffered the longest and deepest depressidmeri-
can history. It could be considered natural fomte overre-
act to the recessions of 1945-46 and 1949-50 byeifuimgy
war—hot or cold—to feed the military-industrial leasf the
economy. The research and development of deatingeal
technology created the need for unprecedented csecide
instrument of keeping those secrets was the crygptyc

The Cold War strategy proved to be economically- suc
cessful. Without having to risk a full-scale nuclegar and
simply by arming the world against communism through
weapons marketing, propaganda, and the psycholog@a
fare of the Cold War scheme, the United Stateseaeldi a
capital goods boom unequaled in modern historghénmost
simple terms, arms constituted the bulk of Unitedtes ex-
ports from World War Two to the present and figuesdthe
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single most important industry which maintained theited
States trade balance.

The central core of the Dulles brothers’ Americam-
tainment policy grew from the CIA’s covert operaisoand
propaganda efforts. The mood of those times iecedt in a
top-secret report submitted by the second Hoovenr@igsion
to President Eisenhower in September, 1954, anc: rpablic
by former CIA man Harry Rositzke. The report urgde
United States to make its “. . . aggressive copsyichologi-
cal, political, and paramilitary organization moeéfective,
more unique, and if necessary, more ruthless thah ém-
ployed by the enemy . . . We are facing an implecabemy
whose avowed objective is world domination by whate
means and at whatever cost. There are no rulaghna game
... We ... must learn to subvert, sabotage, gauiroy our
enemies by more clever, more sophisticated, anc reffec-
tive methods than those used against us . . ."

According to Rositzke “The next year a National \8é&g
Council directive reaffirmed the Executive’s commént to
covert operations. It instructed the CIA to conéncreating
problems for ‘International Communism,” to reducts i
strength and its control worldwide, and to ‘incredise capac-
ity and the will of peoples and nations to resigetnational
Communism. It specifically reaffirmed CIA’s authiyrito
develop underground resistance and facilitate ¢t guer-
rilla operations.™*

Although the Cold War is generally said to datenfro
1948, with the Berlin Blockade and the Greek cwdr, John
Foster Dulles contributed to its architecture befoe came to
office in 1953. He epitomized the fearful gestdlhis genera-
tion, took hold of the floundering Cold War stragegnd
molded it with his personality. He was fond of gogtAlex-
ander Hamilton, who wrote in tHeederalist Papers“safety
from external danger is the most powerful directbnational
conduct.” Hamilton’s statement, when taken at faetue,
seems quite innocent. But in the context of JohstdfdDulles’
materialistic and puritan upbringing, it is notfiiélt to see
how he construed it to mean something quite diffetban
Hamilton intended. Hamilton’s thoughts gave Dulldse
moral rationale to try to motivate national polticindustrial,
and economic conduct by posing an overwhelmingreate
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danger—the threat of a nuclear war initiated by ‘ihéerna-
tional Communist conspiracy.”

If, at the end of World War II, the growth of oucam-
omy, still the strongest and richest in the woddj depend
upon the military-industrial complex for sustenanten Dul-
les’ Cold War saved the U.S. from certain recessWithout
the threat of communism, what could the free world have
armed against? And if the health of the U.S. econoantin-
uesto depend on that merger of military and industirdér-
ests, then we may well expect to see efforts andetcollapse
and the Cold War resume as the already inflatechamemts
industry expands.

In his farewell address to the nation in 1960, ilesd Ei-
senhower issued his famous warning about the myilita
industrial complex:

“Our military organization today bears little retat to
that known of any of my predecessors in peacetine-ie
deed, by fighting men of World War Il or Korea. Wrthe
latest of our world conflicts, the United Statesl o arma-
ments industry. We annually spend on military sitgw@alone
more than the net income of all United States c@fpans.

“Now this conjunction of an immense military esiaht
ment and a large arms industry is new in the Ana@riexperi-
ence. The total influence—economic, political, evepiri-
tual—is felt in every city, every state house, gveffice of
the federal government. We recognize the imperateed for
this development. Yet we must not fail to comprehéts
grave implications. In the councils of governmemng must
guard against the acquisition of unwarranted imfage
whether sought or unsought, by the military-indastcom-
plex. The potential for the disastrous rise of Haispd power
exists and will persist.

“We must never let the weight of this combinationan-
ger our liberties or democratic processes. We shaeoake
nothing for granted.”

Eisenhower accurately predicted the course of Hhisto
“The prospect of domination of the nation’s schelay fed-
eral employment, project allocations, and the posfenoney
is ever present and is gravely to be regarded.

“Yet, in holding scientific research and discovenyre-
spect, as we should, we must be alert to the exneabpposite
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danger that public policy could itself become tlagtore of a
scientific-technological elite.”

The Cold WamwasWorld War lll—a war waged largely
with words. Yet the men who had won World War llttwi
advanced weaponry were less artful in the useeohw psy-
chological warfare. As the Cold War escalated, pgamda
was followed by sabotage, assassinations, “paranyili cov-
ert operations, and limited “police actions.”

America had traditionally been a free and openetgci
But after the war, U.S. leaders held in their haswlswesome
technological superiority. While being the love @ttj of gov-
ernment, the new technologies, especially nuclasrgy,
made the leaders fearful of losing their monopdlgat fear
gave rise to the belief that new secret agencidsoperations
were needed to guard against technological theftfoteign
governments. The Cold War was a “secret” war inengays
than one.

The psychological war, originally waged only agains
“enemy” countries, was nevertheless created at hdimeas
used within the United States, against beliefsfegel thought,
by a secret bureaucracy which is still supportedaliythe
power of the federal government, but which operatgside
the chain of government command. It is a secre¢dusracy
become paranoid—a cryptocracy mad with world power.

Although the Central Intelligence Agency has loregi
the convenient symbol for all those who have conedit
atrocities in the name of national security, thereebureauc-
racy, the cryptocracy, doe®t consist solely of the CIA. It is
as well a vast network of alliances betweedividualsin a
number of government agencies normally thoughtembt-
side the intelligence field.

Since the cryptocracy violates every constitutiguréhci-
ple as a matter of course, and commits every cknwavn to
man in the interest of “national security,” it catrentirely
rely on the patriotism of its agents to keep itsrets. There-
fore, no single individual is told more than he laateed to
know.”

The cryptocracy is a brotherhood reminiscent of dhe
cient secret societies, with rites of initiatiordandoctrination
programs to develop in its loyal membership thecipain-
derstanding of its mysteries. It has secret codesaaths of
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silence which reinforce the sense of elitism neagsfor the
maintenance of its strict loyalty. It is automatedganized in
the mode of a computer, where all have access terge
knowledge and the most obvious aims and goalswére
the individual is isolated by tribal rituals andngoartmentali-
zation.

It is a technocratic organization without ideolodgyal
only to an unspoken, expedient, and undefined giggmn. Its
members are anonymous. Its funds are secret. &€satipnal
history is secret. Even its goals are secret. d& éegenerative
disease of the body politic which has grown ramiyant
spreading so invisibly that after nearly four dezsmdts exis-
tence is known only to a handful of “decision maier

The cryptocracy is designed to function like a niaehit
also has the feelings of a machine—none at all, Bnlitke a
machine, it does have ambition. To it, human beiags so
much cheap hardware who perform certain set funstio
which produce certain predetermined results. Theyalued
relative to cost and efficiency. The cryptocracytie perfect
cybernetic organism—pure logic at the planning lleve
nothing but automatic response in the field.

If a prospective agent cannot be recruited by grealpto
patriotism, he is bribed. If he cannot be bribed,i$ black-
mailed. If he refuses to be blackmailed, he is ¢pammed.”
If all these falil, he is killed, for it must not b&own that he
had ever been approached—so important is “natiseal-
rity.”

It is sometimes hard to determine whether the ograicy
is working for or against the interests of the WP&sident, to
whom its constituent agencies are supposed to dmiatable.
Many of its crimes, now a matter of public reconshuld indi-
cate that it has often worked against, the Presidehas we
know, worked against the U.S. Constitution andAhgerican
people. It has needlessly caused the death of @migeople
who were working for it, just as it has tortureddanurdered
those who have stood in its way. Documented atesciénd
criminal blunders have been revealed by congreakiones-
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tigations, yet no one has been brought to trlattle congres-
sional, judicial, or executive action has been matelimit its
power or ferret out its leaders. Figureheads haeenb
changed, but therganizationand the National Security Act
which has bred this cancer remains in essenckanged.

The cryptocracy serves big business and spendd go
deal of time and energy supplying American corgoret with
industrial intelligence. These favors, offered oty those
companies friendly to the cryptocracy, may be réfmsi such
things as political campaign contributions to caadks who
are either sympathetic to or compromised by th@togracy.
In the past the cryptocracy has supported bothigorand
domestic politicians with such campaign contribogio

The “old boy network” of retired cryptocrats workin
within major corporations plays an important role the
cryptocracy’s international influence. Secret fuads shunted
not only from one agency of government to anotbet,also
from agency to corporation and then, under covethefcor-
poration’s legal business activities, throughoué tworld,
wherever expediency dictates.

Through its authorized functions, the cryptocracgteols
the United States government. It feeds the exegutianch
“intelligence reports” which are often slanted auwmetimes
falsified, so that the policy decisions which resull be those
which fit the cryptocracy’s game plan.

Like a fifteenth century Machiavellian princedonatinas
been computerized and automated, the cryptocrasyshs-
tematically manipulated the American consciousnBggusti-
fying its existence by citing an exaggerated danfyjem
communism, it has justified itswn totalitarianism by con-
vincing key politicians that fire must be foughtthvifire. The
practices of the cryptocracy, once officially sameed only in
operations outside the U.S., have become inteedhliZhose
practices have included spying, stealing, blacknzaitl mur-
der, even within the borders of the country it ipgosed to
protect and defend.

" Since the completion of this book, former CIA Di@cRichard
Helms was given a two-year suspended sentenceradi$2,000 for
lying to the United States Congress about the ClA®lvement in
the overthrow of Chile’s Allende government.
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There is nothing hypocritical about the KGB’s emplo
ment of totalitarian, police-state tactics. The iBbequivalent
of the CIA, the KGB, is an extension of the Soweititical
system, whichs totalitarian. Neither is there anything hypo-
critical about the Chinese use of “brainwashing”American
POWs in Korea. The Chinese have “brainwashed” tareka
half million of their own people, though generathey used
techniques less drastic than starvation, sleepriqggon, and
isolation. But the U.S. cryptocracy is the ultimégpocrisy,
subversive to its own government's democratic $tmec It
operates with methods which are not permitted irstrte-
mocracies and certainly not permitted by the Ctutstn of
the United States.

In war, a successful campaign greatly depends tipen
element of surprise. Since the beginning of humiaputes,
warriors have found it desirable to keep their regths and
weaknesses concealed.

The use of new technology has been both the strengt
the surprise which so often has determined theoougc of
war. The first elephant to be outfitted with spilkegl used in
battle was as great a terror to the bow-and-arrawior as the
atomic bomb was to the Japanese.

The cryptocracy has long known that the only wagain
maintain the upper hand in the global power gante s&ay in
the vanguard of technology. To that end it has eysgd all
the research and development the federal governcaariuy.

Since World War Il the cryptocracy has used eletgtro
technology to manipulate foreign peoples as well tiaes
American people through a campaign of carefullynpéd
Misinformation, disinformation, and propaganda. Thgptoc-
racy's existence depends upon such manipulatioPuiflic
belief. Since it cannot openly argue its causeglies upon
persuasion and indoctrination to accomplish itslggaad win
support for its ends.

The existence of the cryptocracy also depends apsn-
lute secrecy. Without it they are powerless. Thnesdryptoc-
racy’s attempt to control information at its soureie human
mind.

It was the CIA which instigated and directed thiéahre-
search, and with an invisible hand, kept each gmfugcien-
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tists isolated from the other. Each group reseagchmind
control was kept apart from other groups conductiimgulta-
neous interfacing experiments, so that no one éxtep
Agency would be able to put all the pieces of thezte to-
gether.

Bases for mind-control techniques already existedci-
entific literature, but in a fragmented, incompleéad unas-
similated state. The cryptocracy enlisted the didaeentists
who then developed these fragments into usablenigeés.
These scientists worked independently, each onamdysmall
part of the overall plan. And, by and large, thegrevignorant
of the intended use of the final product of thesaarch.

Operation Mind Control was not the plan of a mark of
intelligence; it did not stop at intelligence gathg, but went
on to instigate active operations on its own. Thosespira-
cies against freedom which were revealed by thestga-
tions into Watergate, the intelligence communityd anultina-
tional corporations are minor compared to the cwasp of
mind control which has developed in this countrjthdugh
the first victims of Operation Mind Control wereerpaps,
especially suitable personality types for such usith the
advances being made in the psycho-sciences ak lienv of
us may eventually be victimized.

The power of mind control resides in its use asesor
security technique; as such it is almost as fodpms that
employed by the great Pharaoh of Egypt, who, eneahwaith
the slaves who carried him to his final restingcplehad those
same slaves killed and buried along with him sot thid
knowledge of access to the tomb would remain sefoureen-
turies. Mind control arranges that “slaves” of theelligence
community—witnesses, couriers, and assassins—are- “p
tected” from their own memories and guilt by amaeSihese
“slaves” may be left alive, but the knowledge thpmssess is
buried deep within the tombs of their own minds tegh-
nigues which can keep the truth hidden even froomséhwvho
have witnessed it. It is the ultimate debriefirngg final secu-
rity measure short of assassination.

The conspiracy of mind control veils the secretlbfse-
crets. It hides the cabal which possesses its poseethat,
even if the CIA and the other intelligence agenciesre
closed down tomorrow, the cryptocracy would cordinio
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function, for as with the Mafia, “once you are amier,
you're a member for life.” The power of mind cortrand
ultimately of the cryptocracy that uses it, resiadgth those
who have culled the fruits of psycho-science sittoe late
1930s; they now possess the mature body of knowleggn
which the coercive art is built.

To review the labyrinth of events: Out of the natuear
of technology grew an unnatural reliance on secr8egrecy
led to covert control and produced a well-organiesitution
of national security. Institutionalized secrecyedied covert
research and produced Operation Mind Control, thienate
technology of secrecy and control.






Chapter Ten

BRAVE NEW WORLD
IN A SKINNER BOX

The cryptocracy’s search for reliable mind-contmaéth-
ods was one of the most far-reaching secret pj@eotr un-
dertaken. In addition to research and developmendrigs
and hypnosis, CIA funds and cryptocracy guidanae giape-
tus to a number of behavior modification projecsried out
in federal prisons and mental institutions. Mosth# projects
were arranged secretly so that recipients of tmelguwould
have no way of knowing that the CIA was backing the
search.

Even if theyhad known of the CIA’s involvement, their
interest in behavior modification probably wouldt ntave
been dampened. Previously called conditioned refiexapy
behavior modification, in the sixties and seventwss be-
coming the most popular tool of psycho-science esiig-
mund Freud asked his first patient to lie downlomn¢ouch.

Behavior modification is based on conditioning, but
“conditioning” is a big word for a simple form oédrning in
which a reaction is evoked by an outside actiore fidaction
is called a response; the outside action is callstimulus.

In 1927 Pavlov won the Nobel Prize for his discovefra
method of making dogs salivate at the ringing dfetl. Sali-
vating dogs were not much good to anyone, and s med for
making dogs drool that Pavlov was so honored. He k-
ored with the world’s most prestigious award forking dogs
drool on cue He called his process “conditioning.” The dogs’
involuntary response, he called a “reflex.” Paviodiscover-
ies provided the breakthrough which behavioral reme
needed to begin to control the human mind.
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Pavlov had begun in 1906 by seeking a simple motiel
the activity of the brain. He decided that thesaly reflex in
dogs could be just such a model, so he raided dgepdund
and cut holes in the animals’ cheeks to implant sugag
devices for the flow of saliva.

By regularly ringing a bell just before feeding tdegs,
he found that the stimulus—the sound of the bell—
intrinsically unrelated to food, began to evoke Hadivation
that had initially been observed only when the dagse eat-
ing. His patient studies revealed that the qualdye, and fre-
guency of salivation changed depending upon thétguaate,
and frequency of the stimuli.

Pavlov's experiments with dogs have been repeated n
merous times by different scientists with the saeseilts. Sci-
ence now agrees that when a hungry dog is giveiece f
meat immediately after a bell rings, and when phcedure is
repeated a number of times the bell alone will poedthe
flow of saliva almost as if the bell and not theatneere acti-
vating the glands. When the bell rings, not onl}} aiproperly
conditioned dog salivate but his ears will stand hggll turn
toward the food source, and even make anticipatbewing
movements. Conditioned reflexes in dogs, howewveradong
way from the conditioning ofolitional thinking in humans.

But Pavlov established the groundwork by which any-
one's emotional stability (Pavlov called it “perpat equali-
bration”) and sanity could be reliably balancedinbalanced
To that end the Soviets, and later the People’suBl&p of
China, employed Pavlov's new science for the cosatif the
totalitarian state.

While the general public in the West may continnes-
sociate behavior modification with Pavlov’'s conaliting of
dogs, the science is actually an ancient onesimddern form
it has its roots in the works of Descartes whol@64, put
forward the idea that every activity of an organisrthe reac-
tion to an external stimulus. Experimental studetest Des-
cartes’ idea did not begin until several centutasr. Then,
simultaneously experimentation began in a numbedlifér-
ent countries.

At the same time Pavlov was experimenting with diogs
Russia, John B. Watson was experimenting with hrian
the United States. Watson was the founder of theierist
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school psychology in the 1920s. His most notoriaasom-
plishment was his series of experiments on an aleventh-
old infant known to history as Little Albert.

Watson showed Little Albert a white rat and thedie-
acted naturally and tried to pet and cuddle thenahi After
Albert had established a playful rapport with tld MWatson
began to aversely condition the lad. Each timerétewvould
come into Albert's view, Watson would beat the flauth a
steel bar and produce a deafening sound. Quiteratlgtu
whenever Albert heard the sound he would jump Writfht.
Eventually Albert associated the loud sound with white rat
and became frightened of it. Every time the rat €anto his
view he would begin to cry.

Albert became so aversely conditioned to the rat te
would exhibit fear whenever any small animal camte ihis
view. He became so conditioned that he reacted wadfial
fear to rabbits, dogs, and a sealskin coat—in stmenything
with fur.

Quite proudly Dr. Watson exclaimed, “Give me théypa
and I'll make it climb and use its hands in consting build-
ings of stone or wood . . . I'll make it a thiefganman or a
dope fiend. The possibilities of shaping in anyediion are
almost endless. Even gross differences in anatdrsiieecture
limits are far less than you may think . . . Makenta deaf
mute, and | will still build you a Helen Keller ...Men are
built, not born.*

Watson saw things, as Pavlov did, in physical dmehd-
cal terms. He was not interested in anything beyorett and
observable behavior. And Watson was only the first long
line of American psycho-scientists who were to take
mechanistic path to control of the mind.

Pavlov and Watson'’s classical conditioning did rinamiy-
ever, go far in producing a reliable science ofdrtontrol. In
the late thirties Harvard psychologist Burrhus Engk Skin-
ner discovered new principles of conditioning whalltowed
more complete control.

Skinner came up with what he callegerant condition-
ing. It was based on the idea that reinforcementrgpetition
of either a positive or a negative response tocéiorg was at
the root of all learned behavior. The distinctiatweenclas-
sical and operantconditioning was made only because differ-
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ent techniques were used to elicit the responsesssence,
the effects of either kind of conditioning were game.

The three most common methods of modern behavior
therapy are operant conditioning, aversion therapy, desen-
sitization.

Operant conditioning is the reinforcement of certae-
havior by reward (usually food), often accomparbgdsimul-
taneous sound or light stimulation. Reinforcementantin-
gent upon the occurrence of the response, ancethiorcing
mechanisms are often built into the environment.ewhats
are used as subjects, the device to be operatethas which,
when depressed, delivers the reward of food or iwétethis
situation the behavior which is reinforced is thegsing of the
bar. It makes no difference how the bar is presabéther the
rat presses the bar with its paw, nose, or taiceOthe bar is
pressed, the operation has been performed andnthelais
rewarded. The dependent variable in operant camditiy is
the response rate—the number of times the bar d@sspd.
Response rate, or the frequency of the response impor-
tant factor in judging the success of the operantitioning.

Aversion therapy is a technique in which an uncdxé
response is inhibited by a painful or unpleasaimfoecement
such as electric shock, noxious odors, or any fgalenwhich
produces fear and avoidance. It is an ancient fafrcounter-
conditioning, or punishment, which has been widggd in
the treatment of homosexuality, stuttering, andladdism.

In desensitization the subject is first trainedrétax be-
yond his normal state. He is then presented withges which
evoke mild anxiety. At first the images are verydnand they
are repeated until the subject shows no anxietyenTh
stronger image is introduced and the process isatep. Fi-
nally the subject becomes desensitized to everstitomgest
image. Desensitization has been used to relievplpad pho-
bic fears and anxieties.

Skinner began his experiments by building a nundfer
boxes in which pigeons were required to run manespess
levers to receive the rewards of birdseed. By maatmg the
way the reward was given, Skinner found that hdccoantrol
the rate and the style of the lever pressing.

Eventually Skinner was able to get pigeons to bot a
weave in prescribed ways. He was even able to iges o
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distinguish colors by having them peck only at tevef spe-
cific colors for food. He soon learned to obtaistjabout any
kind of behavior he desired from a number of défarani-
mals.

Skinner concluded that every action is determingdhie
environment and that all behavior is “shaped anéhtamed
by its consequences.” The behaviorists’ mechaniséa of
man was summed up by Skinner when he said, “If rog-*
chine’ you simply mean any system which behaveaniror-
derly way, then man and all other animals are nmash?

Skinner’'s subsequent research, however, showedé&iat
havior which is supported by continuous rewardpstehen
the rewards are withheld. Further experimentatfmwsed that
by shifting from continuous to intermittent rewayrtise behav-
ior could be kept going even though the rewardsaibecless
frequent. This discovery made behaviorism a practcience,
for now it could explain how behavior was maintairia the
real world.

With unshakable faith in his own science, Dr. Skinn
built a large box with a glass window on one sillevas a
soundproof cage, much like the ones he'd used perxents
with pigeons and monkeys. But this box was fordreih, and
into it Skinner put his own child.

This “Skinner box” was about as large as a spacioilis
The temperature of the box was carefully controlladd
Skinner testified proudly that “crying and fussioguld al-
ways be stopped by slightly lowering the temperatuwith
the soundproof box, Skinner was “never concernatl tlee
doorbell, telephone, piano, or children at play véke baby .
..” And, he added, “soundproofing also protects thmily
from the baby.?

Apparently Skinner's scheme to produce “socialized”
children was not so successful. In the opiniorhefkindergar-
ten teacher of Skinner’s youngest daughter, whorbkadived
the “benefits” of spending her early childhood &r ldaddy’s
box, she was not an obedient automaton, but arratide-
pendent and even rebellious chli&omehow Skinner’s pro-
gramming of his offspring must have failed in higroterms,
for it would appear from his writings that Skinreitleas are
quite in line with the dreams of the cryptocratsowlvould
seek to control us all.
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In his popular worlkBeyond Freedom and Dignjtgkin-
ner wrote: “The problem is to free men, not fronmirol, but
from certain kinds of control, and it can be solgady if our
analysis takes all consequences into account. Hmplp feel
about control . . . does not lead to useful disitims.”

Skinner is not only concerned with controlling ividu-
als, he desires to build a controlled society,ddtem crib to
coffin by behavior modification. “The intentionaésign of a
culture and the control of human behavior it implége essen-
tial if the human species is to continue to devglop said.

Today B. F. Skinner is the center of a personalitly. He
is the guru and founder of the modern psycho-pbpby
which holds that it is morally and ethically persiide to
change the behavior of others as well as to modihers’
belief. About belief Skinner writes, “People mustibve that
what they are doing has some chance of obtaininat Wiey
want or avoiding something to which they are aveBséd the
chances are in the contingencies. The relationebitfs to
other conditions, such as wants and needs, canabiy e
stated: to say that desires enter into the causafideliefs is
simply to say that the probability of behavior witthich a
belief is associated depends not only upon reiefoent but
upon a state of deprivation or aversive stimulatibn

Aversion stimulation was the process upon which the
Cold War faith was built. The Cold War faith, inru loosed
the cryptocracy upon the world to murder, maimyape the
minds of any who posed a real threat to its gobtdefending
the free world from communism.”

In the words of Lewis Andrews and Marvin KarlingHe
world is, in a sense, one large ‘Skinner box’’> And if this
is not already true, it soon may be, because trerdehavior-
ists at work in practically every federal and statitution, as
well as in the private sector.

Using federal and state institutions for testingposes
provided many benefits to the cryptocracy. The\cfiomed as
recruitment centers, where selected criminals weleased to
the custody of career spooks who could apply thkiifs in
undercover work. Prisons were also valuable tegmgnds.

Philip Hilts, describing the attitude prevalentboth the
cryptocracy and prison bureaucracies, wrote: “Tlaeethree
possibilities for criminals. The first is deterreiteep them
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from doing it again. The second is punishment: Kaibe hell
out of the bastards; they deserve it. The thirdréstment:
They're defective; let's fix them” Behaviorists who work
the prison circuit hold that the last is the onlynfane way of
reducing recidivism. Perhaps. But one also beginsense in
such theorizing a preview of what is to come fog thhole
society.

“These behavioral engineers are growing mightily
numbers and influence, nourished by a law-and-oadenini-
stration that though riddled by corruption itsel§n still de-
liver the material goods,” wrote David Rorvich. ‘Byhare not
out to change the world but to make man adjudt theéy seek
results, not understanding. A thick-skinned lotytlare, not
loath to admit the crudity of some of their techrgqg, claim-
ing results that would take the more elegant psywrapies
and social reforms years to attain . . . What tleeldvneeds
now in the service of ‘curing’ its deviant and nmisele
masses, proclaim the new psycho-technologistspismore
prison reform, urban renewal, and nude group grdpesa
few well-placed corrective kilovolts in the collact brain.”

The California Medical Facility at Vacaville wasetleen-
ter of a number of behavioral research projectsdédnby
various agencies, including the Veterans Adminigtn
HEW, the Bureau of Prisons, private drug companss]
others. Many of these agencies were fronting ferGhA.

In 1973, there was a “flap” in the press over #mtihg of
drugs by these agencies under the guise of behaddifica-
tion. It was revealed that tranquilizers, depretssasedatives,
narcotic antagonists, and hypnotics were beingdest the
hospitals and prisons (see Appendix B).

Dr. Leo E. Hollister, a medical investigator foetieter-
ans Administration, defended the practice: “The nepiary
Medical Facility at Vacaville is one of the few pés in the
country where such [drug] studies are possible at.a time
when the demands for such facilities are increasingre-
sponse to an urgent public health problem, it wdaddsad to
see them denied to responsible and highly reputelbiecal
investigators.®

It is debatable whether you can characterize tlengsts
who participated in all the projects as “resporesihd highly
reputable.” It appears from the evidence that sorag rather

in
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have been, as Philip Hilts playfully suggests,
hunchbacked wart-infested evil scientists ?. .”

Perhaps the greatest danger to freedom of thoughbe-
havior is posed by the breed of psycho-scientigt® wall
themselves “behaviorists.” While most psychologistsce
concerned themselves with the study of human thoag
the rich life of the mind, the behaviorists beliebat man’s
problems can best be understood by studying hi®rect
What a man thinks, sees, feels, wants and knows#yneg
that a marnis, behaviorists believe, can be most easily under-
stood in terms of what rdoes

Behaviorism would appear to be a predictable exjwas
of materialistic cultures, East and West, whichueag¢xternals
above all else. You will seldom hear a behaviosistak of
“will” or even “mind.” These are considered unsdciéo, sub-
jective terms. Instead, the behaviorists speak afly're-
flexes” which are reinforced by conditioning frofmmet envi-
ronment. They look forward to the day when they canclu-
sively prove that conditioning begins at the momehton-
ception, and that reflexes are ultimately the \&uoff of what
was once called the soul! The science of behawopertrays
the human being as mechanistic protoplasm. The aastt-
garde behaviorists have developed an unholy alliance with
biochemists who together are exploring geneticgirt to
find the key for breeding selected behavioral ctimristics.
Certainly a person born with all his limbs will lzafe differ-
ently from a person who is born with genetic damage
without limbs. But beyond that, what some behasisriare
looking for is a genetic factor which controls anggocility,
and other personality tendencies. While many nelensitic
insights have come from behaviorism, so have many dan-
gers—especially to the freedom of choice.

“The day has come,” said Professor James V. McQpnne
head of the Department of Mental Health Resear¢heatni-
versity of Michigan, “when we can combine sensoepriva-
tion with the use of drugs, hypnosis, and the astuénipula-
tion of reward and punishment to gain almost alisatontrol
over an individual's behavior.” Dr. McConnel expsed the
sentiments of behavior modifiers who, like cryptisr be-
lieve that mankind’s salvation resides in the cointf indi-
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vidual behavior in an engineered society. But eegriad by
whom?

“ . We want to reshape our society drastically,
McConnel said, “so that all of us will be trainedrh birth to
want to do what society wants us to do. Today'sab&iral
psychologists are the architects and engineersamshaping
the Brave New World of Tomorrow®

In the practical American way—stripped for actiorhe-t
psychology profession appears to be turning awasn fpsy-
chotherapy and is becoming dependent upon the dimdela-
bor-saving practical mechanics of behavior modifara de-
pending upon principles developed largely throuajtolatory
experimentation. Voluntary as well as involuntacyi@ns can
be conditioned. Once a reflex is trained into ajesttb he be-
comes an automaton, responding to the artificiahdtis to
which he has been programmed.

When light shines into the pupil of the eye, it taats,
and when the light is removed, it dilates. Thisipary reflex
is involuntary; the individual has no conscious tcohover it,
but it can be conditioned.

C. V. Hudgins demonstrated this by conditioning ple
pil to a bell using a light as the unconditioneonsius. He
would turn on the light, which shone directly irtee subject’s
eyes at the same instant he rang a bell. The figtite the pu-
pil contract every time just as meat made Pavideg drool.

Hudgins then taught his subjects to use their oandh to
operate the bell and light mechanisms. Then he dvsaly
“contract” and the subject would press the switdthen he
said “relax” the subject would relax and turn oéitt bell and
light. After only a few hours’ training, Hudginsudod that he
could do away with the bell, the hand switch, amellight. He
had only to say the word “contract,” and the pwpiluld con-
tract.

A modern apologist of conditioning, Andrew Saltas-
serts that hypnosis in essence is the same astiooitj.
Salter said that after he had conditioned the meaflkis book
to contract his pupil, as Hudgins had done, he diéake him
to an ophthalmologist.

“Doctor,” Salter would declare, “here is a splentiigp-
notic subject. | control this person so thorougtiigt at my
command his pupil will contract, and perceptibly.”
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“Come now,” the doctor would say, “you know verylive
that pupillary contraction is involuntary. You neéght for
that.”

Salter would then tell his conditioned reader “caat,”
and the reader’s pupil would obey every time, drel doctor
would be perplexed.

“How do you like hypnotism?” Salter would ask thecel
tor.

“It's amazing,” he would answer, but his interestuld
diminish after Salter explained how, parallelingviea and
Hudgins, the reader’s pupil had been condition&delt,” he
would say, “come back next time when you have soeat
hypnotism.”

“Our doctor is wrong,” Salter said. “There, in tbendi-
tioned reflex, he had seen the essence of hypr@sis. par-
enthetically, when we see that the essence of higmas
conditioning—or quite loosely, that the essencéhef‘uncon-
scious mind’ is conditioning—we are in a strategisition to
develop a sound understanding of the deepest wieldsp of
human behavior)**

The cryptocracy, having discovered the wondersypF h
nosis, drugs, behavior modification, and even mmneolu-
tionary electrical and sonic manipulations of thait, learned
how to reliably control individual behavior. Whether not
the Constitution protects the individual’'s free ubt and
speech, and whether one regards mind control adagenor a
necessary tool for social engineering, one mugigeize that
the power to control the mind exists—and is beiggadi

Did Philip Hilts know how close he’d come when He o
fered his chilling description of the crypto-belarists? He
wrote: “Suppose a dozen controllers with that iatle twitch
for power are meeting, now, in some secret mourtalin.
There, amid piles of rat-behavior charts, rows wimalative
recorders, and reams of human-foibles data, thegesigning
an environment. They are creating blueprints feystem that
would produce the most terrible, violent, and atial people
possible 2



Chapter Eleven
A SCHOOL FOR ASSASSINS

The cryptocracy recruited their assassins from amon

people who had already demonstrated a violent @apeople
who had few reservations about taking human life.Hdmi-
cidal maniacs were recruited because they couldbaoton-
trolled. The cryptocracy needed killers who woutd murder
on impulse, but only upon command.

Once selected, the assassin candidates were toveedo
the military, where, under the guise of “combatdirass”
training, they underwent a complete program of é@oomng.
Graduates of the program would forever after ath withless
efficiency. They would eliminate local politicaldders in a
foreign country, or undertake “search and destroigsions in
violation of national and international laws. Thewpuld be
given the cover that would allow them to enter Bareign
Service; or they would pose as embassy marine guard

In July, 1975, the&Sunday Timem London quoted a U.S.
Navy psychologist who admitted that U.S. Naval lligence
had taken convicted murderers from military prisocendi-
tioned them as political assassins, and then pldlcenh in
American embassies around the world. This admissame
shortly after the Senate Intelligence Committee beolded
the CIA for plotting a number of political assasdions
around the world. From the congressional reportsydver,
one got the feeling that the cryptocracy was bahgstised
not for the assassinations it had successfullyraptiehed, but
for those which it had attempted, but failed. Tlerapts on
the life of Fidel Castro drew the greatest noticanf the con-
gressional committees and the press.
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According to theSunday Timestory, naval psychologist
Lt. Comdr. Thomas Narut was assigned to the U.gidRal
Medical Center at Naples, Italy. When he first mpdblic the
navy's part in programming assassins, he was attgnd

NATO conference in Oslo on “Dimensions of Stressdl an

Anxiety.” In attendance at that conference were i&fcholo-
gists of all descriptions and from many countriggny of
them were involved in research on how to improve’'siabil-
ity to cope with stress, but none of them felt ceitgul, as
Narut did, to discuss their work so fully or sorfkéy.

The stated objective of the conference was to exgha
information on how soldiers and people in difficidbs could
cope with stress. Dr. Narut's talk was on “The W@ Sym-
bolic Model and Verbal Intervention in Inducing aRe&duc-
ing Stress.” His speech began with a plug for theyn He
knew, he said, that many of the scientists prebadt often
encountered problems in their purely scientificesesh be-
cause of the military’s inclination to researchtthauld yield
quick and useful results. He sympathized with theke had
trouble getting subjects, funds, or both, out & thilitary for
their purely scientific research. But things weiféedentin the
navyhe said.

In the navy, Narut bragged, there were plenty gitiva
personnel who could be used as guinea pigs. Imakig there
was a computerized record of each man’s backgranudl
psychological profile, so that a quick selectionnaén with
suitable psychological inclinations for experimentsuld be
made. Navy psychologists not only had access topoten
ized records, but also to psychological tests amckdround
data on a large number of people. In the navy, Naaid,
funds were plentiful, and there were no problemth wians-
porting subjects for study to nearly any place hie world.
Narut stated proudly that the U.S. Navy providegkrsists
with the most advanced research facilities in toeldv

A Canadian psychologist at the conference later
marked, “Narut’s message was loud and clear—'Jognnavy
and study the world.™

In his brief discourse, Dr. Narut did no more thant at
the work he had been doing in teaching “combat inesd
units” to cope with the stress of killing. Latenwever, during
private questioning with a small group of listenérsporter

re-
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Peter Watson of th&unday Timesa former psychologist,
among them), Narut unfolded the amazing story efrtavy’s
programming of assassins on an assembly-line basis.

In his mid-thirties, Dr. Narut had just completeid Hoc-
toral dissertation on the question of whether derfitms pro-
voke anxiety, and whether forcing a man to do évaht tasks
while watching violent films would help him cope tivithe
anxiety they produced.

When pressed by Watson to explain the details isf th
kind of conditioning, Narut said that he had workeih
“combat readiness units” which included men being-p
grammed for commando-type operations and for umderc
placement at U.S. embassies. These, Narut said, Witrmen
and assassins” (Narut’s words) made ready to kibelected
countries should the need arise. Dr. Alfred Zitami, Ameri-
can delegate to the conference, was very surphgadarut’s
disclosure. “Do you think Dr. Narut realizes what has just
said?” Zitani asked. “That kind of information mums classi-
fied.”

The conditioning of Narut’'s assassins was accomgds
by audio-visual desensitization, a standard behaviadifica-
tion process. These men were “desensitized” to emayby
being shown films of people being killed or injurieda num-
ber of different ways. At first the films would sivaonly mild
forms of bloodshed. As the men became acclimatethe¢o
scenes of carnage, they would see progressivelg wioftent
scenes. The assassin candidates, Narut explaimed @ven-
tually be able to dissociate any feelings they migve from
even the goriest scenes they viewed.

Narut said that of course U.S. naval psychologisisid
have first selected the candidates for traininghgjir psycho-
logical makeup. Those selected for assassinatisigrasents
were often from submarine crews and paratroopsei®tivere
convicted murderers from military prisons who hdceady
shown a proclivity for violence.

Still others were men who had been given awards for
valor. World War Il Medal of Honor winner Audie Moiny
was a subject of extensive research.

The best killers, according to Narut, were men whom
psychologists would classify as “passive-aggressperson-
alities. These were people with strong drives tate usually
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kept under tight control. Such types were usuadimg but
from time to time would exhibit outbursts of tempmhuring
which they could literally kill without remorse. N4 said that
through psychological testing, he and his colleaguere
looking for more such men, for further conditioning

Among the tests used by the navy to determine riala-
tures was the Minnesota Multiphasic Personalityehtery,
which is used widely by educators and businessmeateter-
mine psychological qualities of students and emgpésy The
tests consist of hundreds of questions designethdasure
such personality traits as hostility, depressiaond psychopa-
thy.

According to Narut, the men selected by the temtd)y
evidence of past violence, were taken for programymo the
navy’s neuropsychiatric laboratory in San DiegolifGania,
or to the Naples medical center which employedNarut.

Audio-visual desensitization was the major techaiqu
used in programming the assassins. Psychologidaktrina-
tion completed the programming by instilling thesided
prejudicial attitudes.

The audio-visual desensitization began with thejexib
strapped into a chair with his head clamped so teatould
not look away from the screen. A special mechanse:
vented the subject’s eyelids from closing.

The candidate was then shown a film of an Africanti
being crudely circumcised by fellow members ofthise. The
youth was circumcised with a blunt knife, painfudlpd with-
out anesthetic. This well-known film is used widélypsycho-
logical experiments to create stress. Afterwar@sdandidate
was asked about details of what he had seen. Heaskex,
for example, to describe the color of the belt ba toctor’s
trousers, or the motif on the handle of the krifat tcut off the
foreskin.

The next film showed a man in a sawmill, where k$&an
were sliced from huge logs. In the operation of shev the
man slipped and cut off his fingers.

As the films progressed in gruesomeness, the oeectf
the candidate were measured by sensing devicesthdag
breathing rate, and brain waves were recorded, vergh as
on a polygraph. If the physiological responses,civhmight
have been great in the beginning, slowed down asdmed
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normal patterns as the more bloodthirsty scenes wiewed,
the candidates were judged to have completed thige sof
conditioning.

The last phase of conditioning, Narut said, wastoc-
trinate the candidates to think of their potengakemies as
inferior forms of life. By this stage, the candiéatwould have
already been selected for assignment to particcdantries.
They would be shown films and given lectures whpr-
trayed the customs and cultural habits of the fpreiountries
in a biased fashion. The people of those countsiesld be
portrayed as enemies of the United States and walerays
spoken of in demeaning terms. They were often ptedeas if
they were “less than human.” Their customs wereuldd,
and local leaders were presented as evil demagopgues if
they were legitimate political figures.

According to Dr. Narut it took only a few weeksitaloc-
trinate susceptible candidates by this processs& o were
not susceptible to the conditioning were droppetiezan the
program and returned to other assignments. Narmotiteet
that he did not have the necessary “need to kn@wdavhere
all the programmed men were sent, although at et jn
his conversation with Peter Watson, Narut speciffet pro-
grammed assassins have been installed in the Adrahassy.
He said that his busiest time was when a largepgadumen
went through such training towards the end of 1%t3the
time of the Yom Kippur War.

After the Oslo conference interview, Watson retdrie
London to file his story. Writing up the detail® found a few
points which needed clarification but he could reztch Narut
either at his home or in his laboratory in NapM&tson then
asked the U.S. embassy in London to comment orinfbe-
mation Narut had volunteered. The embassy pass&ebubk
to the U.S. Navy.

Within a few days the Pentagon issued a categodieal
nial that the U.S. Navy had ever “engaged in pshadioal
training or other types of training of personnelassassins.”
They also denied that any such training had edantglace
either in San Diego or in Naples. They said theyhad been
unable to contact Lieutenant Commander Narut, hey did
confirm that he was on the staff of the U.S. Regidviedical
Center in Naples as a psychologist. But Dr. Zitatér offered
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to testify about what Narut had told him to “apmiaf® au-
thorities.” Watson was also approached later bgyeipologist
in Los Angeles who said he had seen the Pentagualdgleso
thought Watson would like to know that he had g San
Diego psychologists a copy of his film on circun@swhich
was used in the desensitization conditioning.

A few days later Narut was located. He flew to Londo
discuss the matter ostensibly with Watson's pagherSunday
Times but instead he held a press conference sayingtbat
he had been talking in “theoretical and not prattierms.”
He then flew back to the Naples base.

After his return to Naples, U.S. naval headquariars
London offered the official explanation for Narustatement:
Narut had “personal problems.” A few days later ¥datwas
able to contact Narut at the U.S. hospital in Nspleut he
refused to elaborate on his disclosure.

During the Oslo conference interview, Narut haddsai
several times that what he was saying about thesaiss was
“coming out anyway.” He was referring to the corsgienal
disclosures about CIA assassination plots. Bufahethat the
navy had been operating along lines similar to @& was
not known to the public nor has it subsequentlynbegmitted.
The details of the story that Lieutenant Commaniarut
related have been strongly and categorically deimed| sub-
sequent queries of the navy.

It came as no surprise to many that the navy had be
terested in psychological research to help its ©@me with
“stress.” Several years before, one of the orgasizé the
Oslo conference, Dr. Irwin Sarason, had been apghezhby
the navy to work on projects similar to Narut's. the time,
the navy had said nothing to him about programnasgas-
sins; it said it wanted him to adapt his work fpphcations to
“spies.”

In response to that request, Sarason devised anilivh
showed how successful students asked questionshimok
The film was shown to a group of juvenile delingisefor a
period of time until they, too, learned how to pdke right
guestions. As a result, over the next two yearg thé much
better in their studies and got in trouble lesse Tdontrol
group who hadot seen the films did just as poorly in school
as they’d always done and were just as delinquent.
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Since his “symbolic modeling” study had been susfigs
Sarason wanted to continue his research and apfdig¢te
Office of Naval Research for more funding. A feweks after
his application was received, Sarason was callec mavy
official who asked him if he would object to havihg work
classified. Sarason wondered why, and the navyiafftold
him his research would be most valuable to the sanvguro-
psychiatric laboratory in California, as spies wdreing
trained there to resist interrogation. The navétial said that
if Sarason would allow his work to be classifieé,chget all
the funds he needed.

But Sarason was interested in the peaceful sciemté-
ture of his work, not its military applications, ke refused to
have the project classified. His goal was the etiorpather
than the rule.

The federal government supports most scientifieassh
in the United States. Enough psychologists andragbeial
scientists haven’t asked questions about what tesgarch is
to be used for; their main objective has been totlye grant,
so they could support themselves and their sciemtifriosity.
Since too many of them have been politically desiested or
naive, they have been easy prey for the cryptocraieuten-
ant Commander Narut was therefore but one in a lioegof
psychologists being employed for psychological aafand
illegal clandestine operations.

Another such operation was the training of secunity
cers at the Washington-based International Policadémy by
psychologists and sociologists. The officers wangpssedly
being taught interrogation techniques for Third Waroun-
tries; actually it was a highly sensitive clandestoperation
organized for the training of U.S. spies. Congrelssed the
Academy on January 1, 1974, after its real purpesg dis-
closed to the press.

Another, uncovered in the late 1960s, was “Project
CAMELOT,” purportedly a sociopolitical analysis &thile,
but actually designed to keep Chile free of Comrsiuleiaders
by discrediting them. Project CAMELOT played an orjant
role in the overthrow of Salvador Allende and hésrebcrati-
cally elected leftist government.

In 1975 Congress questioned the navy about itsloeve
ment of a questionnaire to survey attitudes tovezrath. Con-
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gressmen had learned that psychologists were gagerking

on such a questionnaire, known as the “Value o#’Lgtudy,

that would allow the navy to assess a recruit'singhess and
ability to kill from the very first day he enterélae service.

In still another government-funded experiment, psyo-
gists working for the Human Resources Research rirga
tion in Alexandria, Virginia, had conducted a biwgaries of
“stress-training” experiments in the early 1960s.

In one experiment army “volunteers” were taken on a

airplane flight. Suddenly, the airplane’s enginaifefl and the
plane was forced to land abruptly on a rough &irsfrhe sol-

diers were later tested to see if this incident bauwked a fear
of flying. In another experiment soldiers were talait and

“lost” in a forest. Suddenly, a huge forest firegalied them,

so that the men found themselves “off course” amdosinded

by fire. These men were tested to see if that éspee had

given them a fear of fire.

In yet another experiment, soldiers were allowed
“stray” into an artillery target area. Shells wengploding all
around them, and they had to get out of the arekelkyping
cool and following orders. Since artillery shelleel from a
distance of twenty-five miles away are hard to omntthe
explosions were created by detonating undergrolnaiges
triggered by remote control from a lookout pointitek the
realistic shelling was over the men were testede® if they
suffered any discernible “shell shock.”

During all these experiments the men were undaralis
observation. In some, they also wore telemetry aesvivhich
allowed scientists to measure their pulse ratqinrason, and
other vital signs to determine the level of stré®y were ex-
periencing at the time they were exposed to thgetan

As this battery of experiments became known todiie
side world, public opinion and congressional presfrought
a stop to them. The military was not deterred, harefrom
other kinds of cruel and dangerous experimentattargntin-
ued its stress research in spite of the bad ptplici

While military “stress testing” may have developestful
insights into the psychology of warriors, its primaoal, as
Lieutenant Commander Narut pointed out, was thenara-
ming of assassins. These experiments were mosulussef
programming those men who were already inclinedilio

to
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Hypnosis wastill the only effective tool for motivating those
who were not inclined to kill, then for erasing timemory of
their crimes or eliciting false confessions.

Alarmed by evidence found in the assassination¥obh
and Robert Kennedy and Martin Luther King, Dr. jiisé.
Bernd of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute in 19§8estioned
leading authorities on hypnosis about the possibke of hyp-
nosis to motivate assassins.

Bernd wanted to know if political influences coddd in-
duced by hypnosis; could people be hypno-programtoed
operate unconsciously and take what seemed todapémd-
ent action? Could people be influenced to commiitipal
assassination as a consequence of hypnaotic infxfenc

In his query Bernd asked authorities to assume #&hat
skilled hypnotist found a subject who was both adybyp-
notic subject and highly capable in the use of weap They
were to assume that the subject also had a deepdhtur
some political personality prominent in the newsrl’s first
guestion to the authorities was: “Could the hypstatise hyp-
notic suggestion to persuade the weapons expekilltthe
hated political personality at a time and underditions sug-
gested by the hypnotist?”

His second question was: “Could the hypnotic sutiges
of this action be achieved in a way which could/éethe sub-
ject assassin unconscious of and unable to rexabscious-
ness the fact that his violent act was made asmisetuence of
hypnotic suggestion?”

The authorities who responded to Bernd's questions
stated that they did think it possible to inducgubject to kill.
One expert said, “ . . . | would say that a higéiylled hypno-
tist, working with a highly susceptible subjectuttb possibly
persuade the subject to kill another human . An6ther ex-
pert went further, saying that it was possible tigto posthyp-
notic suggestion to make a subject unable to rduallact.
“There could be a conspiracy,” one expert wrotajt“d con-
spiracy of which the principal was unaware.”

It may well be that Bernd hit a nerve in the crypazy.
His report, “Assassination and Hypnosis: Politicdéluence or
Conspiracy,” was never published.

But despite all the efforts of the cryptocracy,vdly the
secrets of mind control began to emerge. Soon thenfaced
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other evidence that there were indeed such thimgpra-
grammed assassins. One such assassin made bolihé®ad
the front page of a newspaper in the Philippines.



Chapter Twelve
THE FOUR FACES OF A ZOMBIE

On March 2, 1967, twenty-four-year-old Luis Angeds=
tillo was arrested by the Philippine National Bures Inves-
tigation (NBI) on suspicion of conspiring to assaate Presi-
dent Ferdinand Marcos in Manila. In a series ogrirtgation
sessions, the NBI and Philippine Army investigatgaise him
truth serum (at his request) and put him under bgn Dur-
ing one of these sessions, Castillo revealed thahdd been
involved in an assassination four years earlier.

Castillo told the NBI, both under hypnosis and hrge-
rum and also in a normal state, that he had begmdiy
programmed to kill a man riding in an open car.hAligh
Castillo did not know the identity of his targdietscene of his
supposed “hit” was in Dallas, Texas. The date wagdxber
22, 1963.

After revealing this information, Castillo asked fwoliti-
cal asylum in Manila. He was quoted in tanila Timesas
saying, “I am afraid to go anywhere anyway. | angasd as
dead now.”

“I don’t know how | got into Dallas and how | gou®’
Castillo told reporters, “but | am sure | did nafry a gun.”

The Manila Timesstory reported that Castillo had arrived
in Manila carrying a Philippine passport which idéed him
as Antonio Reyes Eloriaga, a returning resident W been
expelled from America for overstaying his visa atealing a
car. While in the U.S. Castillo had traveled unttex aliases
Angelo Rodriguiz, Razo Hernandez, Mario Rodrigugnacio
Gonzales Gradjeda, and Antonio Eloriaga.
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Castillo told investigators that a woman with a @an
accent, a Mrs. Kreps, had given him his initialtiastions in
Dallas. According to Castillo, she was just onemany indi-
viduals who worked on him to place him in a deepriotic
trance for the Kennedy job. Castillo said that lael bbeen a
private in the Cuban militia, the Segunda OrgamraDefen-
siva in Santiago, Cuba, when he was initially clnofee train-
ing in espionage work. He was subsequently traimgdhe
Defensiva under a Colonel Calma, at a camp locateulit
fifteen miles from the Bay of Pigs. Among the mensbef the
training cadre, Castillo said, were a communica&i@xpert
named Karnovsky, along with some other Cubans amahd-
ful of Americans. One American he identified wasnéa
Smith, who attended to Castillo’s needs both agvifian in
Cuba and later in the United States.

Three years later, on October 2, 1966, Castillo amas
rested in New Mexico and charged with driving witha
proper auto registration. His arrest was made urttier
Eloriaga identity. Castillo was brought before Né&texico
Justice of the Peace Elmer Bassett and sentendedrtdays
in jail. “The reason | gave him a jail sentencedsBett said,
“was, | figured when a fellow has a hard time rerhermg
what his name is, there’s something wrong with hiAfter
serving his sentence Castillo was turned over & Unmigra-
tion authorities because he had no proof of Ui&etiship.

Bassett reported that “Castillo said he was fromdigian,
Wisconsin, but was born in the Philippines. He datilshow
that hewasfrom the Philippines or that heasn’t”

Bassett also revealed that someone had called Haw a
hours after Castillo had appeared before him akeédashat
the man be released. “l don’t know who it was,” 8t said,
“I just told them | couldn’t do that.”

According to the NBI, Castillo had Antonio Eloridaga
Philippine passport on his person when he was tedes
Manila. Based on information provided by the intglhce
service of the Philippine armed forces, the NBI Haekn
searching for him since February. They had evidénaeCas-
tillo, in the guise of Eloriaga, had made contadhve guer-
rilla group that was constantly plotting to assasts Marcos
and overthrow the Philippine government.
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The NBI set to work grilling their captured suspéldiey
knew something of his criminal past. They knew,dgample,
that he had been arrested in 1962 for carrying rcealed
weapon; they also knew that two years later heldesh sen-
tenced to a state reformatory in Bordentown, Nexgele for
larceny. But nothing prepared them for the shockshgry
implicating him in the events of Dallas.

They asked Castillo to submit to a lie detectot tsd
were surprised when he said that he preferred satiim.
Suspicious of both his strange story and his bemnawBI
officials called in a psychiatrist to examine hiBut even after
the psychiatrist judged Castillo normal, the NBVestigators
still refused to take Castillo’s bizarre and codictory story
at face value.

Later, reporters connected with tianila Timeswere
equally dumbfounded by Castillo’s strange behavior.

One reporter described him as a “now-talkative, now
reticent cloak-and-dagger man.” He clammed up wiewas
asked whether he was in the Philippines to heldgmpnt an
assassination plot against President Marcos. Itriils serum
statement, he claimed he had worked with a “celRefls” to
end someone’s life. But during his interview wittetpress he
said, “neither do | admit or deny it.” When quizzaiout Lee
Harvey Oswald, he drew a blank.

As a member of the Warren Commission, Gerald Ford
was queried by the Philippine authorities about tila's
revelations concerning the JFK assassination. 5aidithat he
would not comment on the Castillo story until hed hmore
information. A spokesman for the Dallas Police Dépant
said that they had no record on Castillo.

Nevertheless, the U.S. embassy did agree to ad:biser
meeting between embassy officials and NBI DireGerafin
Fausto on the subject of Castillo. After the meagtiRausto
refused to comment further on the story, but hetelideport-
ers that, “although publication of the story hasjpdiced in-
vestigation of the case, one good thing has conteobii;
needed information is coming in from the United t&ato
shed light on the case.”

Fausto also made it clear that leads obtained fhemJ.S.
embassy justified continuing the investigation adis@lo’s
link to the assassination of President Kennedy.
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After making an official request for assistancenirthe
FBI, the NBI clamped a news blackout on the stand noth-
ing further was published in the press. Privateestigations
later revealed that Castillo was spirited out & Bhilippines,
but not before a series of hypnotic sessions Heshtalace, at
the request of the FBI.

The FBI wanted to have Castillo, while under hypsios
place the time of the Kennedy assassination. Theyted to
know when Castillo had come to Dallas, what timeafhéved
at the building, and from what location he was figagl to
shoot. They wanted to know the time he left thddig, the
names of any people involved, and any informatidmctv
might indicate how the plot was hatched, and bymwho

It came as a surprise to the NBI that the FBI alsmted
Castillo questioned about the Boyeros airport, teigliles
south of Havana, Cuba. The FBI requested that itiieest
possible security be kept on any testimony obtaiinech the
hypnotic sessions.

In the last of three sessions requested by the E&stillo
was induced into deep hypnotic trance by the orglitelking
method in an NBI interrogation room in Manila. Wih that
trance state he was questioned for more than gmeeone-
half hours.

The hypnotist’s report stated, “Initially, the sebj indi-
cated an admixture of desired susceptibility torfogynthesis
but deep-seated resistance due to the presenceadthyp-
notic block. This block appeared to have been cciedewith
the presence—nightmarish—of a Mrs. Kreps. The total
moval of this block may pave the way for maximursues.”

The hypnotist reported that during the pretrancenwap
he examined Castillo and found little scars on fhighead,
chest, stomach, and fingers. Castillo told him tet scars
were the result of a car accident in the U.S., Wiiiappened
when some men were chasing him while he was triongde-
liver “an envelope of some kind.” Castillo mentidnhat after
the crash he’d awakened in bandages in a hosgital b

Names which were presented to Castillo in the anee
interview were repeated while he was under hypnésésrec-
ognized the names of several individuals who whes tgain-
ing notoriety in connection with New Orleans DistrAttor-
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ney Jim Garrison’s JFK assassination investigatut.Casti-
llo revealed that he knew some of the people bgratlames.

Throughout his recollections Castillo suffered shom
cramps, said he felt a “weight on his legs,” anigccout in
pain a number of times. Through the manipulatiohghe
hypnotist, he was able to recall that on many déffé occa-
sions he had been taken to a factory. Mrs. KrepsGastillo
had always driven to the factory in her car, arglythad al-
ways entered through the front door. Castillo condit re-
member the exact location of the factory, othenttiat it was
located “way outside Chicago.” He spoke of a roricardla-
tionship with Mrs. Kreps, but while one moment Ipole of
her as “nice” and “kind,” in the next breath hedsé#hat he
hated her.

According to the hypnotist’s report one thing wastain.
Whoever Mrs. Kreps was, she “controlled the subjesttivi-
ties and consciousness like a nightmare.”

Eliciting information from Castillo was no easy kas
Over the course of many interrogations, the hyphaliscov-
ered that Castillo could be taken to four differéypnotic
levels. It appeared to the hypnotist that eachl leame closer
to the truth. He labeled these states “Zombie ImEie I,
Zombie lll, and Zombie IV.” Depending upon which d&-
bie” state Castillo was in, his mannerisms and ftitien
changed.

In the first state, “Zombie I,” Castillo believede twas
Eloriaga, and he told tales of anti-American esagm During
“Zombie II,” he took on the identity of a toughaig CIA
agent in trouble. While in “Zombie III,” again Cdkt
emerged as an agent whose cover had been blowthigAt
level, however, he experienced a compulsion to Hiithself.
On the day he was to have assassinated Marcos|lcCesst
sponded to a program he had revealed in an eartenroga-
tion. He attempted suicide in his jail cell by shwaling a bot-
tle of epoxy glue.

The “Zombie IV” state revealed that “Castillo’s"ug
name was Manuel Angel Ramirez, a twenty-nine-yéar-o
native of the Bronx, New York. In this state he hadrecol-
lection of his youth, except for a hazy memory of father,
who “Ramirez” believed was a highly placed offic&l “the
Agency.”
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As “Ramirez,” Castillo said that most of his lifadbeen
spent in training with, or on missions for, the 8pkOpera-
tions Group of the CIA. He remembered one traintagnp
where he learned clandestine and martial arts. ugirout the
interrogations the theme of “programmed agent” @eer
Castillo’s testimony under hypnosis was that ofiratividual
whose identity had been completely erased and stcmted
several times over.

On May 30, 1967, Castillo spontaneously went fram h
normal state into a “Zombie” state. In answeringstlla’s
guestion about transfer from the hospital to j&ig hypnotist
unknowingly said, “That depends entirely on the blyef,
you know.” Upon hearing these words, a blank loakne
over Castillo’s eyes and all efforts to wake himrevat first
unsuccessful. The hypnotist then called out a sefghrases
from Castillo’s notebooks and found that the phsa$ewill
win if | don’t lose my nerve” and “| must believeyself or no
one else will believe me” awakened him.

The next day was Castillo’s birthday. The NBI pladrio
give him a birthday party as an excuse to get hinmkito see
if his behavior changed. Castillo, it seemed, h&aige capac-
ity for liquor. Drunk to the eyeballs, he salutatkmf the NBI
agents and called him “Colonel.” “Where do we fbnight,
Colonel?” he asked.

The agent quickly told him that he was to fly treme
mission as the last one. Castillo said, “Haiphortiggh drunk-
enly fell into bed. He dug his fingers into hisaat and vom-
ited. He cried out for a doctor and between vopitsens, rat-
tled out his mission to the hypnotist.

He said his real name was Manuel Angel Ramirez, his
rank was sergeant, and he was assigned to thes@trair
Tactical Command in South Vietham. He said his irdiaie
superior was Colonel Summers.

He was in Saigon in January, 1966, he related, hatt
flown B-26 missions over Haiphong and Hanoi. He eam
Manila, he said, to kill President Marcos in Jumden the
president would make a public speech. If his agsatésn
attempt failed someone else would get Marcos bdfuresnd
of 1968, Castillo added.
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“I am dying,” he groaned, and pleaded again fobetat.
He thought he was dying from a heart attack. ‘ttid today,”
he warned, “my secrets die with me.”

When the NBI doctor arrived, he examined Castithal a
pronounced him fit, except for his obviously drunistate. He
tried to give him a shot to calm him down, but @mspro-
tested violently. The doctor then asked him to takeill,
which he did without resistance.

Two days later, Castillo was given another medeal
amination by Dr. Alexis Guerrero of the NBI. A sgiof tests
were given to measure his breathing rate, pulse, teat
production, and other functions. All of these testre per-
formed in “Zombie” states |, I, and Ill. The doctooted that
in each state there was a vast difference in paise and as-
sumed, because of what Castillo said, and theiogacof his
heart and respiration, that he was experiencingesemo-
tional agitation.

Sodium amytal was administered while he was in the
“Zombie |11” state. According to the hypnotist, Giéle did not
even notice he’'d been given the injection. Soorbégan to
talk as he’'d done previously while in the drunkémes “I'm
Sergeant Manuel Ramirez of the Tactical Air Commahe
said. When asked to reveal his base he said, “YoeVer
know,” adding, “I am a pilot. I've flown a B-26.”

“The NBI are suckers,” he said a little while lat&Fhey
thought they arrested me. But there | was, waitorghem to
get me. | know of a great plot. | am supposed tposg i,
after I'm arrested. | know | will eventually retuta my coun-
try [the U.S.]. I'll go through the motions of aatk, conviction,
and jail as a criminal. After a couple of monthsyill be re-
leased for my next assignment.”

Awakened from the “Zombie” state, Castillo was taltl
about these various states and his strange behaibe in
them. The hypnotist explained how he thought Qastihd
been programmed. Castillo seemed baffled by thissnéle
said that he was not told by anybody about beilog@mmed.
He said that “Papa” didn't even know about the “Zosi
state. He grew agitated, saying that if he werlén“Zombie”
state he might even kill “Papa,” and then “the Agewould
go to blazes. Hell will break loose on the guy oesble for
the Zombie.”
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Asked in a trance to identify “Papa,” Castillo s#at he
was not just a “guy,” but was hisal father. He described him
as having a moustache and smoking a pipe. He saidhh the
only one who could send the Agency to “blazes”ef Basti-
llo, was killed on this mission. He said that “Papaitials
were A. D. and that his first name was “Allen.” Bigd that he
would personally tell “Papa” about the “Zombie” whiee got
back.

After more than forty hypnotic sessions lastingnirone
to five hours each, covering the period from A&ito June
25, 1967, the hypnotist reviewed the data and sumeth it
for the Chief of the Defense Intelligence Divisiohthe Na-
tional Bureau of Investigation. The summary repwt only
involved Castillo in the assassination of John Eniedy; it
disclosed that Castillo was a hypno-programmed “Heh
who would kill on cue.

The summary report stated: “The Zombie phenomenon
referred to here is a somnambulistic behavior digad by the
subject in a conditioned response to a series ofisyphrases,
and statements, apparently unknown to the subjaingl his
normal waking state. While under the influence atls a
Zombie state, the subject closed his eyes, rosidybadhlked,
triggered a pistol, stared blankly, and fell to flo®r with no
apparent sense of physical pain. As far as couldebermined
experimentally, the Zombie behavior had for itseatiye the
assassination of President Ferdinand Marcos oR#qaublic
of the Philippines.”

The report also added: “Neither the presence redib-
covery of the Zombie states in our subject shoaddgarded
as noble or unique. If anything, the only remarkatiiaracter
of the Zombie state in our subject is its deeplyréined and
systematic presentation, indicating a certain dighg degree
of conditioning.”

In a lengthy summary, the NBI hypnotist and depro-
grammer of Castillo recounted the details of eyabttw he
had uncovered the key that unlocked the programassds-
sin’s mind.

The letters “XBGUMIDUTYBX" were found scribbled
on the white surface of a cigarette package whiah in Cas-
tillo’s possession at the time of his arrest. Thpgr had been
folded carefully and tucked into the back of hidata Castillo
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had told investigators that this piece of paper gi@en him
by a man named Luis Mauricio. Castillo said thatukizio
also gave him money. Mauricio was known to the MBla
member of the Huk guerillas.

Placing Castillo in a trance, the hypnotist caltad the
series of letters on the cigarette package. Castitl not react.
He then tried calling out the letters, pausingitierent places
He found that when he paused between the G and,tkay-
ing “XBG,UMIDUTYBX,” Castillo would reply with “l am
myself to kill.”

The hypnotist then tried the letters one at a tiamel then
in different combinations. While many of the condtions
produced no response, the following were significan

When the hypnotist said “X,” Castillo quickly answd,
“Mauricio.”

When the hypnotist said “BGU,” Castillo slowly saltl
am myself.”

When the hypnotist said “MI,” Castillo answeredp “t
kill.”

In another session the hypnotist experimented sathing
“Luis Castillo” as a command. The hypnotist repdrtéA
pathetic sight takes place after this. The sulijects his pistol
to his own temple and squeezes the trigger, as riam®g as
his name is repeated.”

Whenever the hypnotist would say, “June 12, 1967, 1
o'clock,” “June 22, 1967,” “July 4, 1967,” or “Jaany 1,
1968,” Castillo would invariably aim the pistol amsdueeze
the trigger.

The hypnotist found that after the preparatory c@mdh
to put him in a trance, if Castillo’s eyes were op&d he saw
a photograph of President Marcos, he would, withvadal
instructions, aim and repeatedly squeeze the trigfjbis pis-
tol, following the photo wherever it was taken arduthe
room. If the hypnotist said the word “kill” while&tillo was
following this program, he would drop heavily tetfioor and
remain motionless.

The hypnotist’s report also includes Castillo’s aing
story about his participation in yet another orgadi assassi-
nation attempt. Under hypnosis, Castillo said thatassassi-
nation had happened “before noon.” He remembereédgbe
with a man called “Lake,” whom he described asliantan,



180 Walter Bowart

weighing about 190 pounds, with a hawklike nosacklhair,
and Oriental eyes set in a long face. Lake spokie avforeign
accent which Castillo could not identify. He salhtt he re-
membered meeting Lake along with four or five othem in
an airport. They then drove together in a blacktoaa build-
ing. Castillo said that he thought the group inelidboth
Americans and foreigners, and he thought one manSpan-
ish.

When the group arrived at the building, Castillalgaey
climbed to a second-floor room which he describiéer some
uncertainty as brown. The room contained packirajes:; a
short brown table, a typewriter, and two “lift-upags win-
dows overlooking a street.”

Lake opened a black suitcase, which Castillo deedras
a bowling bag with a zipper and lock. It contairsesicope and
pieces of a rifle, which Lake assembled. He setsttwpe at
500 yards and gave the rifle to Castillo. Castilid not seem
certain about the make or caliber of the rifle, boally said
that he thought it was Russian.

Lake told him to shoot a man in the back seat of@en
car in the middle of the caravan. He said thatrttaen would
be seated with a lady or another man. A mirror wadbe
flashed twice from a building across the streethst Castillo

would know when he was to shoot. When he saw the tw

flashes he was supposed to shoot at the next cainganto
view. When he was questioned about the identitthefman
riding in the open car, Castillo said that he did know who
the victim was.

After Lake had assembled the rifle and had givestili@
his instructions, he went downstairs. Later Lakehad into
the room. “They got him already,” Lake told him.€t's get
out of here.” He then grabbed the rifle away fromstilo,
dismantled it, and stuffed it and the scope intohtack bag.

Castillo and Lake rushed downstairs, got into aweidin
two other men, and drove away from the building.eyrh
picked up a bald-headed, skinny man after theyetlithe first
corner. Three or four blocks later the car stopped picked
up another man.

Castillo said he was riding in the back seat betwlegke
and the man who had joined them at the second s®phe
car drove away from the scene of the crime, thelamified
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man gave Castillo an injection while he wasn’t limgk He
went immediately to sleep and woke up in a Chicagtel
room with Mrs. Kreps.

He and Mrs. Kreps got into a blue car and drove to
Milwaukee, Castillo said. While driving there, thbgard the
news of the assassination of John F. Kennedy onaheadio.

Within a few days after the hypnotist submitted sl
report, Castillo was out of the NBI jail and haét kae Philip-
pines for parts unknown. It was later uncovered @astillo
was returned to the United States in 1967 and munest by
the FBI, whose spokesman said, “We talked to Gastitd he
told us that he’d fabricated his story about thekedy assas-
sination. Said he’d made it up in Manila.”

The official record says that Castillo was senterniesix
years in the Missouri Penitentiary for robbery imdg, 1971.
On August 1, 1974, he was released after serviinty-tbeven
months. Castillo’s last known contact was with histher
shortly after his release from prison. Since therhbs disap-
peared, from both his family and those researcivacs would
like to question him further.

If Castillo had indeed “made it up in Manila,” detFBI
spokesman claimed, then he would have had to hadeah
phenomenal memory, an incredibly high toleranceddium
amytal and alcohol, and virtuoso acting ability.itNer the
psychological profile nor the life history of Lufngel Casti-
llo supports the conclusion that he possessed athese tal-
ents.






Chapter Thirteen
THE LONE NUTS

MKULTRA was fully operational when Luis Castillo wa
programmed. It was active that same decade whentseve
blamed on three “lone assassins” changed the cafrbés-
tory.

In a well-executed, mass indoctrination campaigrn em
ploying all the honor, prestige, and power of th& Wovern-
ment, Americans were told over and over again tthatlives
of John Kennedy, Martin Luther King, and Robert Kedy
were all taken by lone assassins—men operatingoutitho-
litical motivation. These three assassins—Lee Ha@swald,
James Earl Ray, and Sirhan Sirhan—convenientlydiefies,
underlinings in various books, and other self-iminiating
clues to establish their guilt.

The evidence gathered on the assassinations refmagas
mented and incomplete. Any event of such magnitade
political assassination is bound to invite a largenber of
interpretations. While there has not as yet sudagy single,
conclusive proof of a conspiracy, more than eigigycent of
the American publibelievethere was a conspiracy. A string
of circumstantial evidence, and a knowledge offtirelamen-
tals of mind control invites further speculation.

In each case the method was the same—death byithe b
let. In each case the circumstances were the samsdemin
a public place in view of many witnesses. All theessassins
were men whose personal histories can be inteptetandi-
cate that they were mentally unstable. Evidencegyestg that
all three had been hypnotized at one time or anothe
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But the similarity in their psychological profileand the
“coincidence” of each having left a trail of eviden did not
seem suspicious to the government investigatothefissas-
sination. That three assassins, from three difteparts of the
country, with three different ethnic backgroundsdahree
different victims in three different cities), cousdl have had
the samemodus operandilid not seem improbable to the in-
vestigators. Those “coincidences” did not even amritheir
notice.

A good detective would immediately have suspedbed t
the M.O. of each assassin was a cover laid dowa profes-
sional hit team.

The cryptocracy which grew up after World War Il sva
composed of a cadre of professionals, trained dutie war.
Professional intelligence agents in both the KGH e CIA
are trained to stick to the cover story that wods] use it as
long as it does work. Even if the cover story isvin, the
agent is supposed to stick to it and, if necessdig,with
sealed lips. The “lone nut” theory—that the assessi King
and the Kennedys had acted alone—and the eviddantegd
to support that theory, stands out as a typicalegsional in-
telligence “cover.”

The modus operanddr method of a murder is the first of
two major clues detectives use to solve crimes. 3éeond
clue is the motive.

Those who support the “lone nut” theory point te fact
that no clear political motive could be attributedany of the
three assassins. Yet even to a casual studenstoihieach of
the three murders was of obvious political bentfithe ex-
treme right: John and Robert Kennedy and MartimeuKing
were all independent thinkers who could not be bougf.
They worked for expanded civil rights in a mannee tight
wing interpreted as being Communist, e.g., it imedlgov-
ernment legislatiorof civil rights. J. Edgar Hoover is known
to have had a personal vendetta against Dr. King,iahas
been reported that he lost no love for the Kenneaghers.
The Kennedys were not only on the wrong side of \¢0's
FBI, they were on the wrong side of the CIA as wakK
fired several top intelligence officers (he askedAllen Dul-
les’ resignation) and at the time of his death faes wrivately
talking about reorganizing the entire U.S. intallige service.
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Robert Kennedy, as attorney general, was wagingekegs
campaign against organized crime. His campaignacubss
the alliance the CIA had formed with gangsters whd lost
their gambling and drug concessions in Cuba. Rdbenhedy
was a close friend of Dr. King, and one rumor sssihat the
assassins had issued a dire warning that RFK notfou
president, and that King was sacrificed to showt the group
meant business. A similar threat was issued agdiedtKen-
nedy when he was entertaining presidential thoudRedbert
Kennedy's knowledge of the CIA-Mafia link and thdAC
assassination teams might have been a motive béenoho-
tive, assuming that fanatical rightwing operatorsrev“con-
tracted” for the “Executive actions” against thesth

The obvious results of all three assassinationddviodli-
cate that the extreme right wing, known to be widead in
the cryptocracy, had the most to gain. By theittldgathe civil
rights movement was severely crippled, the conflicViet-
nam escalated, and the corrupt leaders of the aryqty
stayed in power.

More recently a rumor has been put forth by CBS #&lew
and others that Castro and/or the KGB were beltindassas-
sinations. That theory smells like more disinforimatfrom
the cryptocracy. The motives of the Communists seamh
less clear than the motives of misguided patriatight-
thinking Americans. The cryptocracy was in a begtesition
to benefit from the deaths of the three charismati
humanitarian leaders than were the Communists.

Following the assassination of President Kennedy, h
successor appointed a now notorious commissiomyesti-
gate the crime. Headed by Chief Justice Earl Wariteim-
cluded Sen. John Sherman Cooper (R., Kentucky), Bieh-
ard B. Russell (D., Georgia), Rep. Hale Boggs [Duisiana),
Rep. Gerald R. Ford (R., Michigan), former CIA iter Al-
len Dulles, and John J. McCloy.

After nine months of deliberation, the Warren Comsmi
sion concluded that Lee Harvey Oswald acting albaé, shot
President Kennedy. Although Oswald was in turn ssieated
by Dallas thug Jack Ruby, and although Ruby’s cotioes
with organized crime and the anti-Castro movemesrewvell
known, the Commission found no evidence of a conspi
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The twenty-six volumes of evidence which made up th
commission’s final report left so many questionssked that
by December, 1976, a Harris Survey concluded tBateBcent
of the U.S. population did not believe the comnais& con-
clusion.

From the beginning, the investigation was slantehtds
proving that Oswald was guilty and that he had cetione.
The commission had proceeded with haste to puedb for-
ever the question: Was there a conspiracy behimdKénnedy
assassination? In its haste it had overlooked &etsfand ig-
nored witnesses who did not support the foregomelasion
that there was no conspiracy—that Oswald was juibree
nut.”

Throughout the Warren Commission hearings there was
conflicting testimony about Oswald. There was tastiy that
Oswald did not drive a car. There was other tegtiyrthat he
did drive, and very well. Some of his acquaintanced $ei
was a poor shot, too poor to have accomplishedfeate of
marksmanship in Dealy Plaza. Others said that he avBine
marksman. Some said, by turns, that he was a Coistnan
pro-Castro and an anti-Castro sympathizer. His owather
said that he performed undercover work for the g@&ern-
ment. Out of this mass of conflicting evidence, tNarren
Commission simply took what was needed to supp®ifore-
gone conclusion, and relegated the rest to puldlistaascripts
or to top-secret files in the National Archives.

There were so many conflicting descriptions of Odwa
that many independent assassination investigatoizses
qguently concluded that there must have been at Ieas
Oswalds—the “real” one and an intelligence doublehow-
ever, one considers that Oswald might have beetraited in
the same way as Candy Jones or Luis Castillo—ispditmul-
tiple personalities—another explanation for the flicing
descriptions of the assassin becomes credible. ightave
been an excellent shot in one zombie state, amchather he
might have been blocked so that he could not eirraaifle.
In one state he might have had the ability to dawear, while
in another state he might have had a posthypnttakiso that
he could not drive.

Oswald said that he didn't kill anybody. His statement
was recorded in the basement of the Dallas Poliago& on
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the day after the assassination. Captured on fiyna bBocal
CBS film crew, Oswald told reporters, “I positiveknow
nothing about this situation here. | would like have legal
representation.” In answer to an inaudible questiom one
reporter Oswald said, “Well, | was questioned byudge.
However, | protested at that time that | was ntbvedd legal
representation during that very short and sweetirgpal
really don’t know what this situation is about. Maly has told
me anything, except that I'm accused of murderingpbce-
man. | know nothing more than that. | do requestesane to
come forward to give me legal assistance.”

“Did you Kkill the President?” another reporter adke

“No,” Oswald answered, “I have not been chargechwit
that. In fact, nobody has said that to me yet. fitts¢ thing |
heard about it was when the newspaper reportetiseirhall
asked me that question.”

Ten years after Oswald made that statement, George
O'Toole applied a newly developed “truth detectdahé Psy-
chological Stress Evaluator (PSE), to the sounHt@cthe
film which recorded Oswald’s protestation of innoce. The
PSE, unlike the polygraph, does not have to be exted to
the body to measure stress. It measures subaudiicie-
tremors in the human voice which occur wheneveindivid-
ual experiences even mild anxiety or stress. Theaviremors
form a distinct pattern on the PSE chart and can the com-
pared to stress patterns in other parts of thers&it. A de-
liberate lie, especially one which involves perdgeapardy,
stands out clearly from the other stress pattehas might
represent situational stress or vague anxiety.

Oswald was in a situation of high stress that d#g.had
been grilled for hours by police. He had been madlea and
accused of killing not only a police officer busalthe Presi-
dent of the United States.

Yet the PSE analysis of Oswald’'s statement showat! t
he exhibited far more stress when he was talkingutibot
being represented by a lawyer than he did when dmnged
murdering the President or the police officer. @eoD'Toole
concluded, as have many other investigators, tisata was
innocent. He could not have been consciously irewln the
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assassination as a fall guy—a patsy—or he woul@ lsdown
stress in his answers to these key questions oR3Ee
But what if he had been hypno-programmed so that he

could remember nothing of his involvement in theassina-
tion plot? Then every lie-detector test in the oviould
prove him innocent, since consciously he wobélievethat

he was innocent. Hypnosis is the only reliable waygefeat a

lie detector, whether it be a polygraph or the madganced
PSE.

Among evidence concealed from the commission was a
CIA document obtained under the Freedom of Infoiomat
Act in 1976, which quoted an unidentified CIA officreport-
ing to his superiors on Oswald. According to tha¢nmo,
which had been written only three days after JFk§sassina-
tion, Agency officials had discussed interviewingv@ld for
intelligence purposes in the early 1960s. The sdawement
revealed that Allen Dulles had secretly coachedGh& on
how the Agency should deny having any connectioth wi
Oswald. According to one of the memos, Dulles gjhpmec-
ommended that CIA Director Helms deny under oa#t the
CIA had any material in its files which suggestedAgency
relationship with Oswald. Later disclosures revdakhat
Oswald did indeed have a CIA “201 file.”

In sworn testimony before the Warren Commission in
1964, Richard Helms applied the artful deceptionicivitame
from a lifetime of CIA training; he testified thdte Agency
had “never even contemplated” making any contadh wi
Oswald prior to the assassination. That the GilAmake con-
tact with him was never disclosed to the commission

Despite the attempts of Allen Dulles to steer cossioin
investigators away from other information which kil

. Posing as d.ook reporter, former CIA employee O'Toole con-
ducted and recorded interviews with local policécafls and FBI
men who were the original investigators in the Kamhncase. Too
many of their PSE patterns showed levels of strdssh could only
be interpreted as having been the result of wiltfateption. In his
book The Assassination Tape®'Toole offers the details of his PSE
analysis, and concludes, not surprisingly, thatettveas a conspiracy
behind the assassination of John F. Kennedy.
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Oswald to both the FBI and the CIA, the rumor t@swald
had been sent to Russia as an intelligence agesistea.

In an attempt to scotch that rumor, Dulles told ¢ioen-
mission that it would be impossible for anyone tove or
disprove that Oswald had or had not been an agern-o
former. He said, astonishingly, that Oswald cowddénbeen a
CIA agent without anyone ever knowing about it!

During one meeting of the commission, Senator Russe
asked Dulles, “If Oswald never had assassinate®thasident,
and had been in the employ of the FBI, and someliwdy
gone to the FBI, would they have denied he wagyent®”

“Oh yes,” the ex-CIA chief replied. “They would lise
first to deny it.”

“Your agents would have done the same thing?” Senat
Russell asked incredulously.

“Exactly,” Dulles answered.

At another juncture, John J. McCloy said that hd re
ceived several inquiries about the Oswald-agentorurie
asked Dulles point blank, “What is there to thisrg?”

Dulles went in circles: “This is a terribly hardng to dis-
prove, you know. How do you disprove a fellow was your
agent?”

“You could disprove it, couldn’t you?” Congressman
Boggs asked.

Dulles replied, simply, “No.”

“So | will ask you,” Boggs continued, “did you have
agents about whom you had no record whatsoever?”

“The record might not be on paper,” Dulles saidut®n
paper would have been hieroglyphics that only tvempe
knew what they meant, and anybody outside the agenald
not know and you could say this meant the agemt,some-
body else could say it meant another agent.”

The discussion then turned to U-2 pilot Francis yGar
Powers. Dulles explained that Powers was a diftekand of
agent. He had signed a contract with the CIA.

Alluding to the Oswald-CIA relationship, Boggs agke
Dulles, “Let's say Powers did not have a signedtreamt but
was recruited by someone in CIA. The man who réeduinim
would know, wouldn’t he?”

“Yes,” Dulles replied, “but he wouldn't tell.”
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“Would he tell it under oath?” Chief Justice Warngan-
dered.

“I wouldn’t think he would tell it under oath, noPulles
replied matter of factly.

“Why?” asked Warren.

“He ought not to tell it under oath,” Dulles saaffering
Warren a lesson which years of legal training miide inca-
pable of learning: the cryptocracy operates coraplatutside
of the law and, because of the power of the “naticecurity”
rationale, it operates completely above the law.

Dulles admitted later, while responding to a quesfrom
McCloy, that a CIA operative might not tell the ttiieven to
his own superior.

“What you do,” Boggs indignantly said, “is you mader
problem, if this be true, utterly impossible be@ysu say
this rumor [that Oswald was a CIA agent] can't liesiphated
under any circumstances.”

“I don’t think it can,” Dulles admitted, “unless yobe-
lieve Mr. Hoover, and so forth and so on, which bzdaly
most of the people will.”

Hoover, of course, had written a carefully worded
sponse to a Commission inquiry about Oswald’s F@inec-
tions. He denied all association between Oswaldtla@dBlI.

Also ignored by the Warren Commission was inforovati
about the cryptocracy’s attempts to assassinatel Edstro.
Dulles presumably knew about the plots which todé&ce
during his tenure with the Agency, but he remaimedte.
Richard Helms was the only CIA official on activeitd to
have direct contact with the Warren Commission, ahd
though he provided them with information on a numbé
things, he volunteered nothing about the unsucekgdbts
against Castro—plots which would have been withie t
commission’s “need to know” since they showed tha
cryptocracy had practical experience in assassimg@ianning.

Testifying before the Senate Select Committee talyst
Governmental Operations with Respect to IntelligeActivi-
ties, Helms revealed how the cryptocracy evadedwatitheld
information from the Warren Commission. His testimal-
lustrated the cryptocracy’s contempt for the hedpleommis-
sion, the American people, and above all the truth.

-
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During the Church Committee’s investigation of the
CIA’s involvement in assassinations, Senator Chuasked
Helms: “Since you had knowledge of the CIA invoharhin
these assassination plots against Castro, and knatvthe
time . . . | would have thought . . . that oughhtwe been re-
lated to the Commission, because it does bear®mtitives,
whatever else.”

Helms: “. .. Mr. Allen Dulles was a member of tNhé&r-
ren Commission. And the first assassination plgipeaed
during his time as director. What he said to thedfa Com-
mission about this . . . | don’t know. But at lehstwas sitting
right there in [the commission’s] deliberations &méw about
this, and | am sure that the same thought thatroeduo you
must have occurred to him.”

Senator Morgan: “You were charged with furnishihe t
Warren Commission information from the CIA, infortioa
that you thought was relevant?”

Helms: “No sir, | was instructed to reply to ingas from
the Warren Commission for information from the Aggnl
was not asked to initiate any particular thing.”

Morgan: “. . . In other words if you weren’t askétt it,
you didn't give it?”

Helms: “That's right sir.”

Nevertheless, despite the denials of Dulles andveiQo
the rumor persisted that Oswald had defected tsiRum a
clandestine mission for the CIA. Some believed ad been
uncovered by the KGB and subsequently programnkecttie
Manchurian Candidate to return to the U.S. andaacan un-
conscious “sleeper agent,” a programmed assassin.

Following up on this rumor, J. Lee Rankin, General
Counsel to the Warren Commission, wrote a letteClt& Di-
rector Helms requesting all information the CIA ha Rus-
sian “brainwashing” capabilities.

In response, Helms claimed that there were “twoomaj
methods of altering or controlling behavior,” are tSoviets
were interested in both. He said the first was pslagical
and the second was pharmacological. “The two maydes
as individual methods or for mutual reinforcementélms
wrote. “For long-term control of large numbers &fople the
former method is more promising than the latter.
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“In dealing with individuals, the U.S. experienagggests
the pharmacological approach (assisted by psycloabtgch-
nigues) would be the only effective method.”

Helms told the Warren Commission that while Soviet
drug research was extensivehad consistently lagged about
five years behind Western researdthat was an interesting
admission, for in the MKULTRA files which were deaski-
fied over a decade later the CIA was using the &miiccess
in mind control to motivate our own scientific pragn.

Helms’s memorandum told the commission that the-Sov
ets had adopted a multidisciplinary approach todngiantrol,
integrating biological, social, and what he callgxdhysical-
mathematical research” in attempts to control huimaimavior
in a “manner consonant with national plans.”

But while attempting to tell the Warren Commissighat
the Soviets were up to, Helms was, at the same tienealing
the cryptocracy’s own intentions. His conclusiotetesd that
“there is no evidence that the Soviets have angnigces or
agents capable of producing particular behaviorttepns
which are not available in the West.” Appendedh® memo-
randum (Commission Document 1113, reproduced here a
Appendix A) were several hundred pages of repartSaviet
mind-control techniques and an extensive bibliogyamn
brainwashing, which for some reason remained ¢ladstven
after the main body of the memorandum was decladsif

The question of whether Oswald had been hypno-
programmed was raised in another context when Ndea@s
District Attorney Jim Garrison began his indeperidauesti-
gations of the Kennedy assassination.

Garrison told an anxious press he was going tokcttae
Kennedy case wide open: “The plain fact is that federal
intelligence agencies are implacably determinedidowhat-
ever is necessary to block any further inquiry itite facts of
the assassination.

“The arrogant totalitarian efforts of these fedexrgéncies
to obstruct the discovery of the truth is a matthich | intend
to bring to light when we have finished doing tlud jthey
should have done.”

One of the central targets of Garrison’s invesigyatvas
David William Ferrie, who was both a hypnotist aadCIA
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operative. Coincidentally, Ferrie had been in a Nexeans
Civil Air Patrol group in the fifties with Lee Hagy Oswald.
One witness said that Ferrie had been the man eldoiri
structed Oswald in markmanship.

When New Orleans police raided Ferrie’s apartmiety
confiscated a number of weapons, various drugs, taree
blank U.S. passports—things that any good CIA dpsra
would keep at his elbow. Much later researcherizeshthe
importance of some of the evidence obtained in rid—
several voluminous abstracts on posthypnotic sugeand a
library on hypnotism.

A salesman for the Equitable Life Insurance Company
Perry Raymond Russo, told a New Orleans grand foay
Ferrie’s apartment had been the scene of manyiésamwhere
hypnosis had been used as “entertainment.” Oneimyen
Russo said, Ferrie hypnotized a young man to whemappar-
ently had a strong homosexual attraction. Anothegning,
Russo said, he himself hypnotized a young womannaade
her immobile. He struck pins in her hand and burmedarms
just to demonstrate the extent of the control reedneer her.

At Russo’s request, his story was tested by Garissin-
vestigators. Under both sodium pentothal and hyisn&sisso
told the identical story he had told to the gramg/j He testi-
fied that he had been with Ferrie, a man named I@®nald,
and a third man named Clem Bertrand in Ferrie’stapnt
during the summer of 1963. The three had discuapesssas-
sination attempt in which diversionary tactics werde used.

Russo quoted Ferrie as saying that “there would: hav
be a minimum of three people involved. Two of thergons
would shoot diversionary shots and the third .shoot the
‘good’ shot.” Ferrie said that one of the three lbdduave to be
the “scapegoat.” He also said that Ferrie discalrse the
“availability of exit,” saying that the sacrificethan would
give the other two time to escape.

On February 23, 1967, a few days before Luis Castil
was arrested by the NBI in the Philippines, Garrisabpoe-
naed David Ferrie. That evening George LardneheiWash-
ington Postwvent to Ferrie’s apartment for an interview. Ferrie
in remarkably good spirits, told Lardner, “A Presid is no
better than anyone else . . . If | were killed, Edpect my
death to be investigated just as thoroughly.”
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Lardner left Ferrie at 4:00 A.M. Seven hours andyfo
minutes later Ferrie was found in bed with a sipedied over
his head. He had been dead for several hours.

On the dining room table was a note which readart:p
“To leave this life is for me a sweet prospecintifnothing in
it that is desirable and on the other hand, evargtihat is
loathsome.” Fifteen empty medicine bottles litteted apart-
ment. The medicine bottles had contained a presmigrug
for a vascular disorder.

Garrison immediately jumped to the conclusion thet-
rie had committed suicide because of the subpoEna.au-
topsy, however, revealed that Ferrie had not drednfan
overdose of drugs, but from a ruptured blood vesstie base
of his brain.

Dr. Ronald A. Walsh, Louisiana State University &ah
of Medicine pathologist, stated in his autopsy rephat
David Ferrie died of a “berry aneurysm.” Severateftsic
pathologists later concluded that such an aneungrid have
been caused by a karate expert inflicting a blothéback of
the head in such a manner that no external damagé\vibe
discernible.

A number of Ferrie’s friends began to fear for tHiies.
One, Jack Martin, came out of hiding long enouglsuggest
that Oswald had been programmed by Ferrie to goditas
and kill the President. Immediately following thesassina-
tion, Martin had reported to Assistant District dttey Her-
man S. Kohlman that Ferrie and Oswald had beendsieand
that Ferrie had instructed Oswald in the use oélastope
sight on a rifle. But in 1963 no one followed up Martin’s
story.

Another of Ferrie’'s friends was a Reverend Raymond
Broshears, who had roomed with Ferrie three yeafseré
Ferrie's death. Broshears stated in a televisicieriew:
“David admitted being involved with the assassifisere’s no
guestion about that.”

The Warren Commission must have tsnesuspicions
about Ferrie, for in Volume 24, Exhibit 2038, oktWarren
Commission RepgrtNBC cameraman Gene Barnes is quoted
as saying, “Bob Mulholland, NBC News, Chicago, ¢alkin
Dallas to one Fairy [sic]. . . . Fairy said thatwasd had been
under hypnosis from a man doing a mind-reading atct
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Ruby’s ‘Carousel.” Fairy was said to be a privaggedtive and
the owner of an airplane who took young boys aghft ‘just
for kicks’ . . .”

Bob Mulholland later came forward to say that hel ha
been misquoted by the Warren Report. What he hadlac
overheard were FBI agents saying that Ferrie nfight been
involved in the assassination with Oswald; he hadety re-
layed that information to his reporters in Dallas.

In any event, there was enough substance to thédDav
Ferrie angle to cause both the FBidthe Secret Service to
have interviewed him immediately following the a=siaa-
tion. Yet there were no reports, official or oth&ssy as to the
outcome of that interview.

Those not disposed to believe in conspiracies agdie
American people by its own government might wekl, d%f
there is a conspiracy by a cryptocracy, why wouldve, by
now, have proof of it? Why wouldn’t there have beg¢heast
one deathbed confession by one of the conspirdtors?

Two such confessions to the JFK assassination tecgp
may well have been made—and overlooked.

" Ferrie did own an airplane, and he is alleged teehsorked for
Guy Bannister, the New Orleans private eye and €idtract agent.






Chapter Fourteen
THE IGNORED CONFESSIONS

Only an understanding of the techniques and apjuita
of mind control could begin to bring meaning to thag-
mented ramblings of Jack Ruby.

On June 7, 1964, Jack Ruby was questioned innjdilal-
las, Texas, by Earl Warren and Gerald Ford. In fession
Ruby continually pleaded for a lie-detector tesfayrsodium
pentothal. He desperately wanted to prove his hgressthat
Warren and the commission would know he was teltimg
truth.

Said Ruby: “I would like to be able to get a lietet=or
test or truth serum of what motivated me to do whdid at
that particular time, and it seems as you get éurthto some-
thing, even though you know what you did, it opesahgainst
you somehowjprainwashesyou, that you are weak in what
you want to tell the truth about, and what you wimtsay
which is the truth.”

“As | started to trial,” Ruby continued, “I don’tnlow if
you realize my reasoning, how | happened to beluees—I
was carried away tremendously emotionally, andhalltime |
tried to ask Mr. Belli [Melvin Belli, Ruby’s firstawyer], |
wanted to get up and say the truth regarding thessthat led
me to do what | have got involved in, but sincevé a spotty
background in the nightclub business, | should hasen the
last person to ever want to do some thing thatdl x@en in-
volved in. In other words, | was carried away trechausly.
You want to ask me questions?”

Warren asked Ruby to just “tell us what you wamig a
then we will ask you some questions.”
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“Am | boring you?” Ruby replied.

He pleaded with Warren to be taken to Washingtoareh
he could be questioned in safety. Possibly eithgrchntrol
agent was in the room, or Rulsjt that he was, for again and
again he hinted to Warren that he had somethintg guipor-
tant to say but could not say it at that momerdatias.

“Gentlemen, unless you get me to Washington, yaut ca
get a fair shake out of me. If you understand my whtalk-
ing, you have to bring me to Washington to gettdsts. Do |
sound dramatic? Off the beam?”

“No, you are speaking very, very rationally,” Wanrree-
plied, “and | am really surprised that you can rerther as
much as you have remembered up to the present Yime.
have given it to us in great detail.”

Again Ruby pleaded with Warren: “Unless you can get
me to Washington, and | am not a crackpot, | hdleng
senses—I don’t want to evade any crime | am guifty Then
Ruby asked that the sheriff and the law enforcemoficers
leave the room, and after they were gone he s@dntlemen,
if you want to hear any further testimony, you vhidve to get
me to Washington soon, because it has somethiuig twith
you, Chief Warren. Do | sound sober enough toywli this?”

“Yes, go right ahead,” Warren said.

“I would like to talk to you in private,” Ruby toldim.

Warren seemed to miss the import of Ruby’s statémen
“You may do that when you finish your story. You ynzll
me that phase of it.”

“I bet you haven't had a witness like me in yourolh
investigation, is that correct?” Ruby asked.

“There are many witnesses whose memory has not been
as good as yours. | tell you that honestly,” Wameplied.

“My reluctance to talk,” Ruby went on, “you haveiad
any witnesses in telling the story, in finding samy prob-
lems.”

“You have a greater problem than any witness weehav
had,” Warren retorted.

“I have a lot of reasons for having those problérRsiby
explained. Then after another exchange about goimgedi-
ately to Washington, Ruby said, “Gentlemen, my Igein
danger here. Not with my guilty plea of executibo. | sound
sober enough to you as | say this?”
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Warren assured him that he did sound sober. “Fiwen t
moment | started my testimony, haven't | soundecthasigh,
with the exception of becoming emotional, haversbunded
as though | made sense, what | was speaking ab&uBy
asked.

“You have indeed,” Warren again assured him. “lemd
stand everything you have said. If | haven't, itng fault.”

“Then | follow this up,” Ruby blurted out. “I mayot live
tomorrow to give any further testimony. The reasdy | add
this to this, since you assure me that | have lmmaking
sense, then | might be speaking sense by followvhat |
have said, and the only thing | want to get outhi® public,
and | can't say it here, is, with authenticity, lwiincerity of
the truth, of everything, and why my act was cortexit but it
can't be said here.

“It can be said, it's got to be said amongst peagl¢he
highest authority that would give me the benefithe doubt.
And following that, immediately give me the lie-detor test
after | do make the statement.

“Chairman Warren, if you felt that your life wasdianger
at the moment, how would you feel? Wouldn't yourbkic-
tant to go on speaking, even though you requesbrde so?”

Warren again reassured Ruby that he was makinggierf
sense. “l wish that our beloved President, Lyndohngon,
would have delved deeper into the situation, heey mot to
accept just circumstantial facts about my guiltimmrocence,
and would have questioned to find out the truthuaboe be-
fore he relinquished certain powers to these aepabple . . .
Consequentlya whole new form of government is going to
take over our countryemphasis added], and | know | won't
live to see you another time. Do | sound sort oéwy in tell-
ing you these things?”

“No,” Warren said, “I think that is what you beliewor
you wouldn't tell it under oath.”

“But it is a very serious situation,” Ruby said,duess it
is too late to stop it, isn’t it? Now maybe somethican be
saved. It may not be too late, whatever happerm,tifPresi-
dent, Lyndon Johnson, knew the truth from meBut.if | am
eliminated, there won'’t be any way of knowing.

“Right now, when | leave your presence now, | am th
only one that can bring out the truth to our Presidwho
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believes in righteousness and justice. But he le&s told, |
am certain, that | was part of a plot to assassitia¢ Presi-
dent. | know your hands are tied; you are helgless.

Earl Warren said, “Mr. Ruby, | think | can say thisyou,
that if he has been told any such thing, ther@isdication of
any kind that he believes it.”

When it became apparent that Warren did not realize
Ruby had intended to confess to being a part optbieto kill
President Kennedy, Ruby exploded. “I am sorry, Chisstice
Warren, | thought | would be very effective in tef] you
what | have said here. But in all fairness to ewag; maybe
all I want to do is beg that if they found out | sveelling the
truth, maybe they can succeed in what their motares but
maybe my people won't be tortured and mutilated . .

Warren could find no meaning in Ruby’s testimone H
merely assured him that neither he nor his famibuld be
tortured or mutilated by anyone. “You may be surehat,”
the Chief Justice added.

“No,” Ruby answered. “The only way you can do itfis
he knows the truth, that | am telling the truthdamhy | was
down in that basement Sunday morning, and maybeesom
sense of decency will come out and they can siffilif their
plan, as | stated before, without my people gohrgugh tor-
ture and mutilation.”

Warren assured Ruby that the President would know
everything he had said. “But | won’t be around, &Hiustice,”
Ruby said. “l won’t be around to tell the Presidént

Then one of the aides asked the first intelligamgggion
of the day, “Who do you think is going to eliminayeu,
Jack?”

Ruby replied, “I have been used for a purpose,thede
will be a certain tragic occurrence happening ifi ylon't take
my testimony and somehow vindicate me so my pedpiet
suffer because of what | have done . . .”

Jack Ruby was subsequently given a polygraph te&thw
proved to be inconclusive due to high levels ofssr

In 1965 syndicated columnist Dorothy Kilgallen inte
viewed Ruby in his Dallas cell. She was thdy major jour-
nalist allowed to interview him. She told a fewefids that
from what Ruby had told her, she was able to olgaidence
that would “blow the JFK case sky high.” Within ewf days,
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Dorothy Kilgallen died of a massive overdose oftiitarates
combined with alcohol. Her apartment was foundhamsbles.
The transcripts of her interview with Ruby were sig. Her
death was ruled a suicide.

In early 1967 Ruby complained that he was being poi
soned. He was diagnhosed as having cancer, but avémks
after complaining of being poisoned, he died nahefcancer,
but of a “stroke” similar to the one that had ldliBavid Fer-
rie.

Another deathbed confession supports what Jack Ruby
was trying to tell the Warren Commission. That emsfon
was made by Professor George de Mohrenschildtrmaeio
intelligence agent who was also a friend of Lee vdgr
Oswald.

De Mohrenschildt was born in 1911 in the Ukraine.
Following the revolution, in 1921 he and his pasefied
Russia for Poland. He attended a Polish militagdamy for a
year, and later, in 1938, received a doctorateniernational
commerce. He emigrated to the United States soerealffter
and, in 1949, became a citizen.

After becoming interested in the exploration andega-
tion of oil, de Mohrenschildt received his mastatgree in
petroleum geology and petroleum engineering. Sonseti
thereafter he became acquainted with right-wingnmdignate
H. L. Hunt. Although the basis of their relationshs un-
known, de Mohrenschildt, in a recent interview wibutch
journalist Willem Oltmans, stated, “I knew Hunt,ymohe late
Mr. Hunt, intimately. For some twenty years | wasiied to
his parties.”

FBI disclosures in 1976 suggested that Lee Harvey
Oswald was also acquainted with Hunt. And de Moéchitdt
knew Oswald. Apparently he had introduced himseif t
Oswald after hearing about him through a Russi@alspg
group in the Dallas-Fort Worth area.

Marina Oswald told the Warren Commission: “Lee did
not have any close friends, but at least he hade-imeAmer-
ica—he had a great deal of respect for de Mohrelaisch. .
he considered him to be smart, to be full of joylieing, a
very energetic and very sympathetic person . . .”

It was the conclusion of the Warren Commissioneraft
extensive investigation, that de Mohrenschildt lextiibited
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no signs of subversive or disloyal conduct. The MaReport
stated: “Neither the FBI, CIA, nor any witness @amtéd by
the Commission has provided any information linkidg
Mohrenschildt to subversive or extremist organadi Nor
has there been any evidence linking them in any wi#ty the
assassination of President Kennedy.”

It was subsequently revealed, however, that de Btehr
schildt had indeed been associated with varioudligénce
operations over the years. He was connected widndhr
intelligence during World War Il and was also lidkeo the
CIA Bay of Pigs operation.

In late March, 1977, de Mohrenschildt's name was
brought before the newly formed House Select Cotamion
Assassinations. Willem Oltmans told the committhat tde
Mohrenschildt held the key to the Kennedy assassimahat
de Mohrenschildt had privately confessed to hint thiéor to
the assassination he was aware of a conspiracytdemthe
President in Dallas. According to Oltmans de Mobkosildt
was about to have a book published which would aktee
details of his knowledge of the assassination.

After Oltmans’ testimony, a spokesman for the House
Committee on Assassinations said that the committeeld
investigate his claims and would, if warrantedckraown de
Mohrenschildt for questioning. He was located akneter in
Palm Beach, Florida, but he could not be calledettify.
George de Mohrenschildt was found dead, the viofim gun-
shot wound in the head. Local officials termeddesith a sui-
cide.

Following de Mohrenschildt's death, his Dallas etty,
Pat Russell, supported Oltmans’ claims to the Cossion.
He verified the fact that before his death, de Mokchildt
had insisted that persons other than Lee Harveyaldshad
participated in the slaying of President Kennedye attorney
revealed that he had in his possession tapes, k-lbogth
manuscript, and a photograph which de Mohrenschibt
turned over to him earlier. He said the tapes ctediof ten
reels of interviews with de Mohrenschildt bout tkennedy
assassination, which, he claimed, were firstharmbats of
the late professor’s recollections of Oswald.

Russell said that although he did not know if thgets or
the book contained any new evidence, the photogsaplld
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be of particular interest to assassination invastig. He
claimed that although the photo was similar to di-k@own

picture obtained by the Dallas police which showeée Har-
vey Oswald holding a rifle and wearing a pistol,aivimade
the photograph interesting was that it was autdgrdpn the
back by Oswald and dated May 4, 1963, approximasety
months prior to the assassination.

After de Mohrenschildt's death Willem Oltmans reded
a portion of his interview with the deceased. Ohmale-
scribed him as “Oswald’s most intimate friend,” amdthout
offering an explanation, said that he had beemmalt with
Oswald during “the years when Oswald’'s brain wasde
programmed toward the murder of the century.”

In the interview dated February 23, 1977, de Mohren
schildt told Oltmans “In June, 1976, | completeshanuscript.
That's when disaster struck. You see, in that boplleyed the
devil's advocate. Without directly implicating mysas an
accomplice in the JFK assassination | still mergé@a num-
ber of names, particularly of FBI and CIA officialgho ap-
parently may not be exposed under any circumstamhogas
drugged surreptitiously. As a result | was commitie a men-
tal hospital. | was there eight weeks and was gietettric
shocks and as a consequence | sometimes forgairnceetails
temporarily . . ."

De Mohrenschildt went on to say that as a resulthef
drugs and shocks, he could take no more. “I treed¢dmmit
suicide five times . . . One of these days | wilt p revolver to
my head . ..”

According to Oltmans, de Mohrenschildt left Daliaghe
middle of the night on March 3, 1977, telling hifh,don’t
want anybody to see me.” Oltmans reported thahatt time
de Mohrenschildt was in a state of panic, constantrried
whether “they” would let him leave the country. “ldévays
felt watched and followed,” Oltmans said. “I reatlgnnot see
how somebody who does not have anything to hideldvou
develop such behaviof.”

On the day he died, George de Mohrenschildt wasgbei
interviewed by author Edward Jay Epstein for hiskb@he
Legend of Lee Harvey Oswald@ihey broke for lunch at one
o'clock and Epstein walked de Mohrenschildt to ¢as. They
were supposed to resume the interview at three ,Pakt



204 Walter Bowart

when de Mohrenschildt didn’t return, Epstein callesl room
and heard a distraught maid tell him that de Moéchiidt had
taken his own life. De Mohrenschildt's daughterexXdndra,
told Epstein that she believes her father tookokia life after
having had a post-hypnotic suggestion triggeredabyoice
over the telephone in his room.

The last days of George de Mohrenschildt soundk-stri
ingly similar to those of the victims of mind cowoitr Could it
have been that when drugs and “electric shock&diaib erase
his memory, the final solution was prescribed? @s e pro-
grammed to self-destruct?



Chapter Fifteen
ANOTHER HYPNO-PATSY?

On April 4, 1968, Nobel laureate Dr. Martin Luth€ing
was murdered on a second-floor balcony of the liogrdotel
in Memphis, Tennessee. Half of the six-thousand-riR&h
force was assigned to the task of bringing thekiib justice.

The FBI should have had an easy job. There waban-a
dance of evidence left behind on the second flé@rr@oming
house a block from the Lorraine Motel. There weargér-
prints on the window ledge of a bathroom next tooam
which had been rented to an “Eric S. Galt.” Onglaewalk in
front of the house was a weapon, a high-powerdd with
telescopic sight. Neighbors said they had seen igewius-
tang roar away moments after the shooting.

Nevertheless, the killer got away.

A ham radio operator broadcasting from a fixedistat
posed as a CB operator in a mobile unit. He bragtdzaon-
vincing account of a high-speed chase between tewihis-
tang and a blue Pontiac. He reported that the tavs were
shooting at each other. While police concentrateir tsearch
in the area described by the ham operator, theew#iistang
they were seeking sped away from Memphis in therotli-
rection. The ham operator’'s actions were explaiaedy by
authorities as a hoax. Within a few days local golnd fed-
eral authorities forgot the incident. While the wdea high-
powered ham radio on the eleven-meter CB band hed t
broadcasting of false emergency information are thear
violations of the Federal Communications Code, itlentity
and fate of that ham “prankster” are not known.
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The FBI soon discovered that the fingerprints &fthe
scene of the crime belonged to the man who hackdethte
room, Eric S. Galt. Through a computer search thegr
found that Galt's real name was James Earl Ray.

The day after Robert F. Kennedy was assassinatkdsin
Angeles, James Earl Ray was captured in LondonwHg
apprehended by British customs inspectors whikngtting to
leave the country on a passport issued to a Camadiastable.

Ray was quickly extradited to Tennessee for tridie
lengthy search and investigation, billed as “thestremmplete
manhunt in history,” was followed by one of the ghst trials
in history. On March 10, 1969, less than one ydtar dhe
assassination, Ray had his day in court, literaly. most
standards his was not a trial but a deal. The a@lbeen ar-
ranged by Ray’s attorneys, who had urged him taglguilty
so that he would get ninety-nine years insteadhef death
penalty.

Under Tennessee law, even if a defendant entetslts g
plea, a jury is required to attend the plea andratify” the
plea and the sentence. In a courtroom sealed byightest
possible security, twelve jurors heard the prosecubtate
Attorney General Phil Canale, explain to Ray hghts to a
trial by jury. They heard Ray plead guilty to murde ex-
change for the ninety-nine-year sentence. Theydhgarsecu-
tor Canale say that, as required by law, he woulidine the
evidence which would have been presented had ge gane
to formal trial. Canale then asked the jury if thegch could
sit as jurors and accept the guilty plea from tledéeddant.
They nodded in unison.

Canale told the jury: “. . . There have been rungoimng
all around—perhaps some of you have heard them—Minat
James Earl Ray was a dupe in this thing, or adayl or a
member of a conspiracy to kill Dr. Martin Lutherrig, Jr.

“l want to state to you, as your Attorney Genetladt we
have no proof other than that Dr. Martin Luther ¢€idr., was
killed by James Earl Ray, and James Earl Ray aloogejn
concert with anyone else. Our office has examinegr dive
thousand printed pages of investigation work dopedeal
police, by national police organizations, and bteiinational
law enforcement agencies. We have examined ovee timn-
dred physical bits of evidence physical exhibitsréle men in
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my office, Mr. Dwyer, Mr. Beasly and Mr. John Cald, the
Chief Investigator of the Attorney General's Office . have
traveled thousands of miles all over this countngd &0 many
cities in foreign countries on this investigati@ur own inde-
pendent investigation, and | just state to you Kharthat we
have no evidence that there was any conspiracyhiesoin
this..."

The state had not charged Ray with conspiracyad h
charged him with murder in the first degree. Ndwelgss the
prosecutor felt compelled to deny that Ray hadataitators.

Stranger still was the reaction of defense attorRexcy
Foreman, a man who had never lost a case, to tharks of
the prosecuting attorney. As soon as Canale hé&héd issu-
ing his disclaimer of conspiracy, Foreman rose faned the
jury. “It is an honor to appear in this Court fdiig case. |
never expected or had any idea when | enterecc#tss that |
would be able to accomplish anything except perisape the
defendant’s life . . . It took me a month to cormd@mmyself of
that fact which the Attorney General of these Uhifstates,
and J. Edgar Hoover of the Federal Bureau of Iliyatson
announced last July, that is, what Mr. Canale b&b you—
that there was not a conspiracy.”

Just as the jury was about to rubber stamp “thg’deay
rose to his feet. “Your Honor,” he said, “I wouli#d to say
something . . . | don’t want to change anythingt thaave
said, but | just want to enter one other thing. Bindy thing
that | have to say is that | can’t agree with Miar&.”

“RamseyClark?” Foreman asked.

The judge said, “Mrwha?”

“Mr. J. Edgar Hoover,” Ray said. “| agree with ilese
stipulations, and | am not trying to change anygtiin

The judge said, “You don't agree witthosetheories?”

“. . . Mr. Canale’s, Mr. Clark’s, and Mr. J. EdgHlioo-
ver’'s about the conspiracy. | don’t want to add sthimg that
| haven't agreed to in the past,” Ray answered,ingagure he
didn’t blow the deal.

" Though it was not presented at the “trial,” Rayéssion of the story
had already been published. In a series of magamtides written
by William Bradford Huie, Ray had confessed thathiagl been the
unwitting pawn in a conspiracy to kill Dr. King.
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Foreman tried to explain. “I think that what hedses that
he doesn’t agree that Ramsey Clark is right, ot dh&dgar
Hoover is right. | didn’t argu¢hat as evidence in this case, |
simply stated that, underwriting the statement eh&al Ca-
nale [sic] that they had made the same statement.are not
required to agree with it all.”

The judge wanted nothing to sidetrack the smooth pr
ceedings. “You still . . . your answers to thesestions that |
asked you would still be the same? Is that corfect?

“Yes, sir,” Ray answered.

And so the proceedings continued with Canale’sees
tion of a report of what would have been the evigehad this
been a real trial.

After hearing from eyewitnesses that Dr. King hasrp
killed on the balcony of the Lorraine Motel, Canaalled
experts from the Memphis Police Department andRBEto
testify on how they had accumulated physical ewidethat
linked Ray to the scene of the crime.

In the boarding house room that Ray (a/k/a Eriaéta
Galt) had rented, the FBI and police found a gieetspread,
a pair of pliers and a hammer, some shaving astidd@ocu-
lars, beer cans, a newspaper, a T-shirt, shottgnaistor ra-
dio, and two leather straps for binoculars. Theirtemy es-
tablished that the white Mustang was found in AdaiGeor-
gia. It had a sticker on it that indicated it hadssed the bor-
der into Mexico. The pliers had been obtained is Bmgeles,
California, as had the T-shirt and shorts. In ththibom from
where the shot was supposed to have been firedhtbstiga-
tors found scuff marks in the bottom of the tubeyHound
the window of the bathroom opened and the scremedooff.

“This [window] sill was ordered removed, was cutagw
and was subsequently sent to the FBI for compafisoanale
said, “and the proof would show through expertinesty that
the markings on this sill were consistent with thechine
markings as reflected on the barrel of the 30-f06 which has
heretofore been introduced to you.”

If this were a trial Canale said, eyewitnesses wdug
called to testify that Ray had purchased the fifl@irming-
ham, Alabama, that he’d stayed at a motel in thgtand had
checked out on the nineteenth of December and diadned
to Los Angeles. Also Dr. Russel C. Hadley of Holbad,
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California, would be called by the state to testtigt “in his
capacity as a plastic surgeon, he did perform aratipn on
the nose of the defendant under the name of Erit Ga
March 5, 1968.”

Canale placed in evidence a photo he said wasmésa
Earl Ray, a photo of a graduating class from therirational
School of Bartending.

Other evidence Canale said would have been presante
a trial was the expert testimony of FBI fingerprimalyst
George Bornebreke. The fingerprint expert wouldifieshat
he found “a print of sufficient clarity on the #fl. . . another
print of sufficient clarity for identification onhe scope
mounted on the rifle . . . a print on one of thélBz beer cans
... aprint on the binoculars . . . a print oa ffont page of the
April 4th issue of theMlemphis Commercial Appeal. .” and
“prints of sufficient clarity” on maps of Atlant&irmingham,
Texas, Oklahoma, Louisiana, California, ArizonawNglex-
ico, and Mexico, all of which, it could be provedere the
fingerprints of James Earl Ray.

The entire presentation of the case took just utidere
hours. There was a recess for lunch, after which \Ras or-
dered jailed for ninety-nine years.

As soon as Ray began to serve his sentence he ednew
his protestations of innocence and began workimgafmew
trial. He fired attorneys Percy Foreman and Arthlanes,
alleging that he had not had a fair trial. He shiat he’'d been
“set up to take the rap” for a crime he didn't coinrAt Ray’s
hearing on a new trial, he stated, under oathgetsénally did
not shoot Dr. King, but | may have been partly cesible
without knowing it.”

If Ray's psychological profile made him a likelyctim
for anyone who might need a fall guy in a murdes,vhas
equally well suited to be a victim of mind contrdhe crimes
for which he had previously been tried and convdckere all
robberies in which no one was harmed. They werecatlark-
able for one thing—the chase that followed.

Each time Ray committed a crime he left a trailesf-
dence. Each time he left the scene in either ardoetor a
hair-raising car chase, with outraged citizensaicp or both
in hot pursuit. In each crime, Ray behaved likdttke Iboy
who'd just stolen money from his father’s pocketsl avas
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then daring him to catch and punish him. He wamfede-
prived family, the eldest of eight children. Mamdividuals
who were once emotionally deprived children leasnséek
negative attention since positive attention wasvaitable to
them in their formative years. James Earl Rayhfit tpattern.
In the opinion of a psychologist he may have coredithis
daring daylight robberies not out of a need for mgrbut out
of a subconscious desire to receive love.

The only evidence which cast light on Ray’s possitb-
tive for the assassination was an eyewitness re¢ppatthe had
spoken passionately of his hatred of blacks in a Aageles
bar.

A few years’ after Ray’s sentencing, other evidecame
to light which suggested that the FBI had a strongetiva-
tion to kill Martin Luther King than Ray had. On &ember
19, 1975, the Senate Select Committee on Intelligenade
public the fact that the FBI had sent a comprorgigape re-
cording with an anonymous letter to Dr. King ineldi964 in a
crude attempt to blackmail him into silence. Dr.néihad
thought the tape and letter were an effort to dhire to sui-
cide.

King received the package thirty-four days befoeewas
to receive the Nobel Peace Prize. The tape wagedllg of a
sexual encounter of Dr. King and a young womanmvds ac-
companied by an unsigned note that read, “Kingetligionly
one thing left for you to do. You know what it igou have
just thirty-four days in which to do it. (This exawumber has
been selected for a specific reason.) It has defipiactical
significance. You are done. There is but one wayfauyou.”

A month after Dr. King received his copy of the éapm
duplicate was sent to his wife. Mrs. King said peliglthat she
and her husband had listened to the tape togeticehad con-
cluded that it had nothing on it that would disdtédng.

The Senate subcommittee said that at about the Samme
Mrs. King had received her copy of the tape, a copg sub-
mitted to FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover. Accompanyithat
tape was a memorandum written by the FBI Chief afi@er-
intelligence William Sullivan. The memo suggestbdttthe
FBI discredit King by “knocking him off his pedekta

The Senate committee disclosed further that the Has8il
kept tabs on Dr. King for six years prior to hisatte It had
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instituted sixteen different wiretap operations dad planted
eight room bugs in its attempts to catch him in sa@ompro-
mising situation which could be used for blacknwilpublic
discreditation. The shocked Senate select commitiembers
discovered that the taps and bugs had produceds#mls of
hours of tapes.”

In addition, it was discovered that Hoover had ocede
some of his men to rewrite reports that had originadi-
cated King was not a threat to the country. Thdeials who
were ordered to change their reports readily didtls® com-
mittee said, because they feared for their jobs.

After the Senate Select Committee on Intelligenaaen
these facts known, Mrs. Coretta King said whattst feared
to say before. She said she believed that her hdshad been
killed by a government conspiracy.

“The way he was documented and followed around
Hoover and the CIA, when he was abroad, it [hisssisa-
tion] would have to have been attached to the fomfeour
government that felt he was a threat to the sysisnit ex-
isted,” said Mrs. King.

A few days after Mrs. King issued that statemenar
land private investigator Harold Weisberg used Eneedom
of Information Act to obtain previously classifi€dl| reports.
These reports revealed that directly contrary tonté made
by Canale at Ray’s “trial,” the FBI had been unabléind any
physical evidence that a rifle had been fired frihva window
in Ray’'s rooming house, either on the weapon adhéroom
from which the assassin had allegedly fired. Thés & crucial
discovery, in that it was the rifle alone whichkéd Ray to the
killing.

If the rifle was not fired from the second-storpno, then,
no matter how Ray’s fingerprints got on the weapeason-
able doubt existed that Ray was the assassin. Nistica
evidence links the rifle to the bullets in King’ody, The
FBI's evidence, which was kept secret, had all wigle
pointed to the conclusion that the rifle could hbeen planted
in front of the rooming house to implicate Ray whihe real
assassin had fired from a location outside the mgmouse.

A few months after Weisberg'’s finlewsdayublished a
copyrighted story reporting that a top law-enforeatrofficial
in Memphis had removed one particular black detectiho

by
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had been assigned to protect Dr. King just houfsrbéne was
assassinated. Thdewsdayarticle suggested that Detective Ed
Redditt had been pulled from his post because kedeael-
oped a contingency plan to apprehend any assassimmight
make an attempt on King's life. Redditt's plan wasseal off

a four-block area in the event a shot was fired.

Earlier the same weel\ewsdayhad revealed that the
Memphis Police Department had assigned “provocatetor
protect King. The paper charged that men who hadipusly
participated in anti-King riots were “protectinghe civil
rights leader at the moment he was shot.

The activities of James Earl Ray during the yeaced-
ing the assassination could be interpreted to sighe possi-
bility that Ray was a patsy in the mold of OswaRhy had
been to Mexico, New Orleans, and Los Angeles, gladsich
had figured prominently in the activities of Oswadd the
others who were indicted by Jim Garrison.

Facts which were not presented at Ray’s quickI"tita
cluded the following: Ray had escaped from prismme year
before the King assassination. Evidence indicatetl he had
been helped by someone in his escape. During uiehgewas
“on the lam,” he received an estimated $12,000 feosource
he identified only as “Raoul.” He had no difficuliy obtain-
ing a car and several complete sets of identificatEach set
belonged to a living individual, something an ititggnce
agent would prefer if he were to set up a falsentithe Ray
had no difficulty traveling all over the United 8a, Canada,
and Mexico with his fake papers.

The contradictory history of Ray’s activities ind.énge-
les led private investigators to consider, as thag in the
Oswald case, that there may have been two JaméR&gs.
One, the James Earl Ray who had been in prisonavyasn-
fully shy fellow who seldom opened his mouth anddha
ever raised his voice. Fellow inmates found theg hahard
time describing him, since he maintained such a pogfile.
He had been raised dirt-poor, had never graduaima fa
school of any kind, and there is no record of hisréhaving
expressed a political idea about anyone. In Losefey) the
“other” James Earl Ray was described as an outgfeithaw.
He enrolled in and graduated from bartending schio®lbe-
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came involved in an altercation with a girl in ar lvého ob-

jected to his making slurs about the black racewhe very
conscientious about his appearance and was an daiplec
dresser, who even wore expensive alligator shoesha was
a right-wing politician who conspicuously campaignéor

George Wallace.

One other bit of evidence gives unity to the cafitra
tions—Ray had been hypnotized while in Los Angeles.

It was not mentioned in Ray’s “trial,” but at thiené of
his arrest in London, he had in his possessioretbamks on
hypnotism: Self-Hypnotism: The Technique and Its Use in
Daily Living by Leslie M. LeCronHow to Cash In on Your
Hidden Memory Poweby William D. Hersey, andsychocy-
berneticsby Dr. Maxwell Maltz. Ray had told William Brad-
ford Huie, “I took a course in hypnosis while inAL.l had
read a lot about it in prison on how it was usedentistry and
medicine.”

On November 27, 1967, Ray appeared in the offiderof
Mark Freeman, a psychologist who practiced in Bigvdills.
Dr. Freeman remembered that Ray, who'd given ha re
name, asked to be hypnotized because he wantéeei fset-
ter and remember things better.

“This fellow really wanted to improve his mind,” Dr
Freeman said. “He had an awe of learning. He hbdra for
reading. He didn't fight hypnosis. He learned sdrirgg.”

Dr. Freeman told George McMillan, author Bfie Mak-
ing of an AssassjriYou've got to keep in mind that | get a lot
of angry people around here. A lot of people whmedo me
want to teach me how to do it. | get a lot of rowtff around
here. | mean psychotic, that stuff. But | couldpitk up on
any of that with Ray. He made a favorable imprassin me.
He was a good pupil. I'd show him how to go undamd
pretty soon he’d be lying on the couch on his bactl start
talking. | taught him eye fixation, bodily relaxati, how to
open himself to suggestion. | gave him lots of pesifeelings
of confidence.”

It may have been that Freeman found Ray so subtgesti
because he had been hypnotized before. His comiabt
freeman and other hypnotists (he told Huie he’dnbeeas
many as eight) may have been prompted by an uniowssc
urge to undo what had already been done to him—padti
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cally induced split personality, one which was pesgmed to
kill upon command, or merely one which was progradro
run away, following his normal pattern, but thismi¢é on com-
mand. It's easy to program someone to do undehppsotic
cue what he normally does. And it's a lot easieprtogram a
patsy than it is to program a hit man.



Chapter Sixteen
CONFESSION BY AUTOMATIC WRITING

The circumstances of Robert Kennedy's death aré wel

known. On June 5, 1968, at 12:15 A.M., Sen. RoKertnedy
was shot in the pantry of the Ambassador Hotelds Ange-
les. Karl Uecker grabbed the gun, a .22 caliber-bdahinson
revolver. It was smoking in the hand of Sirhan BealSirhan,
a Palestinian refugee.

The Los Angeles police immediately took Sirhan iots-
tody. At first they appeared to be taking everycprdion so
that they wouldn’'t make the same mistakes the Bailalice
had. They taped every interrogation session withshspect
and kept him under surveillance through a closeclii TV
camera in his cell. They took every measure togatahe life
of this man, the second “lone nut” to gun down aiely.

Trying to avoid anything which would be an infrimgent
on the rights of the alleged assassin, the polarefally in-
formed Sirhan of his legal rights before tryingimberrogate
him.

Through the first hours of questioning, Sirhan &ds
remain silent. For some time, no one knew who thdye
haired, swarthy man in custody was.

It wasn’t until the police found a truck in the kg lot
of the hotel, and traced it to Sirhan Beshara Sirliaat they
were certain of his identity. Police immediately nveo his
house and searched his bedroom. On the floor neSirhan’s
bed was a large spiral notebook. On the desk washan
notebook. There was a third small notebook, a gibea of
occult literature, a brochure advertising a booknmantal pro-
jection, and a large brown envelope from the IraERevenue
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Service on which someone had written, “RFK mustdixe
posed of like his brother was.” At the bottom o tbnvelope
was scrawled “Reactionary.”

In one of the notebooks there was a page whichused
later in the trial to prove premeditation: “May 2815 A.M.—
68. My determination to eliminate RFK is becomingrenthe
more of an unshakable obsession . . RFK must diek-RF
must be killed Robert F. Kennedy must be assassin@FK
must be assassinated RFK must be assassinatdgiobert F.
Kennedy must be assassinated before 5 June 68 tReber
Kennedy must be assassinated | have never heaadeppmy
to the order of of of of of of of of of this or thplease pay to
the order of . . .” Also drawn on the page wereapj dia-
monds, and doodles.

While Los Angeles Mayor Sam Yorty ignorantly toliet
press Sirhan was “a member of numerous Commurgstnor
zations, including the Rosicrucians,” Sirhan’s higrs told a
different story. One said he was “very religioug&hother
reported that he was “just a normal kid. He toots @nd bikes
apart and put them back together again.” Neighbmathkds
said he was “nice.” When asked if Sirhan was thgratype,
a black girl in his neighborhood said, “He didnhosv it.”
Arthur Bean, another neighbor said, “Someone tatked kid
into gunning down Kennedy.”

When Irwin Garfinkel, a deputy attorney in the palde-
fender’s office, asked Sirhan about the shootirgy,shid, “I
don’t remember much about the shooting, sir. Didol it?
Well, yes, | am told | did it. | remember beingthé Ambas-
sador. | was drinking tom collinses. | got dizzyvént back to
my car so | could go home. But | was too drunk tived |
thought I'd better find some coffee. The next thimgmember
| was being choked and a guy was twisting my knee.”

George Plimpton, editor of thearis Reviewwas in the
hotel pantry when Kennedy was shot. He was ondehten
who wrestled Sirhan down. According MewsweekPlimpton
“offered some eloquent testimony that appearedotoesto
support the defense’s contention that Sirhan Bast&irhan
had, in fact, been in a ‘trance’ during the shaptifiHe was
enormously composed’, recalled Plimpton. ‘Righttie midst
of this hurricane of sound and feeling, he seermduktalmost
the eye of the hurricane. He seemed purged.”
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The chief counsel for the Los Angeles chapter @& th
American Civil Liberties Union, A. L. Wirin, wenbtSirhan’s
defense within hours of his arrest. On his secordting with
the accused, Wirin brought the local papers with.Hsirhan
read the headline “"KENNEDY’S DEAD,” then he dropgded
head in grief. After fighting to control his ematig he looked
at Wirin through tear-filled eyes and said, “Mr. i I'm a
failure. | believe in love and instead of showimyd. . . .”
Then, Wirin recalled, “he muttered something abbaving
betrayed his own primary beliefs.”

That night, Sirhan complained of being sick. Heame
very dizzy and had severe stomach cramps, jusa@€hstillo
and Candy Jones. For several weeks Sirhan was giveif
grain of phenobarbital at night to help him sleep.

The Los Angeles police went through the motions of
looking into the possibility that a conspiracy washind the
RFK assassination. They looked for the girl in fwéka-dot
dress who witnesses said had been standing neSirtian,
smiling and talking to him just before he beganaiimy in the
pantry. Sirhan also said he’'d been talking to tineadter he’'d
drunk several tom collinses. The girl in the poti@- dress
was not found, and conflicting statements cast toutp
whether there had ever been such a girl. Forty-fiep men”
from the Los Angeles Police Department (LAPD) weie
signed the job of tracking down all leads to a pinagy, but
incredibly, they came up empty-handed.

A bag of women'’s clothing, which included a polkai-d
dress and new undergarments, was found by the LiaPdn
alley, but police could not find out who'd bougttem or
who'd worn them. According to Sirhan’s biographeobRrt
Blair Kaiser, “. . . The police and FBI hardly didl they could
[to find the owner of the polka-dot dress]. Theeddaulty
logic and browbeat witnesses to eliminate theigithe polka-
dot dress.”

To penetrate Sirhan’s amnesia, the defense detidesll
in an expert hypnotist, Dr. Bernard L. Diamond leé Univer-
sity of California. Diamond was the associate de@dCLA’s
School of Criminology and a professor of both land gsy-
chiatry. No one knew more about law, psychiatry] hgpno-
sis than Diamond.
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In a prehypnosis interview, Diamond asked Sirhatelio
him about his notebooks, and Sirhan said he coulceall
writing them.

Diamond asked if he thought that what he had done
helped things, and Sirhan said, “I'm not proud &l did.”

“What do you mean, you're not proud of it?” Diamond
asked him. “You believe in your cause, don't yo3irhan
had been contacted by Arab sympathizers and ottleosin-
sisted that the reason he’d killed Kennedy wasofigympa-
thy for the PLO.)

“I have no exact knowledge, sir, that this happeped
I'm all, it's all in my mind, but goddamn it, whemy body
played with it . . . | couldn’t understand it. lllstion’t believe
it. My body outsmarted my brain, | guess.”

“What did your body do?” Diamond asked.

“Pulled that trigger,” Sirhan said.

“Does your body remember it, even if your mind
doesn’t?”

“l don't give a damn, sir, in a way. Now | don't &v
care,” Sirhan said.

Diamond asked Sirhan if he’d thought about suicide.
“Hell, no,” Sirhan said, “I couldn’t do that.”

Then Diamond expressed a thought which contained a
significant “Freudian slip.” “Why didn’t you turrhe gas on
yourself, ah, why didn’t you turn the gun on yolfrsdter you
killed Kennedy?”

Sirhan waved his hand in front of his face. “It walf
mixed up. Like a dream.”

Diamond hypnotized Sirhan on six of eight visits.ohe
point, reliving the killing, Sirhan grabbed at hislt on the left
side. Until then police had no idea where he’d iedrithe
weapon. Under hypnosis Sirhan also created writsigslar
to those in his notebooks.

In one session Diamond had Sirhan climb the batsisf
cell like a monkey. After he'd been brought outmnce, Sir-
han explained the reason for his climb. He saidvhe only
getting exercise. Then Diamond played the tapertwepto
Sirhan that he, Diamond, had given the instructi@nSirhan
to climb the cage. But Sirhan denied that he’d dibibecause
he’d been hypnotized.
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At the trial Dr. Diamond, acting as the directorSifhan’s
defense, testified that Sirhan was a paranoid sphiznic.
His testimony was supported by several other deatdro had
examined the psychiatric “evidence” obtained fraeatg, in-
terviews, and hypno-interviews conducted by Diamond

Dr. Diamond did not consider that Sirhan had betiero
than self-programmed. Having worked for the Armydital
Corps in World War Il, he did not realize that theS.
cryptocracy could develop mind control and useitontrol
the political destiny of the nation.

Sirhan was given yet another battery of tests byHbic
Marcus, a court-appointed psychiatrist for the deée Among
the tests was the Minnesota Multiphasic Personhditgntory
(MMPI), which contains more than 500 questions neogl
true-false answers. Psychologists interpret thevarsto the
MMPI according to a set of statistical norms. TwWdsirhan's
nonresponses were significant, since usually nporeses are
considered to be more important than the “yes-esponses.
The questions Sirhan did not respond to were: “2@hne or
more times in my life, | felt that someone was makime do
things by hypnotizing me . . .” and “293. Someoms been
trying to influence my mind.”

By the second visit, Dr. Marcus had had time enotagh
familiarize himself thoroughly with Sirhan’s notedds. On
one page of the notebooks Sirhan had written: tioadte the
overthrow of the current President of the fuckeritéth States
of America. | have no absolute plans yet, but sadhcom-
pose some. | am poor—this country’s propaganda Hagfis
she is the best country in the world—I have notesigmced
this yet—the U.S.—says that life in Russia is badl.believe
that the U.S. is ready to start declining, not tihdtasn’t—it
began in November 23, ‘63, but it should declineadtster
rate so that the real Utopia will not be too famfrbeing real-
ized during the early seventies in this country.”

In one of the notebooks the name “Peggy Osterkamp”
was written over and over. “| love you, Peggy,”dne place
and in another, “Peggy Osterkamp Peggy OsterkanggyPe
Osterkamp Peggy Sirhan.”

When Dr. Marcus asked Sirhan who Peggy Osterkamp
was, he said that she was just a girl he'd metetifmes at the
ranch where he’'d worked as an exerciser of hoBesMar-
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cus asked Sirhan if he'd ever dated her, and SitbianMar-
cus the story he’d told the public defender abbetrtight of
the assassination.

That night, Sirhan said, he had gone to a shoatinge
and practiced with his pistol until the range cths&hen he
went with a friend, a foreign student named Mistoi,get a
hamburger at Bob’s Big Boy Restaurant. While eatitgy
talked about horses. For some reason Sirhan shbiwddend
a pocketful of bullets. He then was given a currewspaper
and in it he read a news item about a Zionist rallyHolly-
wood. He became very angry over this and made sipnitid
to go to the rally. When he could not find thatyahe wan-
dered into the campaign headquarters of Senatohdé{uand
there heard that there would be a party at the Asdador Ho-
tel nearby.

When he got to the hotel he was fascinated bydlewit
sion lights. He went to the bar and ordered two taftinses.
He got dizzy and said to himself that he’'d betterhgme. He
was reluctant to drive in his drunken conditiond dhe next
thing he remembered was being choked in the Amdassa
pantry.

Dr. Marcus didn't buy Sirhan’s amnesia. He thoutjtatt
it was only a convenient cover-up, and that Sirlvas a para-
noid. In his testimony at Sirhan’s trial, Dr. Mascselected
another page from Sirhan’s notebook to illustrategsycho-
logical evaluation. On June 2, 1967, Sirhan hadtewi

A Declaration of War Against American Human-
ity . . . when in the course of human events it bas
come necessary for me to equalize and seek revenge
for all the inhuman treatment committed against me
by the American people. The manifestation of this
Declaration will be executed by its supporter(s) as
soon as he is able to command a sum of money
(2,000) and to acquire some firearms—the specifica-
tion of which have not been established yet.

The victims of the party in favor of this declara-
tion will be or are now—the President, vice, etc.—
down the ladder. The time will be chosen by the au-
thor at the convenience of the accused. The method
of assault is immaterial—however, the type of
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weapon used should influence it somehow. The au-
thor believes that many in fact multitudes of peopl
are in harmony with his thoughts and feelings.

The conflict and violence in the world subse-
guent to the enforcement of this decree shall ®ot b
considered likely by the author of this memoranda,
rather he hopes that they be the initiatory miitar
steps to WW lll—the author expresses his wishes
very bluntly that he wants to be recorded by histor
as the man who triggered off the last war . . .

In mid-August Sirhan’s notebooks were analyzed hey t
FBI crime lab in Washington. The pages were subgbdb
photo and chemical analysis to establish when déachbeen
written and in what order. The FBI experts conctudbat
Sirhan had penned the notes in a haphazard fas$kgping
around in the books. The two pages dated June &%, 1#hd
May 18, 1968, the lab said, had actually been ewitin those
dates.

An overview of the notes shows that Sirhan had been
concerned with three things that appeared overaadin the
writing: money, the girl Peggy Osterkamp, and a ndus-
tang, in that order of importance—as determinedhgynum-
ber of times each was mentioned.

Several times he had written, “please pay to thieroof .
..," but when asked about this he could not rebemvhat it
meant. He had written, “Today | must resolve to edmome
in a new Mustang. Today | must resolve to come hama
new Mustang. Mustang. Mustang.”

The FBI and the LAPD located Peggy Osterkamp. She
was a tall, willowy blonde, the attractive daughwéan afflu-
ent dairyman. A horse lover, she had once workedeatanch
where Sirhan worked. She said she knew him ongysii and
had been introduced to him at the Pomona Fair 861$he
said she had never dated him.

On one page of the notebooks Sirhan had writteopt;T
my warmest salutations. | do not know what has gtesh you
to write to me . . .” And on another page he'd tent “Hello
Tom perhaps you could use the enclosed $Sol peryaps
could use the enclosed $.” On yet another pageaSitad
written: “11 o’clock Sirhan 11 o’clock Sirhan Sim&irhan
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11 o’clock Sirhan Livermore Sirhan Sirhan Pleasanta .
Hello Tom racetrack perhaps you could use the spd&.”

The FBI guessed that Sirhan had been writing athalt
ter Thomas Rathke, his first employer at the racétr The
FBI found him working as a groom at the PleasariRate
Stables, just east of Oakland.

Rathke told investigators that he had known Sirtzar
that they’d compared notes on the occult. He said tvritten
Sirhan twice and had asked him if he needed anyesndrater
it was discovered that Rathke had far more infleeower Sir-
han than he cared to admit, but the LAPD and FBppged
him as uninteresting.

In addition to examining the bizarre notebooksgstiga-
tors also made note of Sirhan’s unusual behavier #ifie as-
sassination. Sirhan, like Candy Jones, had a “thabgut mir-
rors. In his cell he'd stare into a little mirrarrfhours on end.
He also practiced concentrating on candle flamssng to
turn them from red to blue to green. And he wagepgnsive
about drugs.

When asked by his biographer Robert Blair Kaisdreif
thought he’d get the death penalty, Sirhan shruggetsaid,
“A death penalty would only be vengeance. What woitl
gain?” After another pause he added, “I know Iiked a
man. At least, I'm told of it. | have nothing in nopnscience
about it, but . . . I'm told | killed a man, so kskrve some
punishment, but maybe | could serve humanity bykwagy ten
years in a hospital, to pay my debt you might sapter Sir-
han said flatly, “I don’t regard myself as a criiri

Kaiser reported, “Sirhan talked about Gandhi, ahe t
black revolution.” He identified with both. “The §ees,” he
said, “can see everything, but they can't eatlieif only solu-
tion is to dig in and eat it.” Immediately Sirhaddesd: “I
wanted a new car. | always wanted a Mustang. |, sAitl |
need is money and how am | gonna get it?’ Theyategiving
Mustangs away® Was Sirhan implying that he killed Ken-
nedy for money?

The court ordered that Sirhan be fully tested psiazi-
cally to see what his mental state really was. Tdaye him an
electroencephalogram to see if by chance his brathbeen
damaged by a fall he’d taken from a horse two year$er.
The EEG showed that Sirhan had a normal brain-ypatern.
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Then, just to determine if alcohol had any effeattbe pat-
tern, the doctor, who'd obtained the recipe for Amebassador
Hotel's tom collins, gave Sirhan the equivalenfair drinks
and measured his brain patterns again. Still thexg nothing
unusual in them.

But even though the EEG showed no unusual braia-act
ity, Sirhan got very drunk and shivered violentty fen min-
utes. He became irrational, agitated, and restidsscreamed
out curses.

When someone told him, “Dr. Marcus is here,” Sirhan
screamed, “Get that bastard out of here!” The doctdered
Sirhan taken back to his inner cell, and Sirhanmsek con-
fused. “What the hell is going on here?” he askduin
grabbed his throat violently (as Castillo had), apgeared to
be choking. The doctor noted that he was in a sta@elir-
ium.

Robert Kaiser again asked Sirhan about his noteband
Sirhan explained everything he could about themsé&ld that
they were writings about the occult, that he haehbstudying
the objective mind in relation to the universal chifilf you
give your subjective mind an intense command by ydjec-
tive mind, your subjective mind will gather the anfnation to
carry out the commands of the objective mind . . .”

Sirhan said that he’d been sitting in front of aromi after
he'd seen a replay of Robert Kennedy on televisaporting
in 1948 on the Arab-Israeli war in Palestine. “incentrated
on RFK in the mirror,” he said. “I| had to stop hiRinally, his
face was in that mirror instead of my own. Thenenivto my
notebook and started writing. It was part of thetoau
suggestion necessary to get my subjective mincetary ob-
jective mind moving. | read in the Rosicrucian mega how
if you wanted to do anything, you should write @wh. It
automatically works toward the realization of wiati want.

“With that power,” Sirhan said with intensity, “loald
have been a millionaire! A millionaire! Ohh shit!”

“Why did | not go to the races that day?” Sirhakeabs
Kaiser. “Why did | not like the horses? Why didd tp that
range? Why did | save those Mini-Mags [the high-poad
bullets used on Kennedy]? Why did | not expend ¢hbsl-
lets? Why did |1 go to Bob’s? Why did Mistri give ntlkat
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newspaper? Why did | drink that night? It was,”daéd, “like
some inner force.”

“But you wrote in your notebook ‘RFK must die,” kser
said.

“After the bit with the mirror,” Sirhan told him,| “forgot
it all. The idea of killing Kennedy never entered/ mind,

H ”3

sir.

During Sirhan’s trial for murder, the judge refusedau-
thorize the use of lie detectors or truth serumhai, like Ray,
was quickly “put away” for life.

There were those, however, who refused to let thgem
rest. In 1973, while Sirhan sat in prison, Dr. Ectv@impson,
the San Quentin prison psychiatrist, submitted fiidavit to
the California courts requesting that Sirhan bentgd a new
trial and that the Robert Kennedy case be reopened.

Dr. Simpson testified that the “expert” psychiatric
psychological testimony at Sirhan’s trial was foflnumerous
factual errors and misleading to the jury. “Mosttloé doctors
testifying,” Simpson said, “saw their role as prayiwhy Sir-
han killed Kennedy, which required a focus on phatyp
(mental iliness) that | found does not exist, Theled to con-
sider the real facts in a more objective light $aited to con-
sider the possibility, clearly suggested by thelista testi-
mony and Sirhan’s own testimony under close scyutihat
perhaps Sirhan did not kill Robert F. Kennedy.”

“Sirhan’s trial,” Dr. Simpson wrote, “was not haadl
properly by the mental health professionals. Imosgiect, a
close study of the trial testimony and my own egtes study
of Sirhan leads to one irrevocable and obvious losian:
Sirhan’s trial was, and will be remembered, aspgégchiatric
blunder of the century.”

Dr. Simpson knew whereof he spoke. For six yeargauk
worked at San Quentin Prison and had made a stlidyen
on Death Row. For two years he'd been in chargehef
prison’s psychological testing program. In 1969 iheer-
viewed and tested Sirhan extensively during twemégekly
visits. After these visits were terminated, Sirmequested that
his family contact Simpson for the purpose of rewng the
psychiatric testimony that had been given at féd. tr
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After examining Sirhan, and reviewing the “expgsy-
chiatric testimony, Dr. Simpson discussed his fugdi with
the prison’s chief psychiatrist, Dr. David G. SchliTo-
gether they concluded that their findings did natfoem “but,
in fact, were strictly in conflict” with the findiys reported at
Sirhan'’s trial.

“Nowhere in Sirhan’s test response,” Dr. Simpsad &
the affidavit, “was | able to find evidence thatibe ‘paranoid
schizophrenic’ or ‘psychotic’ as testified by thectbrs at the
trial . . . The fact is, paranoid schizophrenice aimost im-
possible to hypnotize. They are too suspiciousdmdot trust
anybody, including friends and relatives, not teap of a
hypnotist from, for him, the most hated race. PsyicB in
general are among the poorest subjects for hypnasisy
cannot concentrate, they do not follow instructiamsl basi-
cally do not trust. Sirhan, however, was an unugugbod
hypnotic subject. Sirhan asked me to hypnotize hitmich |
did not do, in order not to contaminate my testlifigs with
fantasies. He himself had manufactured a hypno-disé was
practicing self-hypnosis in his cell, an activigquiring con-
siderable self-control which no psychotic has. Taet that
Sirhan was easy to hypnotize, as testified by Danidnd,
proves he was not a paranoid schizophrenic.

“Dr. Diamond,” Simpson continued, “used hypnosisix
sessions out of eight with Sirhan. What was thepse of it?
To plant ideas in Sirhan’s mind, ideas that werethere be-
fore? To make him accept the idea that he killedheROF.
Kennedy?

“When Dr. Diamond was unable to get Sirhan to admit
that he wrote the notebooks, he testified: ‘. o | sindertook
some experiments on possible hypnotic suggestins ad-
mission strongly suggests the possibility of hypsidseing
used for implanting hypothetical ideas in Sirhamiad, rather
than uncovering facts . . . A lie detector, not mygis, should
have been used in finding out whether Sirhan kilRabert
Kennedy.

“Why was a lie detector not used? It should havenbas
it is much more reliable than hypnosis, which offgnvided
contaminated results . . . Dr. Diamond’s testimiswrong,
as he states: ‘I have very little or no faith ie #ccuracy [of a
lie detector].” The truth is, the polygraph exce@usiccuracy
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certain techniques, such as hypnosis, that tefustoand con-
taminate experiences from past and present andcalsde
influenced significantly by the operator [hypndtist makes a
significant difference who the hypnotistis . . ."

In 1975 when the California investigation into tREK
killing was briefly reopened, the public learnedttitrucial
physical evidence, such as ceiling tiles from tléehpantry
and bullet fragments, had been destroyed or loshé&y APD.
And, as in the Oswald case, critical testimony baén ig-
nored. [The above testimony, of Dr. Simpson, pairte the
possibility that Sirhan was a hypno-programmed sssg

Also in 1975, seven years after the crime, formighh
ranking U.S. intelligence officer and one of thevelepers of
the PSE Charles McQuiston analyzed recordings dfa8is
interview with psychiatrists in San Quentin.

Sirhan said, “To me, sir, he [Kennedy] is stillvali. . . |
still don't believe what has happened . . . | ddwétieve that
he is dead. | have no realization still that Iddllhim, that he
is in the grave.” McQuiston’'s PSE analysis showeat ton
this statement Sirhan exhibited very little stress.

“After analyzing the tapes,” McQuiston said, “I'norm-
vinced that Sirhan wasn’t aware of what he wasgldite was
in a hypnotic trance when he pulled the trigger &iikbd
Senator Kennedy . . . Everything in the PSE cledld e that
someone else was involved in the assassination-thextSir-
han was programmed through hypnosis to kill RFK.aie
have here is a real live ‘Manchurian Candidafe.”

After examining Sirhan’s PSE charts, Dr. John Wiskke,
Jr., president of the International Society of Strénalysis,
agreed with McQuiston. Dr. Heisse, who had stuthieadreds
of people under hypnosis using the PSE, said, &firkept
repeating certain phrases. This clearly revealedhdd been
programmed to put himself into a trance. This imsthing he
couldn’t have learned by himself. Someone had tmwshim
and teach him how.

“l believe Sirhan was brainwashed under hypnosishiey
constant repetition of words like ‘you are nobodwpu're
nothing, the American dream is gone’ until he akyube-
lieved them. At that stage someone implanted aa, i¢tdl
RFK, and under hypnosis the brainwashed Sirhanptedadt.”
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Dr. Herbert Spiegel, who wrote the introductionTtbe
Control of Candy Jonedas been billed as one of the coun-
try’'s leading medical experts on hypnosis. Spiegéd of Sir-
han’s case: “It's very possible to distort and ay@rsome-
body’s mind through a number of hypnotic sessidtnsan be
described as brainwashing because the mind isedeatr its
old emotions and values which are replaced by intplg
other suggestions . . . This technique was probabéd with
Sirhan. From my own research, | think Sirhan wagexied
to hypnotic treatment.”

Even in the early days of the investigation, thesmre
those who found it easy to believe the hypno-pnogning
theory. Among them was writer Truman Capote, whao foa
a long while been a friend of Jacqueline Kennedy lagr sis-
ter, Lee Radziwill. After writing his best seller Cold Blood
Capote was regarded as something of an expert otiemOn
the NBC “Tonight” show Capote suggested that Sirdath his
accomplices had been intensively trained and baémed
trigger men. Their purpose, Capote proposed, walsite the
United States to its knees by assassinating déaigers.

According to Robert Blair Kaiser, “With a little m®
diligence than they exercised, and a great deak nmaelli-
gence than they had, the police might have estadidinks
between Sirhan and the underworld, between Sirimantlae
right wing, between Sirhan and the left wing, betwéirhan
and the Al Fatah . .>”

But neither the police nor the FBI showed any iegéiin
Sirhan’s “connections”—perhaps because there weraany.
Like Lee Harvey Oswald, Sirhan was a contradictible
could be linked to many different groups, all ofigrh could
easily have had a political motive to kill Roberéhedy. So
the LAPD did the same thing the Warren Commissiia) i
took what evidence it needed to prove its casea fdone nut”
and ignored the rest.

Defense director Diamond, subsequently explainirgy h
tactics in Sirhan’s trial, said he was surprisecemine first
tried to hypnotize Sirhan. “Most people may takehaur or
more to go under hypnosis the first time,” Diamaaid. “A
schizophrenic usually takes much longer, if he gosder at
all. But it took less than ten minutes for Sirhangb into a
deep authentic sleep.”
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Sirhan, Dr. Diamond concluded, had obviously had ex
perience with hypnosis before. He found that Sirheas re-
luctant to speak under hypnosis but that he coasilyewrite
without being posthypnotically blocked. “Writing der hyp-
nosis is called automatic writing,” Diamond sai@&ntl the
term aptly describes the way Sirhan would writes l& robot
and keep on repeating a word or phrase until lpgdhim.”

Taking a sheet off a legal pad lying nearby, Diathon
asked Sirhan to write his answers to the questiaigo him
in the hypnotic trance. He showed Sirhan a samfphésadiary
page.

“Is this crazy writing?” Diamond asked.

“YES YES YES,” Sirhan wrote.

“Are you crazy?” Diamond asked.

“NO NO,” Sirhan wrote.

“Well, why are you writing crazy?” Diamond asked.

“PRACTICE PRACTICE PRACTICE,” Sirhan re-
sponded.

“Practice for what?” Diamond asked.

“MIND CONTROL MIND CONTROL MIND CON-
TROL” is what Sirhan wrote®

Perhaps now, looking back, we can understand more
about Sirhan from David. David was a good Air Foceedi-
date for mind-control: He was an obedient soldpmitent,
and patient. His amnesia, you'll recall, was saltoso com-
plete, that it took years of psychotherapy to mestis mem-
ory. This is what he had to say on the subjecbajdtting and
remembering:

“The air force used hypnosis for opening up my subc
scious mind. It's the subconscious mind that renemb
everything. That was the way it was explained to fiee
subconscious mind must trust the person who isitionihg
it. So if a person gets another’'s subconscious nintrust
them, then that subconscious mind will tell thenergthing
that it has seen or heard from the day it was kean back to
when it was in its mother’s womb.

“So under a voice or word command the informatian c
be brought out once the subconscious has beenticowd to
respond to the right command. It might respondrie woice
or a group of voices. I'd be given a certain cud anvould
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remember what | was supposed to remember. | wdedtes
constantly. And then, when the meeting was ovearpuild be
unable to remember, and automatically my subconscio
would close.

“The cue command would be at the beginning of atmee
ing. | don’t think you need a dual command. | thirdu need
only a command to start, then once something istéd, the
process stops automatically. During the trainingqael’d do
whatever | wanted for a couple of days, then gklzad the
next thing | knew | was remembering the computemibers
again. A word would be said and I'd just begin rembering.
They'd give a command, and if your subconsciousreatly
trusted the person conditioning you, that trigges memory.
| don't know who the person | trusted was, becdusas usu-
ally only talking to the tape recorder. | was atituthinking |
was talking to someone that was very close. Thafldvbe the
person who'd listen to the tape, | guess.

“Really | was talking to myself, but behind this svthat
person—no name, no face, just that friendly, trastiay per-
son who had conditioned me. And at the same tim&ag my-
self. Who would | trust more than myself?

“They must have told me that after | got out of segvice
I'd be unable to remember anything of a sensitiature. |
suppose they told me in a way that made it accépt&ut |
don't think | ever thought | would have the probkervhich
resulted from loss of my memory . . . When you ta@mem-
ber things in sequence about your life, you havédea what
that does to you. It interferes with your wholeritigy.”

Considering the connections between Cuba or Cudnaths
Lee Harvey Oswald, Jack Ruby, James Earl Ray snLatH
complice ‘Raoul,’ and Luis Castillo’'s Cuban intghince
training one cannot help but wonder whether a tiariaon a
scenario written in 1943 by hypnotist George Estaks
wasn't being played out in the assassinations.

In his book Hypnotism Estabrooks outlined a plan in
which suddenly the Cubans had become belligerettwaare
“building a great naval base at Havana, an obvinasace to
our overseas trade.” He suggested that a Cubagxedutive
be hypno-programmed to spy on the Cuban governriidai-
ther he nor the group in question (his oil compamgd know
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anything of the arrangements. The instructionsisoumcon-
scious in hypnotism are very definite. Find out rgtleng
possible about the naval base. He is shown mattssobefore
he goes and coached as to just what is importamt.idNhe
ever allowed to submit written reports. Everythimyist be
handed on by word of mouth to one of the very fadividu-
als who are able to hypnotize him . . . Under theseum-
stances we may count on this man doing everythingis
power to collect the information in question.”

Estabrooks explained: “There are certain safeguénls
use hypnotism. First, there is no danger of thenfagelling
out, but this would probably not be of great impade in this
particular case. More important would be the cotimic of
innocence which the man himself had, and thisgeeat aid in
many situations. He would never ‘act guilty’ andeifer ac-
cused of seeking information would be quite howesttig-
nant. This conviction of innocence on the part afiainal is
perhaps his greatest safeguard under questioninguthori-
ties. Finally, it would be impossible to ‘third deg’ him and
so pick up the links of a chain. This is very imjot, for the
most hardened culprit is always liable to ‘talktfie question-
ers are but ruthless enough.”

Then Estabrooks expanded his point: “Far more lisefu
than the foregoing purpose, however, would be fbata
counterespionage service, built along the sames.liféis
would require both care and time to perfect, buteoworking
it might prove extremely effective. Here the beppraach
would probably be through those of enemy alienkstaithin
our own gates. Once again let us choose the aggreSsi-
bans as examples. In the event of war, but prelierabll be-
fore the outbreak of war, we would start our orgation. We
could easily secure (say) one hundred or one timousacel-
lent subjects of Cuban stock who spoke their lagguu-
ently, and then work on these subjects.

“In hypnotism we would build up their loyalty toish
country; but out of hypnotism, in the ‘waking’ commal state
we would do the opposite, striving to convince thibait they
had a genuine grievance against this country andugaging
them to engage in “fifth column’ activities. Hereewould be
coming very close to establishing a case of ‘deabpnality.’
There is nothing at all impossible in this. We knthat dual,
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and even multiple, personality can be both causetlcared
by hypnotism. Moreover, that condition, the Dr. yleland
Mr. Hyde combination, is a very real one once ite&ab-
lished.

“They would, as we before said, be urged in theimgk
state to become fifth columnists to the United &tabut we
would also point out to them in hypnotism that thiss really
a pose, that their real loyalty lay with this cayntoffering
them protection and reward for their activitiesrdugh them
we would hope to be kept informed of the activitastheir
‘friends,’” this information, of course being obtath in the
trance state.”

As to the possibility of hypno-programming assassks-
tabrooks wrote: “Strange to say, most good subjedts
commit murder. In the writer’'s opinion there canvegy little
doubt on this score. They commit a legal, but notethical
murder, so to speak. For example, we hypnotizebgesuand
tell him to murder you with a gun. We hand him aded re-
volver. In all probability he will refuse. Frankfgr very obvi-
ous reasons, the writer has never made the exparime
Corpses are not needed in psychological laboratérie

That, Estabrooks suggests, best be left to thdigeece
agencies.






Chapter Seventeen
THE PATRIOTIC ASSASSIN

All the assassins in the cryptocracy’s army ofrhén are
not, by any means, programmed. There are other hesisles
mind control to motivate the commission of murder.

In 1298 Marco Polo returned from his Asiatic travelith
a tale of assassins who were motivated by an ufiysiiever
technique. Polo described a fortress he had visitede val-
ley of Alamut in Persia. He said the valley was tieadquar-
ters of a notorious group known as thghishin from which
the word “assassin” evolved.

Polo’s story echoed numerous legends about an Maid
of the Mountain,” named Allahudin, who used subdled
elaborate psychological tricks to motivate simpmernry boys
to undertake fearless acts of murder. The Old Mahdreated
an inescapable valley between two mountains bydimgjl up
high walls at both ends. He turned the valley iatbeautiful
garden, the largest and most beautiful that had lexen seen.
In this valley he planted every kind of fruit traad built sev-
eral elaborate, ornamented pavilions and palacéshwiiere
said to be of such elegance they could not be ibestrin
words. Everything that could be, was covered witkdgThe
buildings housed the most exquisite collection afnfings
and sculpture in the known world. Man-made strefiovsed
wine, milk, honey, and water.

Also in the Old Man’s garden was a harem of thetmos
beautiful houris in the world, trained to play atlanner of
instruments, and to sing and dance in the mostuseissand
seductive manner. All had also been highly traiimethe fine
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art of lovemaking, and were reputed to know evergsible
way in which to make a man happy.

The garden was well fortified, and there was no way
get in or out of it except through the Old Man'stb@ None
were allowed to enter the Old Man’s Garden excepse who
had been selected to be amongAkhishin

Youths from the countryside were attracted to tHd O
Man’s court, lured by tales of the fantastic pasadiThey be-
lieved that the Old Man was one of God’s elect, Hrat an-
gels did his bidding. Only those ranging in agerfriovelve to
twenty years who displayed a taste for soldering) @ere in
prime physical condition were admitted to th&hishin

The Old Man’s garden duplicated every detail ofddae
as described in the Koran by the Prophet Mohammfed.
young man selected for theshishinwould soon come to be-
lieve in the Old Man just as he already believedvioham-
med.

After the proper indoctrination was completed, ikl
Man would have his candidate drugged with a mystsripo-
tion that would cast him into a deep sleep. Ondeegs the
candidate would be lifted and carried into the garcnd
would wake up to find himself in a place he wagaiarmust
be Paradise.

As time went on, he’d become more and more condince
that he was in Paradise. Ladies offered everythingoung
man could want, beyond even the wildest expectatioh
these simple folk. After only a few days in thisrdgen, no
young country boy would have left of his own accord

When the Old Man wanted to send one of his yolisig-
ishinon a mission, he would again have him given theteays
rious potion, and carried in his sleep from thedgarto the
castle. There the youth would be dressed in hiclolthes and
placed into the original position in which he'dléd asleep
before being taken into the Garden.

Upon awakening to “reality” he would experienceraaj
sense of loss at finding that he was no longer anadise.
Then, as if meeting this young man for the firstdj the Old
Man would ask him where he had come from. Usudily t
youth would reply that he had just come from Padand in
great excitement explain that it was exactly as Moimed had
described it in the Koran. This would, of coursejegeaves-
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droppers an even greater desire to get there,lendttongest
among them would, days later, wake up in the arfnthe
houris of paradise.

When the Old Man wanted a rival prince killed, heud
command such a youth who'd just returned from Haead
“Go thou and slay So-and-so; and when thou rettirngs
angels shall bear thee back into Paradise. Butig$ioinou die
in the process, nevertheless, even so will | sepdangels to
carry thee back into Paradise.”

With this psychological ruse the Old Man would raate
youths to transcend the fear of death. Usuallyethgas no
order that a youngshishinwould not obey, no peril he would
not risk, so great was his desire to get back tadise.

In this manner the Old Man got hisshishinto murder
anyone he named. He inspired such dread in theqwiof
other kingdoms that they offered tribute to himoirder that
they might live in peace.

Marco Polo’s story of early mind control has eletsen
which bear a striking similarity to today’s modekshishinof
the cryptocracy.

In the 1950s the CIA smuggled a captive SovietFairce
officer to the United States for interrogation. Mas taken
from a West Berlin prison to the CIA’'s Langley, Yinia,
“farm” where he was interrogated at length. Oncel lhegun
to fear for his life, the CIA men showed him cleragnThey
took him to New York, where he attended a basejpathe,
and enjoyed a full sampling of the nectar of freadble was
plied with wine, women, song, and, in the true Aicen tradi-
tion, hot dogs.

After a few weeks of high living, the officer wasturned
to the West Berlin prison, where he was thrown iatdark
cell. At an opportune moment he was allowed to gscafter
the CIA had established that he was back at his figisg the
kind of aircraft they needed, they placed an ad Western
paper which was circulated in the underground lkbttie Iron
Curtain. The ad said that a certain group, nottifled with
the CIA, would pay $100,000 and arrange for pdit@sylum
for any pilot who would deliver the specified Sdavéércraft to
the West.

A few days after reading the ad, the Soviet offittew
his plane to the West, collected his $100,000, eghipolitical
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asylum, and entered the “paradise” he had glimpsednly
two weeks.

It should come as no surprise that many men wiltdeu
for simple, old-fashioned motives: sex, love, ornep. One
psychologist found that a sizable percentage of Waaes
would be willing to kill another human being if thevere of-
fered enough money and assured they would neveauoght.

In 1976 a Pasadena, California, psychologist, Caul P
Cameron, put the murder-for-pay question to 452sques.
Those questioned were divided into two groups. Tirst
group included those who had already deliberatdlgdk or
attempted to kill another human being—usually initemy
service. The second group consisted of those widoneaer
attempted to kill another person.

The question was: “What is the least amount of njone
you would take to push a button to kill a persoside a black
box—if no one would ever know what you did?”

To Cameron’s surprise, 45 percent of those who had
killed before said they would be willing to pustethlack box
button for an average price of only $20,000. Twefiug per-
cent of those who'd never killed said they'd belwd to
commit murder for an average price of $50,000, aliba
price of a house in the suburbs.

Mind control is not needed to motivate assassinss, i
however, most useful to protect assassins and ¢hgioyers
from their own incriminating memories.

In the course of researching this book | talkedhwvat
number of retired intelligence personnel (from was gov-
ernment agencies) who had either committed assd&sinor
admitted having heard tales of assassins in themkwFew
had heard of an assassin being mind-controlled. @ae |
consulted, however, took a special interest in stogies of
David and Castillo. A chemist who had worked foe@f the
intelligence research labs, he developed new wayilling
quickly and quietly. And he had met several of kikers who
were to use his formulas.

Over a three-year period | talked with this chenaista
number of occasions. He came to trust that | weeleal no
names and endanger no lives in telling the storsnioid con-
trol. After hearing details of my research, he dteto intro-
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duce me to a man he had met while working at the This
man had been a high-ranking officer in the militargtired
after thirty years of service. He had served asfdicer in
World War Il and Korea. During the Vietnam confllécause
of his special knowledge of “black science,” he \ahiced to
sign on after he retired from military service agrivate con-
tractor for the cryptocracy. During the next eigimteyears, he
accepted several simple assassination jobs. Hetteldhemist
about some of his friends having come back fronmilaimmis-
sions with “holes in their memories.”

The chemist had arranged a meeting in a noisy puobs-
taurant in a small New Mexico town. Having promisedake
no notes, | had secreted in my pocket the smaltgst re-
corder made, which allowed me to record three hofirthe
assassin’s talk, amid clanking glasses and thergkerestau-
rant noise.

When | finally sat across from him, my heart racéte
retired assassin was a sixty-year-old man, gragetiabut as
strong as a man twenty-five years his junior. Hd ba.357
magnum revolver strapped to his side, as did the neaintro-
duced as his bodyguard. As a cover for the gunsrigethe
bodyguard both wore National Rifle Association pate sewn
prominently to the pockets of their crisply presddubki
clothes.

The chemist had already informed his friend abdwt t
book | was researching. As we sat down and werednted
by first names only, | told the assassin | was eigilg inter-
ested in finding out why men had been returnedvitian life
with amnesia.

I mentioned the ad | had placed and the number ey m
who had responded. | mentioned also that the ntgjaf
those who responded, and who had reason to befieie
minds had been tampered with, had been enlisted men

Career officers, he explained, were legally boupddcu-
rity oaths and economically dependent upon pensimiisthe
privileges of rank, but enlisted men, while perhapsind by
an oath, were likely to separate from the servioevkng
more than they needed to know. Somebody had to then
high-technology instruments of war and those whorewe
merely computer fodder had to be protected agaimsir
knowledge—they could not be trusted. Patriotisnpeemlly
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during the Vietnam era, was a waning motivation.eiTh
memories had to be erased. But, he explained, wamdrol
was not needed to make a Kkiller. Professionals’digsually
need to be motivated. Most members of search-aattejeor
“executive action” teams were already willing tdl-kimen,
women, or children—if their superiors ordered it.

| concluded that he meant a career killer didn&d&o be
debriefed by mind control. When | said that, hetradicted
me. “You want to bet?” he said. “They'd all killubthey
might not be able to keep the secret. It would ddpentirely
upon what activities they were involved in, whetllee as-
signment was combat, mop-up, search-and-destrditjcpb
assassination, or whatever . . .

“This debriefing is done in such a way, in manyesass
to cause actual memory damage. As things have glomg
and progressed, the techniques have been smootiietut
memory damage still occurs. In certain cases memengll is
so critical that they bend over backwards to be rdainsure
that you can’t remember.

“Many of the things that occur are not as prettyas'd
like the public to think,” he said.

“So you've witnessed many atrocities of war?” ek

“I don’t call them atrocities,” he countered. “llcghem
military actions. There’s a lot of conflict of imtest there—the
politicians against the military . . .”

| let him rail a while about the evils of the gomerent
and then brought him back to my point of interé&tK, who
killed JFK, RFK, King, and who was behind Bremen?”
asked. He didn't remember who Bremer was, so |amnptl
that he was the man who’d shot Wallace.

“Oh, yeah,” he said. “Bremer was just a kook. Wadla
was shot just by a kook. But whoever got the Kegseahd
King probably got a gold medal.

“We were set up to wipe Castro out. Kennedy intede
at the last minute. You want to take a guess at kilked him?
.. . Oswald was just a patsy. I've fired the sdamel of rifle
Oswald was supposed to have used. You can't raqgdat
thing like he was supposed to have done. Now whyalo
suppose killed Kennedy?

“. .. Don't kid yourself. This country is contrelll by the
Pentagon. All the major decisions in this country made by
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the military, from my observations on the clandestside of
things.

“The CIA’s just the whipping boy. NSA [the Nationgk-
curity Agency] are the ones who have the hit tedrosk into
their records—you won't find a thing. Look into the
budget—you can't. For the life of you, you caniidiany way
they could spend the kind of money they've gottmnumber
of people who're supposed to be on their payrolerEif they
had immense research and development programs, they
couldn’t spend that kind of money.

“The CIA’s just a figurehead. They are more world-
wide—like the FBI is. They're accountants, lawyefde
clerks, schoolboys. They are information gatherétey've
pulled a lot of goddamned shenanigans, I’'m not gaindeny
that, but as far as intelligence goes the NSA’sftarsuperior
to them—far in advance in the ‘black arts.’

“The CIA gets blamed for what NSA does. NSA is far
more vicious and far more accomplished in theirrapens.
The American people are kept in ignorance abowstttiey
should be, too.”

“In other words,” | responded, “what you're sayiisghat
the military is more dangerous to our democracw tie CIA
or other intelligence groups?”

“The CIA gathers information, but the military heathe
show. Look at how many former military officers wdor the
CIA. Look at how many former high-ranking militaofficers
work for the multinational corporations. Can't ydigure it
out?”

“What are you suggesting, that there is an invésdadup
d’étatwhich has occurred in the United States?” | asked.

“OK. There is a group of about eighteen or twerdpme
running this country. They have not been electdw: &lected
people are only figureheads for these guys who reavet
more power than even the President of the UnitateSt’

“You mean that the President is powerless?” | asked

“Not exactly powerless. He has the power to maka-de
sions on what is presented to him. The intelligeagencies
tell him only what they want to tell him, howevéihey don't
tell him any more than they have to or want to.

“You have to wonder at American stupidity. How much
does it take to get people to wake up to what legepéned?
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It's public knowledge that the CIA has falsified aonents
and given Presidents fake intelligence reportshsd he can
only arrive at one conclusion—the conclusion thentthem
to arrive at. The Pentagon Papers revealed that fac

“What people don’t know is that the global corparas
have their own version of the CIA. Where they dontérface
with the CIA, they have their own organizations—&llA-
trained. They also have double agents inside Clé ather
intelligence organizations who are loyal to thos®pora-
tions—I mean where’s the bread buttered? Would nadher
take the government pensions, or would you ratherkva
little for the corporation on the side and get bgtivernment
pensions and corporate benefits after you retirestMnen
retire after twenty years, and they're only in thaid-forties .
. . then they go to work for the corporation theyheen work-
ing for while they were in government service. Thyyf both
the pension and the corporate paycheck that way!

“Together with what the corporations do on theirnpw
they have a worldwide espionage system far beftan the
ClA’s. There is a network of what amounts to doudojents—
they do work for the government, and may appedret@ov-
ernment agents, but they are first loyal to thepooations.
They report to those corporations on the governraeit on
what foreign governments might be planning whichuldo
interfere with those corporations foreign investisehese
guys are strictly free enterprise agents.”

“You call these guys contract agents?” | wondered.

“Oh, no, no, no . . . Take, for example—we devetop
new death ray. We've got all the security the gowgent can
think of on it. We've got the best security in tHeited States
on it, which is tied for second place for the bsssturity in the
world. Tied for first place are the Russian andnéke secu-
rity systems.

“Now even with all this security, before FACI [RirArti-
cle Configuration Inspection, the government’'s &ieg sys-
tem on the manufacturing of military hardware] ogavern-
ment contract—that death ray is up for grabs imewnation in
the world. Any amount of military security can'tég it se-
cret.”

“What you're saying,” | interrupted, “is that Amesn
people are selling secrets, wholesale, to the kigh&lder?
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That is to say, | assume, if the highest biddeanisAmerican
company?”

“And even if it's not,” he said. “Usually it is atteer na-
tion. I've dealt with weapons and usually the matibat wants
it most will pay the most for it. Once in a whileese compa-
nies, these government contractors, will find $@neone has
stolen one of their secrets and there’ll be a kg.fBut the
big boys that are in the military are an entireffedent ball of
wax . . . the big guys get away with it.

“When one of these companies finds someone ingide i
that's selling secrets, they take him on a fishing, a boat
ride, and get rid of him. It's quite common,” hadsd'For ex-
ample, if | was tied in with one of these companidsere
money is no object, and they wanted me to get frigba, I'd
obtain a passport or a duplicate passport with gailin’ face
on it. After I'd obtained it, I'd put whoever's facon it |
wanted. Then after we dumped you, that ‘someonebssh
face was on your passport would take a trip to ralist

“Later your friends or family would notice you were
missing and people would begin to inquire as torywhere-
abouts. Eventually they'd check with the Australzustoms
who'd say, yes, this guy entered the country omsard such
a date. By then the guy who'd traveled over themeyour
passport would have already come back on his omchaa far
as the best detective could tell you've gone totralia and
you've never come back.”

“What do you know about the military or the intgénce
agencies’ use of pain-drug hypnosis?” | asked.

“They used several different things. I've seen,ualty
seen, guys coming back with blanks only in certdaces of
their memory. Let’s say that | know positively, fmt hearsay,
that it's done.”

“You've seen it?” | asked.

“You'll never get me to admit it;” he grinned.

“Well, how is it done?” | asked.

“They use hypnosis and hypnotic drugs. They als® us
electronic manipulation of the brain. They use agdtmics,
which will boil your brain. When they use hypnosisey’ll at
the same time be using a set of earphones whiaategou
do not know this or that,” over and over. They tamthe son-
ics at the same time, and the electrical pattetnisiwgive you
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memory are scrambled. You can’t hear the ultrasoai you
can't feel it, unless they leave it on—then it bojlour gray
matter.”

Unless the assassin had done the same researdh héha
could only have known this through firsthand expece. The
CIA documents released in 1976 revealed that wtiasre-
search was undertaken for a period of more thantywgears.
But the documents said that the research had sogmel
asked him about that.

“Yeah. Theresearchhas stopped. They've gone opera-
tional. It ain’t research any more. They know hawdb it,” he
said.

‘Do you mean that it is youopinion that it hasn't
stopped, or do you mean that ykmowit hasn't stopped?” |
asked.

“I mean lknowit hasn’t stopped,” he said. “For example,
suppose that a dictator in some South American tepus
setting up real problems and we try to kick him. Mie call in
some of my former group and say, ‘Look, the bastas got
to have a fatal accident, and it's gotta look godite-he fell
on a bar of soap and broke his neck in the batbhtusome-
thing.” So we go down there and get the job done.

“But it could be quite embarrassing if any of theyg
were cross-examined about where they’d been andt wha
they’d done . . . So the guys who were in on thegoddenly
have a cold or something, and they are put in gitedsfor
maybe just a routine checkup. They come out ofttbepital
in about fifteen days. They're alive. They're wellhey're
healthy. And they're happy, too. Lots of luck ifyaguestion
them:they don’t remember anything

“That's one way it's used. The other way is to ltse®
improve memory—say, with couriers. You want a seores-
sage carried, outside the chain of command—there’'seed
to have it carried by a person if it's a legal neggs because
the military’s got a thousand ways of sending mgassavhich
are unbreakably secret. But if itautsidethe chain of com-
mand, as so many things are these days, if itdlegal mes-
sage, and our Constitution doesn’t permit us tondich that is
legal—then you have a hypno-programmed guy carey th
message. You improve his memory so that he cary @arr
entire coded book of what appears to be gibbesst, when
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he’s got it down you give him amnesia and sealhudt mes-
sage by a posthypnotic code word, and whammo! Yatuag
real good secret courier, because he can be tdrtoreleath
but he can’'t remembeldnlessthe proper cue is uttered.

“Then if the courier's going to operate against émemy,
who might have the techniques of hypnosis down, give
him several layers of post hypnotic command. In fingt
layer, he’ll confess a false message. In the setayet, he'll
confess another different false message. Finalayba on the
fourth or fifth layer is the real message.

“Our guy who is supposed to get the message knbats t
the first three cues, say, are fake, and he ghveddurth cue
and out comes the correct message. If the courderiw en-
emy hands he could be there for years before aryyhold
figure out where he was in all those layers . actEidentity
will probably be that of a real ‘cut out'—a persenough like
him, so that the enemy will think that they've dgio¢ real guy.

“Many of the men in my unit were given assignmeasfs,
ter which they were so ‘persuaded’ that they didefhember
anything. | mean to say, they'd gone in believihgttthe only
thing in life that meant anything to them was costiplg the
assignment—to get it done, and when they got doitle itv
they couldn’t remember anything about it.”

“Could these guys have been that way without hyjs?ds
| asked.

“Well, they could have believed that their missiarlife
was that particular assignment. They usually hadfamily
affiliations, no friends, nothing but their careeBut | don't
think they’'d have forgotten about those kind ofigissients.
Not without a little help, let us say.”

“What was the conditioning that these guys had, Wwas
drugs, hypnosis, or something else?” | wanted toakn

“Hypnosis, electro therapy, programming them byetap
by voice-over earphones, awake or in trance, @eps|By a
number of methods.”

“How widespread was this mind control?” | asked.

“Well, it was—well, that is something | can’t realan-
swer. | know of several different groups upon whiinwas
used. | know that it was used in some of the haaieas of
Korea and Vietnam, and it was started in World WWap, but
it has been refined far more since then. How much was
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used, | don’t know. | know of several groups thatds affili-
ated with that had it used on them.”

“Would you say this kind of thing did not exist beé
World War Two?” | asked.

“Oh, it did. But it was not in such a sophisticatedm.
It's as old as man, but now it is refined to an Before it was
torture and psychological pressure—that can acdsmpl lot.
We've been trained to use it in primitive fieldusitions. But
now it's done with the idea that the mind can bé uoder
complete control. Just like they used to use rublbees at the
police stations. They don't do that anymore. Wellbber
hoses still work, but they don't work as well asn&oother
things which the police now have.”

“Are you saying that the police also use mind ooiftr |
asked.

“At the highest levels, yes. The FBI certainly ugesnd
they, of course, give a lot of help to the localigm There are
certain areas of the brain which control your iitidins. When
they control those centers, then the subject wilbg with his
assignment, regardless. I've seen men whose mothd be
sitting there having coffee, and if they'd beertrinsted to Kkill
her, they'd walk right in and shoot her, and it Jent even
upset their appetites for supper. They were cautii to do it
in such a way that they have no guilt. They wouldrmave
guilt because after they were through they wouléwén re-
member it.

“Let me tell you something: the cheapest commodity
the world is human beings. Most assassins don’tl nieebe
programmed to kill. They're loyal to command. Theyton-
ditioned, first by the circumstances of their owarle life,
then by a little ‘loyalty training.” The command tiseir only
justification for living. It is also their only ptection once
they'reintoit. ..

“. .. When | came out of the service and went trknfor
the government, | had a colonel assigned to me bedg-
guard. When he retired | hirddm,” he said, pointing to his
bodyguard. “He’s still with me, and that's why waue these .
. .” He pointed to the .357 magnum—the most powdréund-
gun in the world—strapped to his side in plain sigh

“Who're you worried about? The Russians? The Chi-
nese?”
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“Well, I'll tell you. You can damned near put a pimnthe
map anywhere you want. | got into military secubigfore the
Second World War. | was just a kid. Over the ydaksas as-
signed to thirty two different countries. So younaraw your
own conclusion.”

“But what you’'ve been talking about is a politicadtion,
not a military one. How, then, as a military setsurnan did
you get involved in political actions?”

“Well, suppose there were countries that were dtéed-
nological research on things which could be injusido the
welfare of the United States. I'd be one of thegagsigned to
destroy those scientists who were involved in thsearch.
That was with friendlyand unfriendly governments. So, natu-
rally, if they found out that | was in on it, eveow, they'd
come after me.

“In other cases | was involved in knocking off sodieta-
tors. Then we’'d change the people’s voting ideasnwthey
had to elect someone.”

| returned to the main thread of our conversatitdk
now, since we have this mind-control technologyatMs to
keep the guys in the cryptocracy or the military,yau main-
tain, from programming Presidents as soon as thiey ¢ffice,
or immediately after they get elected?”

“I have always wondered about Nixon,” he mused. “He
was very pro-military. He gave them just about gthéng
they wanted in the world. But he wanted to createoaarchy
with himself as king. And, slowly but surely, héett to take
over the military and the CIA through subordinatdicers
who were loyal to him only.

“All you hear about are left-wing conspiracies teeo
throw our government. You never hear about rightgnmon-
spiracies.

“Well, some of these right-wing groups are far mdes-
gerous than the left wing. The left wing’s mostligk with
dreams. The right wing is usually retired militarijhey’re
hard. They're trained. They've got arms. But if tight wing
took over right now, there would be just a militatictator-
ship, and the military would find that its best q@dawere not
upset at all. I'm saying a dictatorship took over. Hell, we've
got one right now, but it ain’t overt, it's subtle.
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“You mean those twenty men you were talking about?”
asked.

“Yeah . . . if the people of this country actuadilyew that,
they would say ‘no’ the next time they were askedyo to
Vietham. We need the people behind us to fight g emad if
they knew the true facts, who's running thingsyeéheouldn’t
be the following we'd need to defend the countrhaflfact
alone keeps the sham of politics and ‘free elestigning.”

“If that is the case, then the results would béed#nt?”

“Yes. If people knew they had a dictatorship. Hyoel
ever heard of a factory slowdown, a strike? Wells$ta has
run up against the problem, and so have we in stipgahe
foreign dictators we support. The American peolke, most
people, have to feel that they have some right,ttiey’re the
‘good guys.’ This is the reason we have never dostar and
have never won a peace.

“You've got to maintain the sham of freedom, no teat
what. It wouldn't make any difference what partyirischarge
or whether it was the elected government or whatgall the
cryptocracy running it; from an operational sente gov-
ernment would operate as it presently is. Frompbimt of
view of people paying taxes and defending theimtgu well,
we found in Latin America that people won't fight they
think that they have a dictator who is just as badhe enemy
who is attacking.

“That's probably why it would be fairly easy to takver
the Soviet Union, short of nuclear war. The Sovietsild
probably be convinced by psychological warfare ttisdir
government is certainly a lot more evil than oukad if we
went to war with them we could eventually win . that is
until the H-bomb started to fall, then nobody'dthe winner.”

Changing the subject | asked, “What area of thétamyl
were you involved in?”

“I don't think | ought to answer that. Let's sayetke was a
group which first sought to solve problems politigalf that
didn’'t work, then there was another group wh